
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Contact: Julie Britton
Direct Dial: 01362 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Wednesday, 28 November 2018 

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 6th December, 2018 in the Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific questions, 
are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two working days 
before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this will be 
provided, and reported to Council.

Public Document Pack





Council
06 December 2018

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

2. MINUTES 6 - 17
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 25 October 2018.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 18 - 19

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Nunn, Leader of the Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. CABINET MINUTES 20 - 28
Confirmed minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 16 October 2018.

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 29 - 36
Unconfirmed minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting held 
on 8 November 2018.

10. PLANNING COMMITTEE 37 - 45
Confirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 29 October 
2018.

11. LICENSING COMMITTEE 46 - 48
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting held on 21 November 
2018.

12. COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY 49 - 51
Unconfirmed minutes of the Committee of the Licensing Authority meeting held 
on 21 November 2018.

13. LOCAL PLAN - MAIN MODIFICATIONS 52 - 59
Report of Councillor Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth.

Due to its size, the Appendix to this report, the Schedule of Main Modifications, 
has been attached as a separate document.



Council
06 December 2018

Page(s)
herewith

14. COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEWS CARBROOKE AND GREAT 
ELLINGHAM AND THETFORD 

60 - 66

Report of Councillor Mark Robinson, Executive Member for Governance.

15. CHANGE OF PARISH NAME 67 - 69
Report of Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director Strategy & Governance.

16. MEMBER / OFFICER PROTOCOL 70 - 76
Report of Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director Strategy & Governance and 
Monitoring Officer.

17. A REPORT CONCERNING THE RESOURCING OF THE COUNCIL'S 
HOUSING STRATEGY AND 'ENABLING' SERVICE 

77 - 83

Report of Councillor Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth.

18. A REPORT CONCERNING THE CREATION OF AN EXTERNAL FUNDING 
OFFICER POST 

84 - 90

Report of Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen, Deputy Leader and Executive 
Member for Corporate Strategy & Investment.

19. REVISED GAMBLING ACT STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 91 - 137
Report of Councillor Alison Webb, Executive Member for People & Information.

20. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS 
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups.

 Norfolk Countywide Community Safety Partnership Scrutiny Sub Panel

Substitute to be appointed

21. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY) 

22. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT (IF 
ANY) 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 25 October 2018 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr T. R. Carter
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R.W. Duffield (Chairman)
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Councillor E. Gould
Mr P.J. Hewett
Mrs T. Hewett
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr K. Martin
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J. Newton
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr J.D. Rogers
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs L.S. Turner (Vice-Chairman)
Mr M. A. Wassell
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Rory Ringer - Democratic Services Manager
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
124/18 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Askew, Brame, Sam 
Chapman-Allen, Millbank, Robinson, Sherwood and Taylor.

125/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

126/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None declared.

5

Agenda Item 2



Council
25 October 2018

2

Action By
127/18 GARDEN TOWN PROPOSAL - PROPOSED RESPONSE (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman introduced Jennie Borgnis, the Chair of North Elmham Parish 
Council, who was in attendance to speak on behalf of the five parishes adjacent to 
the proposed site and for ‘CANT’, ‘Campaign Against the New Town,’ an 
organisation that had been set up by these parishes. She was also voicing the 
concerns of over 2000 people who had signed a petition against the proposal.

The Chair of North Elmham Parish Council made the following statement:

“The Government’s prospectus stated that new garden community 
applications must have local authority support.  Lanpro had known this for 
more than two years, yet – in direct conflict with Government aims, had 
blatantly failed to engage with parish councils or residents. When finally 
alerted to this proposal in just June of this year, Breckland Council 
emphasised to Lanpro the need for such engagement.

Despite publicly stating that the proposal was about community, Lanpro had 
not contacted one local community or parish council. Instead it had been 
found that Lanpro wished to bypass everyone at a local level and directly 
lobby the Government. Furthermore, the Forestry Commission, whose land 
on the East bank of the River Wensum would be completely contained by this 
development, had not been approached.

Breckland Council had spent years painstakingly devising its local plan to 
2036 in full consultation with all parties. The Local Plan did not require or 
include a new town of 10,000 dwellings.

The Parish Councils were aware of two facts: that in June 2017 two 
landowners signed conditional sale contracts with Lanpro to sell their 
productive agricultural land; and that Lanpro had stated that an upgraded rail 
link would be the main factor governing the selection of this site.

Despite liaising with Mid Norfolk Railway for over two years, Lanpro had 
failed to present a plan worthy of consideration. To suggest that a garden 
town on this site would secure an economic future for new and existing 
communities along the rail route was totally absurd and misleading. There 
had been no evidence that this track could ever become a commercially 
viable commuter route. It was highly unlikely any train operating company 
would be interested in being involved in such a loss-making venture, sited at 
the very end of a deficient rail track and on the wrong side of an already often 
gridlocked East Dereham.

Lanpro cited a mere 12 minute drive along the only ‘A’ road in the area to join 
the Norwich/Cambridge corridor. This single ‘A’ road was hazardous in 
several places and was already speed restricted. There was no Northern 
Distributor Road link to make joining the corridor remotely realistic; even if 
there was, no one wanting to travel west or south would use a major road 
going east.  All other routes around the site for several miles in any direction 
were ‘B’ roads, each one passing through many villages and small 
communities.

Imagine the expense and the loss of yet more green land required to 
construct the necessary road improvements to Dereham, Swaffham, Watton 
and Brandon plus the strain that the increased traffic would put on these and 
all of the smaller communities in between.

6



Council
25 October 2018

3

Action By

George Freeman MP had quoted that, ‘the proposal lacked any serious plan 
to manage the major traffic implications and general disruption that a 
settlement of this size would create in such a rural area’.

Norfolk County Council Highways Department had stated that the money 
available would not scratch the surface for a town of that size.  

Significantly, New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership had also not been 
contacted by Lanpro. The Partnership’s strategy highlighted several growth 
corridors warranting consideration for planned, sustainable growth; this site 
was not one of them.

Lanpro suggested in its prospectus, that the full extent of the land required to 
deliver the scheme was within their control. It said that it would deliver food 
production and manufacture, allotments, poultry farming, employment spaces 
for food processing and grazing on dually used recreational spaces. All this 
would be in addition to the housing and would be impossible on a site of 
fewer than 1300 acres.

This was not a little local difficulty with a small estate expected to spring up 
on the edge of a village. This was the wholescale destruction of everything 
village communities in the entire region stood for and their very existence 
was at stake.

This proposal, sited alongside Europe’s most protected river, was 
thoughtless, inaccurate, lazy and speculative with absolutely no merit.

On behalf of the residents of North Elmham, Billingford, Bintree, Foxley and 
Bawdeswell as well as those much further afield, she urged Breckland 
Council Members to support the recommendation and reject this proposal in 
its entirety.

The Chairman of North Elmham Parish Council then thanked everyone for 
allowing her the opportunity to speak”.  

The Leader, Councillor William Nunn thanked everyone involved who had taken 
the time to write to him with their concerns and also to the people who had 
submitted the petition against the proposal which he had recently received with 
some 1600 signatories.

He hoped that everyone had seen and had read the Council report but he wanted 
to provide some background and explain why the matter was being discussed.

In June 2018, Breckland Council was made aware of a proposal for a new Garden 
Town of some 10,000 new homes in an area of land between the villages of North 
Elmham and Bintree by the developers Lanpro.

In August 2018, the Government released a prospectus seeking expressions of 
interest for new communities to be delivered to Garden Town principles.

The Council had been asked by Lanpro to support their submission as one of the 
requirements of the prospectus was to gain local authority support, and as such the 
Council’s position had to be considered.

The requirement for local authority support had been reiterated via correspondence 

7



Council
25 October 2018

4

Action By
between the Member of Parliament, George Freeman and the Minister, Kit 
Malthouse.  The Minister had also replied to some members of the community who 
had written confirming this need.

The Leader then highlighted the following key issues:

 The Council’s Local Plan, to identify future housing and commercial land, 
was currently at an advanced stage. The Government Inspector had been 
working with the Council during the summer to prepare the Plan for 
adoption in the spring 2019.  The proposal put forward by Lanpro had not at 
any time been promoted or considered as part of this process.

 The Council had identified land to meet its housing need through the sites 
in the Local Plan and had consulted widely with all its communities to 
ensure that everyone had been given the opportunity to help shape the 
future of the District.

 The Garden Town proposal would be significantly in excess of this 
requirement and having consulted with the Council’s neighbouring 
authorities, all had confirmed that they were able to meet their current 
allocations within their areas or as part of a joint planning arrangement.

 The proposal’s scale and location differed significantly from the Local Plan 
and ultimately did not and would not fit within that framework.

 Prior to the Council being contacted in June, no community engagement 
had been undertaken and even when Lanpro had been told that this was an 
essential part of any proposal, still no engagement took place between the 
proposer and the communities that would be gravely affected by the 
development.

 The Council and the Government’s own prospectus would have expected to 
have seen some evidence of significant community engagement to 
accompany such a proposal. 

Taking all these factors into account, the Leader stated that he and the Officers 
concerned, felt that the proposal should not receive the Council’s support and in 
conclusion, and in light of the conflict with the Local Plan and the lack of community 
engagement, the Council’s recommendation was that the Garden Town proposal 
should not be supported at this time.  

Members were informed that the Council’s preference for significant and strategic 
scale development proposals would be promoted through future reviews of the 
Council’s Local Plan in order to enable a full appraisal of the issues and 
appropriate consultation.

Councillor Gordon Bambridge as one of the Ward Members affected by the 
proposal had met with the potential developers in July 2018 when the matter 
became public. He had since attended many meetings in his Ward, including parish 
council meetings, who all wished to know more about this proposal.

Lanpro had answered many questions but a number of matters had not been 
adequately answered and would need to be ‘bottomed out’ before an application 
could be considered by the Council.

Councillor Bambridge then highlighted the following issues:

8



Council
25 October 2018

5

Action By

 The location itself, apart from the availability of land, offered little else to the 
general acceptability of the site. It was remote from main infrastructure 
connections in almost every area.

 The matter of Europe’s most protected river, the Wensum, which lay below 
the escarpment on which the proposed town would be built, all around its 
western boundary, would need to be crossed at two points (Elmham near 
the station and County School).

 Access to water. There were aquifers under much of this part of Norfolk and 
all provided some of the purest water in the area, and was now used to 
dilute and improve the standards of water in Norwich and most of central 
Norfolk and beyond.  This would have implications for the whole community 
of Norfolk.

 Dealing with foul water, as mentioned above, the Wensum was in danger 
and the buffer zones proposed would be inadequate for 10,000 houses with 
perhaps in the region of 30,000 residents.

 The suggestion that the railway was ‘on board’ seemed premature, and the 
costing for the upgrade required was inadequate.  This upgrade would cost 
in the region of £100m plus another £100m to connect to the main line – 
only £50m had been proposed.

 The highways matters had not been fully considered. The £30m offered to 
upgrade the Western Link would probably be no more than 10% of its cost, 
and did not allow for the upgrade needed to the A1067, the B1145 and the 
B1110, and not including roads outside of the district. The main road to the 
proposed development would be the A1067 of which the speed was 
limited for most of its distance to the Broadland Northway and through to 
Taverham and Drayton, and the link to a single carriageway A47 had not 
been fully established.

 The matter of environmental impact. This was open countryside with around 
300 acres of Forestry Commission woodland with many rare species.  
Animal, bird, reptile, invertebrate and plant species which, whilst not unique, 
were rare and at home in this area and just to the north of the site there 
were snails in protected habitat which could be affected. These species 
were listed as endangered and were currently included on the GB Red List.

 The land also covered huge deposits of sand and gravel, and extraction 
had been locally opposed and whilst this had not been deemed necessary 
before, the County was currently reviewing its needs, and would continue to 
do so at regular intervals in future. Therefore, building a new town on this 
land would eliminate any option for future administrations. 

Councillor Bambridge stated that the impact on the community in this part of central 
Norfolk should not be discounted. Three villages would essentially disappear and 
many others would be seriously affected, not just during construction. He was 
already being contacted by people whose sale of houses had fallen through, 
farmland and amenity land would disappear and historical and important sites 
would be overwhelmed. He felt that whatever justification was being put forward, 
this was genuinely a case of houses of the wrong numbers and in the wrong place.

Councillor Clarke echoed everything that Members had said; option 1 would be 

9



Council
25 October 2018

6

Action By
fully supported.  He pointed out that although there was a clear demonstrated need 
for housing, every major development needed to be of good quality, the housing 
needed to be of the right mix and in the right place.  Lanpro had no regard to 
community cohesion and had done nothing to reassure residents.  He was also 
concerned about the affect this would have on the Council’s Local Plan and on the 
town of Dereham and urged Members to support option 1.

Councillor Dimoglou highlighted the fact that the Parish Council had been made 
aware of this proposal by the Ward Member, Councillor Borrett.  He then pointed 
out that Breckland was woefully short of housing and felt that this, although 
considered as an ‘out of hand’ proposal, should not be discounted.

Councillor Brindle raised concerns about any future proposal that could come 
forward and asked all parishioners to keep a watching brief.

Councillor Borrett had represented these areas for many years and was pleased to 
see so many people in attendance.  He thanked the Officers and the Leader for 
bringing this matter to the Full Council meeting and for their very clear reasons and 
clear guidance for not supporting a proposal of this scale – a town, the size of 
Thetford, in the middle of the countryside.  There was a clear process in place for 
the Local Plan and although more housing was needed, consultation was key.  
Issues such as roads, schools, traffic etc should be considered and any 
development should not have a detrimental effect on its surroundings.  He urged 
Members to support the recommendation thus sending a signal to Lanpro to 
engage with the communities and consider the Local Plan.

Councillor Wilkinson cared greatly about Breckland and if Lanpro had taken any 
advice he did not believe that this proposal would have come forward at this time.

Councillor Crawford agreed that Breckland Council had an adequate Local Plan 
and that 10,000 new homes in the countryside were not required.  He supported 
the recommendation of refusal.

Councillor Paul Hewett advised that this was not a moment for politics; this was 
about community and felt that this proposal had been ill judged and ill-conceived 
and had not met the basic levels of decency.  He also felt that such a proposal 
could not be thrown out forever but on this occasion he whole heartedly supported 
option 1.

Councillor Smith disagreed with the comments made by Councillor Dimoglou.  
Members should choose their words with discretion as this was a situation that all 
political parties had created.  Such a proposal would not reduce the house prices 
for local people and the increase in population would exert a decrease in wages.  
He then urged Members to read an interesting article that had been reported by the 
BBC.

The recommendation was then proposed by the Leader, Councillor William Nunn 
and seconded by many, and following a vote of 41 Members in support of the 
recommendation and 1 vote against the recommendation, it was:

RESOLVED that:

1. the promoters submission of the Garden Town at North Elmham to the 
Government is not supported at this time; and

2. the Council’s preference for significant and strategic scale development 

10



Council
25 October 2018

7

Action By
proposals be promoted through future reviews of the Council’s Local Plan in 
order to enable full appraisal of the issues and appropriate consultation be 
carried out.

128/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

A correction to the heading on page 32 of the agenda was made to read: ‘Vice’-
Chairman’s Engagements.

The Chairman thanked everyone for attending his recent reception.  He thoroughly 
enjoyed the event and he conveyed his thanks to all staff both at Breckland and at 
the Museum for all their hard work and organisation.  The monies raised by the 
raffle totalled £676.00 which included a kind donation of £50.00 from G.T Bunning’s 
& Sons of Gressenhall.  

129/18 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

The Leader provided Members with an update on the following topic - talent 
development.

Breckland Council currently had five apprentices in post and a further five were 
being recruited.  In addition to this, two members of staff were now progressing to 
the next level of their current engagement and two graduates had joined the 
Council in September through the National Graduate Development Programme run 
by the Local Government Association; this brought the total number of graduates to 
three.  The first graduate, Ryan Pack, was now entering his second year placement 
with the Council and would continue to work with the Licensing Team.  Joe Pales 
was with the Delivery & Growth Team and Jack Fulham was currently working with 
the Council’s Legal & Contracts Team.  The Council also wanted to broaden this 
further and take on more work experience; therefore, schools in the Breckland area 
would be contacted to discuss taking on pupils for next year.  Taking on work 
experience placements would show people what opportunities there were in the 
authority to hopefully gain some good experience before they chose their careers. 
It was recognised that local government often found it difficult to recruit the right 
people and he felt that greater knowledge of the work undertaken by Councils 
would improve this. From a Councillor perspective and a local government officer 
perspective, at a time when resources were getting tighter, the Council, by taking 
on work experience placements, hopefully would encourage young people to work 
in a local government environment.  In his opinion, this was great news and he 
hoped that the Council would continue in the future to encourage local talent.  

The Leader then introduced and thanked the three apprentices in attendance, 
Vince Cavallo, Matthew Roe and Harley Gallagher.

Councillor Jermy was in favour of apprenticeships and this was part of his remit as 
a Norfolk County Councillor.  However, he was aware that apprenticeship numbers 
were falling across the County due to the lack of, and the increasing cost of, public 
transport and wondered what the Council could do to support apprentices in 
Breckland.  The Leader was aware of the transport issue and this was the very 
reason the Council had an agreement with Kickstart scooters.  Funding of £100k 
had been set aside to enable apprentices to take up work and overcome any 
transport challenges that they faced.  

The Executive Member for Growth, Councillor Gordon Bambridge asked if it would 
be possible to recommend to the Town Councils and other bodies to incorporate 
apprenticeships into their organisations.  The Leader said that he would be more 

11



Council
25 October 2018

8

Action By
than happy to do that.  

Councillor Crawford highlighted the fact that Thetford Town Council had recently 
given a grant to Catch22 College in Thetford to assist with such matters as 
transport.

130/18 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

None.

131/18 QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 8) 

Councillor Dimoglou asked the Leader why private & confidential meetings were 
not minuted.  He also mentioned the abbreviated Planning Minutes that he felt 
lacked transparency.   The Leader advised that the Council did not have a secrecy 
policy and debated everything in the public arena except for matters that contained 
personal and commercially sensitive information.  Executive Members met every 
two weeks in an informal capacity and, due to it being informal, these were not 
minuted as they were briefings rather than decision-making meetings.  The Leader 
pointed out that the Garden Town proposal, debated earlier in the meeting, had 
always been completely open and transparent from when he had first been 
contracted by Lanpro.  Meetings had then been held with all concerned and 
therefore he strongly refuted any accusation that everything was dealt with in 
private and behind closed doors.

Councillor Brindle asked the Leader if he agreed that the Council should support 
the retention of specialist children’s centres as he felt that it was vital that these 
centres be retained.  In response, the Leader advised that he had been witness to 
the on-going Labour Group campaigns and in support, he would respond to Norfolk 
County Council accordingly.  He had also sent a website link to all Members to 
make Norfolk County Council aware of the strength of feeling in Breckland.

Councillor Wilkin responded to the retort made about the Planning Minutes. He 
explained that all Minutes were taken by the Democratic Services Team and the 
public often attended these meetings.  He felt that there was no need to set out the 
Minutes in chapter and verse as the decision was the most important.

Councillor Wassell asked the Leader to confirm that nothing had changed in terms 
of the Briefings since his time as Leader of the Council, and at the time Councillor 
Dimoglou was a Cabinet Member.  The Leader said that this was his recollection.

Referring to all the children’s centres in the news, Councillor Clarke asked the 
Leader if he would encourage District Councillors and Norfolk County Councillors 
to pay a visit to these centres in their Ward.  The Leader added that he would 
encourage all Councillors to engage with their communities; this was the very 
reason that Members were elected.

Councillor Borrett directed his question to the Leader and asked if he supported 
Norwich City Council’s decision to spend millions on properties outside of the 
County.  The Leader emphasised that he did support their views.  All local 
authorities were challenged by such matters but all had to invest wisely for their 
communities.  He had been heartened that Norwich City was actually following 
Breckland’s lead in working with the Anglia Revenues Partnership.

Councillor Jermy asked Councillor Cowen, the Executive Member for Finance & 

12



Council
25 October 2018

9

Action By
Delivery if he would pass on some of Breckland’s advice to Elizabeth Truss MP.  In 
response, the Executive Member for Finance & Delivery informed Members that 
Breckland managed its finances very well indeed and although he had met with the 
said MP on the odd occasion he would not be asking how she reported her facts 
and figures.

132/18 CABINET MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

a) Capital for Public Protection Software Systems Replacement (Minute No. 
95/18)

RESOLVED that funding totalling £71,500 (and not £71,000 as mis-quoted 
in the recommendation) be approved and released from Reserves and that 
the 2018/19 Capital Programme be revised accordingly.

b) Quarter 1 Financial Performance (Minute No. 96/18)

Councillor Jermy asked Councillor Cowen, the Executive Member for 
Finance & Delivery what this money was going to be used for.

Members were informed that Breckland Council held a significant 
commercial stock of which a number were vacant or void.  The Council was 
always looking to invest in the District and in order to ensure the financial 
pot was sufficient, £600k had been set aside and had not been defined for 
anything specific but was there to provide a service.  Christine Marshall, the 
Director of Commercialisation & S151 Officer added that the monies had 
been set aside to manage large voids and disposals and was about 
managing the impact on the Council’s finances as this income supported 
services.

RESOLVED that £600,000 be allocated within the Growth & Investment 
Reserve to be used for large voids or timing between disposals and 
acquisitions of commercial properties.

c) Adoption

RESOLVED that, subject to the amendment as set out in (a) above, the 
confirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 4 September 2018 be 
adopted.

133/18 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission 
meeting held on 27 September 2018 be adopted.

134/18 PLANNING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

(a) Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 3 September 2018  

a) Deferred Applications: Dereham Land at Greenfields Road (Minute No. 
106/18(a)

It was noted that the second paragraph of this application was incorrect 
and should read: “subject to, Members agreeing the Heads of Terms of 
the S106 Agreement in relation to a contribution to off-site provision to 
meet the shortfall of on-site provision…..”

13



Council
25 October 2018

10

Action By

b) Adoption

RESOLVED that subject to the above correction, the confirmed Minutes 
of the Planning Committee meeting held on 3 September 2018 be 
adopted.

(b) Unconfirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 1 October 2018  

a) Schedule of Planning Applications (Minute No. 118/18(i))

The surname of an objector to this application had been misspelt; it 
should be “Bick” not “Bic” as quoted in the Minutes.

b) Adoption

RESOLVED that, subject to the correction of the spelling mistake above, 
the unconfirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 1 
October 2018 be adopted.

135/18 LICENSING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

a) New Animal Welfare Licensing – Approval of Fees and Delegations (Minute 
No. 44/18)

The surname of a speaker in attendance had been misspelt; it should be 
Mrs Maggie Oechsle and not Oxley as quoted in the Minutes.

b) Adoption

RESOLVED that, subject to the above correction the unconfirmed Minutes 
of the additional Licensing Committee meeting held on 2 October 2018 be 
adopted.

136/18 GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Governance & Audit Committee 
meeting held on 28 September 2018 be adopted.

137/18 MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PANEL (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The Minutes of the Member Development Panel meeting held on 28 September 
2018 were noted.

138/18 ICT & DIGITAL STRATEGY (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

The Executive Member for People & Information, Councillor Alison Webb 
presented the report.

The ICT & Digital Strategy had been designed to support the wider aims of the 
Breckland Corporate Plan and its corporate priorities.  It had also been designed to 
improve residents’ experience of contacting Breckland Council.  

The draft ICT & Digital Strategy had also been presented to the Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission meeting on 17 August 2018 where it had been discussed at 
great length.

14



Council
25 October 2018

11

Action By

RESOLVED that:

1) the draft ICT & Digital Strategy be approved and be implemented from April 
2019 to align with the Council’s new Corporate Plan; 

2) the Digital Work Programme associated with the Strategy be approved; and

3) the funding from the Moving Forward (transformation) and Growth and 
Investment Reserves, as detailed in the report, be approved.

139/18 NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

RESOLVED that Councillor Paul Claussen be replaced by Councillor Trevor Carter 
on the Norfolk Countywide Community Safety Partnership Scrutiny Sub-Panel.

140/18 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

None.

141/18 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 
(AGENDA ITEM 18) 

Nothing urgent to report.

142/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 19) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

143/18 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING - TRANSFER OF SERVICE (AGENDA ITEM 
20) 

The Executive Member for Growth, Councillor Gordon Bambridge presented the 
report asking Members to consider the business case for the transfer of the 
Neighbourhood Planning Service to the Council’s provider of Planning Services.

A number of questions were asked, in particular, Councillor Brindle sought 
reassurance that, if Members were mindful to approve the recommendation, would 
there be more control in relation to enforcement.  Members were assured that this 
would be the case.

RESOLVED that the recommendation to Full Council, to agree the transfer of 
service, in accordance with the report, be approved.

Presentation/Briefings

Members were provided with a briefing by Mr Ceri Theobald, Head of 
Partnerships & Business Development, Flagship Housing Group followed by a 
Local Plan presentation delivered by Christine Marshall, Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151 Officer and Jon Berry, Head of Development 
Management.

15



Council
25 October 2018

12

Action By
The meeting closed at 11.55 am CHAIRMAN

16



Engagement List – Chairman

25 October – 5 December 2018

Date Event Host

9 November 2018 Staff Remembrance Chairman Breckland Council

9 November 2018 Civic Reception Chairman of South Norfolk Council

Cllr John Overton & Mrs Ruby Overton

11 November 2018 Remembrance Sunday Service British Legion

11 November 2018 Beacon Lighting Ceremony & Firework 
Display 

Chairman of South Cambridgeshire Council

Cllr Douglas de Lacey

21 November 2018 Thanksgiving Eve Service Colonel Christopher R. Amrhein

Commander, 100th Air Refuelling Wing

23 November 2018 White Ribbon Flag Raising Chairman Breckland Council 

24 November 2018 Leeway Hollywood Glitz Ball

  (Part of civic group)

Chairman of Broadland District Council

Cllr Judy Leggett

17

A
genda Item

 4



Engagement List – Vice-Chair

25 October - 5 December 2018

Date Event Host

22 October 2018 Anglo Sikh Heritage Trail Thetford Town Council

18 November 2018 St Edmunds Day Service The Mayor of St Edmundsbury

Councillor Margaret Marks

18



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 16 October 2018 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr K. Martin

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr J. Newton
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Ross Bangs - Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager 

(shared)
Sarah Barsby - Executive Manager for Information
Jon Berry - Head of Development Management
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Robert Campbell - Inward Investment Manager
Paul Corney - Head of ARP
Stephen James - Communities & Environmental Services Manager
Phil Mileham - Strategic Planning Manager
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

99/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 4 September were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

100/18 APOLOGIES 

No apologies were received.

101/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

Public Document Pack

19

Agenda Item 8



Cabinet
16 October 2018

2

Action By

102/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

103/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, Crawford, Martin, Matthews, Newton and Wilkinson.

104/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

105/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 

Nothing to report.

106/18 CUSTOMER ACCESS STRATEGY 

The Executive Member for People and Information informed members that 
the Customer Access Strategy had been designed to support the wider aims 
of the Corporate Plan and priorities, and in particular to ‘provide the right 
services, at the right time and in the right way’.  The report had been 
presented to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Commission where a 
number of suggested changes had been raised by Members and 
incorporated into the document.

It was highlighted that within the strategy it suggested Credit cards were not 
able to be used to pay for the garden waste services; however it was 
confirmed that residents were able to use this form of payment.

The Deputy Leader thanked the Commission for their input into the Strategy 
and said Members had an important role to play as digital champions by 
encouraging residents to use the digital services wherever possible.

Councillor Wilkinson said he had recently experienced problems where 
residents had had issues with accessing the housing information online and 
were advised to call the contact centre.  The Executive Member for Growth 
confirmed he would look into the problem in more detail.

Councillor Crawford asked where the training for residents would take place.  
The Deputy Leader explained that the final details were being considered; 
however work was under way with Norfolk County Council to work with 
communities to uplift the digital skills.  It was hoped that further information 
would be available early 2019.

Members were content with the strategy subject to a minor spelling 
amendment and reference to the credit card.

Reasons for recommendations
The strategy sets out a clear plan for making best use of Council resources to 
meet the needs of its customers, achieving value for money for the Council 
and its residents.

Options

20



Cabinet
16 October 2018

3

Action By

1. Approve the Customer Access Strategy, and that it be implemented 
from April 2019 to align with the Council’s new Corporate Plan.

2. Propose changes to the Customer Access Strategy.
3. Do nothing

RESOLVED that:
1) The draft Customer Access Strategy be approved;
2) The strategy be implemented from April 2019, to align with the 

Council’s new Corporate Plan.

107/18 ICT & DIGITAL STRATEGY 

The Executive Member for People and Information presented the report that 
looked to improve residents’ experience of contacting the council whilst 
increasing the efficiency of the overall operating arrangements.

The report had been presented to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission where a number of suggested changes had been raised by 
Members and incorporated into the document.

The Executive Member for Place felt there was little information about 
supporting businesses within the document.

The Chief Executive added that the strategy considered how the workforce 
would use the strategy to help deliver further savings.

The Deputy Leader went on to say that work was underway to refresh the 
Corporate plan which would also take into account how the Council were 
worked with businesses effectively.  Business Managers had been introduced 
and were working closely with businesses to understand what their needs 
were.  He added the strategy would act as a tool for both Officers and 
Members to deliver the corporate priorities. 

Reasons for recommendations
The strategy sets out a clear plan for making best use of Council resources to 
meet the needs of its customers – residents, businesses, staff and elected 
Members – while achieving value for money for the Council.

Not only does the strategy aim to improve services, it also anticipates a 
reduction in costs over the three-year period, through increased productivity, 
rationalisation and re-procurement of systems and software, automation of 
service processes, and as more customers seek to access Council services 
online.

Options
1. That the new ICT and Digital Strategy and Digital Work Programme 

be approved, subject to Council approving the related funding to pay 
for the programme’s delivery, and be implemented from April 2019 to 
align with the Council’s new Corporate Plan.

2. Propose changes to the ICT and Digital Strategy.
3. Do nothing.

RESOLVED to Recommend FULL COUNCIL:

1) The draft ICT and Digital Strategy be approved, and implemented from 

21



Cabinet
16 October 2018

4

Action By

April 2019 to align with the Council’s new Corporate Plan.

2) That the Digital Work Programme associated with the strategy be 
approved, subject to Council approving the transfer of funding as detailed 
in the Pro forma B from Moving Forward (transformation) and Growth 
and Investment reserves.

108/18 Q1 2018-19 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Executive Member for People and Information explained that the report 
provided data on the Council’s performance for the period 1 April to 31 June 
2018.

The report suggested a recommendation that the performance measure for 
the Garden Waste revenue be changed to reflect the number of current 
subscribers to the Garden waste scheme.

The Deputy Leader added that it was important to note that the Members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Commission had agreed to the performance 
measures and therefore it was Member driven.   

It was RESOLVED to agree to the change with the Garden Waste 
Performance Measure.  Members noted the report.

109/18 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY 

The Executive Member for People and Information explained that the current 
policy had originally been adopted in 2014.  The revised policy updated the 
Policy in line with changes that had been seen over the last 4-years.

Reasons for recommendations
The current adopted policy was 4-years old and due for a review.  Whilst 
there had not been any fundamental changes to statutory requirements, the 
new policy was improved for the benefit all those engaging with the Council.

Options
1. To adopt the amended Policy.
2. Do nothing.

RESOLVED that the Equality and Diversity Policy be adopted.

110/18 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION POLICY 

The Executive Member for People and Information explained that the current 
policy had originally been adopted in 2014.  The revised policy updated the 
Policy in line with changes that had been seen over the last 4-years.

The Chief Executive referred Members to the Performance report that 
highlighted a ‘red’ indicator and work was underway to digitalise the process 
as much as possible.

The Executive Member for Growth asked if there were people that miss-used 
Freedom of Information.  It was explained that there are a lot of general 
requests that were received from the Press which had been generated and 
sent out to all Councils.  Work was underway to look at how to deal with those 

22



Cabinet
16 October 2018

5

Action By

effectively. 

Reasons for recommendations
The current policy had been adopted 4-years ago and was due for a review.  
Whilst there had not been any fundamental changes to statutory 
requirements, the new policy had been improved for the benefit of people 
wishing to contact the Council regarding Freedom of Information.

Options
1. To adopt the amended Policy.
2. Do nothing.

RESOLVED that the Freedom of Information Policy be adopted.

111/18 NORFOLK HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 

The Executive Member for Place introduced the Chairman of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Councillor Bill Borrett, to present the report.  He highlighted 
the Strategic Framework which ultimately aimed to bring partners’ existing 
strategies together to create a single sustainable system.  It would allow 
partners to work together to use resources in the most effective way to 
prioritise prevention and support the most vulnerable.  

The Executive Member for Finance and Delivery urged the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to lobby MPs to embed Healthcare within the planning 
process, as Health practices were not currently statutory consultees. 
However, Breckland currently operated a voluntary practice to notify Health 
practices of significant growth within the District.

Councillor Crawford emphasised the need to do more for Healthcare as within 
Thetford there was only one dental practice and with the start of the new 
housing developments within Thetford he raised concerns that there was 
currently no plans to increase the dental surgeries within Thetford.

Reasons for Recommendations
By agreeing to the recommendations of the report, Breckland would continue 
to work in partnership to improve the health and wellbeing of the residents.

Options
1. Agree to the recommendations of the report.
2. Agree to some of the recommendations of the report.
3. Do not agree to the recommendations.

RESOLVED that:
1. The formal sign off of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy be 

agreed.
2. The current position of the Sustainability and Transformation 

Partnership be noted.
3. The development of a more formalised approach to Health and 

Wellbeing within the Council be agreed.

112/18 ENFORCEMENT AGENCY - DELEGATION OF FUNCTION 

The Executive Member for Place outlined that the report sought approval of 
Members for Norwich City Council to have their Enforcement work function 

23



Cabinet
16 October 2018

6

Action By

discharged by Breckland Council.

Reasons for Recommendations
Where it is in the interests of the Breckland Council to agree arrangements 
for the ARP Enforcement Agency to collect additional debt we will need to 
agree the arrangements to ensure that the joint working agreement benefits 
all partners.

Options
1. Breckland Council could decide not to accept delegation of the 

Enforcement function from Norwich City however if they do so then 
this would reduce the efficiency of the Enforcement Team.

2. Breckland Council could agree to the delegation of the Enforcement 
function from Norwich City which would increase the efficiency of the 
Enforcement team.

RESOLVED that in accordance with Section 9EA of the Local Government 
Act 2000 and the Local Authorities (arrangements for the Discharge of 
Functions) (England) Regulations 2012 including regulations 4, 5 and 7, 
subject to approval by Norwich City Council, Breckland Council shall 
discharge the Enforcement and taking control of goods function (section 12 to 
the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007) in respect of Council Tax 
(Section 14 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended)) and 
Non Domestic Rates (Section 62A of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988) for Norwich City Council.

113/18 COUNCIL TAX – LONG TERM EMPTY PROPERTY PREMIUMS 

The Executive Member for Place presented the report to Members explaining 
that since April 2013 councils had the discretion to charge up to 50% empty 
homes premium for properties that had been empty for over 2-years.  In 
offering the new powers the Government were seeking to influence owners to 
bring empty homes back into use as well as the ability for councils to increase 
Council Tax income.

Reasons for Recommendations
To bring long term empty properties back into use as soon as possible and to 
incentivise this by adding penalties through the additional Council tax 
premium charged.

Options
1a) That subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 

following any guidelines issued, Cabinet approve an additional 50% 
Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 2 
years, raising the Council Tax to 200%, from 1 April 2019; and

1b) That subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 
following any guidelines issued, Cabinet approve an additional 100% 
Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 5 
years, raising the Council Tax to 300%, from 1 April 2020; and

1c) That subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 
following any guidelines issued, Cabinet approve an additional 100% 
Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 10 

24



Cabinet
16 October 2018

7

Action By

years, raising the Council Tax to 400%, from 1 April 2021; and

1d) That subject to recommendations 1-3 being agreed, the Long Term 
Empty Premium will not apply where a property already subject to a 
Long Term Empty Premium changes ownership until a further 2 years 
has passed. At which time the 100% Long Term Empty Premium will 
apply and this will increase in line with normal progression of the 
Premium.

2) That subject to the relevant legislation coming into force some but not 
all of the options are approved by Cabinet.

3) Do nothing.

RESOLVED that:
1) Subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 

following any guidelines issued,  an additional 50% Council Tax premium 
on Long Term Empty properties longer than 2 years, raising the Council 
Tax to 200%, from 1 April 2019 be approved.

2) Subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 
following any guidelines issued, an additional 100% Council Tax 
premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 5 years, raising the 
Council Tax to 300%, from 1 April 2020 be approved.

3) Subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 
following any guidelines issued, an additional 100% Council Tax 
premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 10 years, raising 
the Council Tax to 400%, from 1 April 2021 be approved.

4) Subject to recommendations 1-3 being agreed, the Long Term Empty 
Premium would not apply where a property already subject to a Long 
Term Empty Premium changes ownership until a further 2 years had 
passed. At which time the 100% Long Term Empty Premium would apply 
and this would increase in line with normal progression of the Premium 
be approved.

114/18 SNETTERTON HEATH GROWTH AND DESIGN PLAN 

The Deputy Leader explained that the allocation of £150,000 would be used 
to support the proposed project, allowing Landowners to be involved in the 
future planning of the Snetterton Heath area.

The Executive Member for Assets added that it would create quality 
employment opportunities within the Breckland area.

The Executive Member for Finance and Delivery said it was vital for 
Breckland to work with neighbouring authorities to develop the employment 
opportunities. 

Reasons for Recommendations
Snetterton Heath is Breckland’s single largest under developed employment 
area, with significant development potential.  Without further direct actions by 
the Council, there was a danger that the site would not bring forward enough 
significant high value sector development, with a corresponding loss of high 

25



Cabinet
16 October 2018

8

Action By

value job opportunities.

Proactive action by the Council could significantly increase the pace of 
development at Snetterton and influence the quality of developments, 
especially those which would support high tech sector development and 
corresponding higher value jobs.

The gathering pace of the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor initiative provide 
a timely opportunity to push forward development opportunities at Snetterton 
Heath.

The proposed project supports delivery of the new Local Plan in a significant 
way.

Options
1) Agree the proposed project to support the growth of the Snetterton 

Heath employment area and authorise the allocation of up to £150k 
from the Growth and Investment Fund to allow the project to be 
implemented (Recommended)

2) Decide not to pursue a proactive approach to Snetterton Heath and 
limit the Council’s involvement to the provision of additional electricity 
power (Not Recommended)

It was RESOLVED:

1) to proceed with the proposed programme of activity in pursuit of 
supporting the growth of the Snetterton Heath employment area, be 
approved.

2) an allocation of £150k from the Growth and Investment Fund to allow 
the proposed project to be implemented be agreed.

115/18 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint 
Committee held on the 25 September 2018 were noted.

116/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday 27 November 2018 at 
10.00am at Watton Town Hall, Middle Street, Watton, Thetford IP25 6AG 
were noted.

There would be an opportunity for the members of the public to ask questions 
of Cabinet members from 9.30am to 10:00am.

117/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

26



Cabinet
16 October 2018

9

Action By

118/18 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING - TRANSFER OF SERVICE 

Consideration was given to the options as set out in the report.

It was RESOLVED to RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that Option 1 be 
approved.

119/18 BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT ASSET 

Consideration was given to the options as set out in the report.

RESOLVED that Option 1 be approved.

The meeting closed at 10.50 am

CHAIRMAN

27



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 8 November 2018 at 2.00 pm in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor E. Gould (Chairman)
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr A.P. Joel

Mr R.G. Kybird
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr H. E. J. Clarke (Substitute Member)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr J. Newton
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager (shared)
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Donna Hall - Licensing & Business Support Manager
Matthew Hogan - Executive Manager Growth & Regeneration
Stephen James - Communities & Environmental Services 

Manager
Richard Hodgson - Executive Manager Property & 

Development
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Susie Richardson - HR Manager
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer BDC)

Action By
117/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2018 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

118/18 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Brame, Jermy and Nairn.  
Councillor Wilkinson was present as substitute for Councillor Brame, 
and Councillor Clarke was substitute for Councillor Jermy.

28

Agenda Item 9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
8 November 2018

2

Action By
119/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

120/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

121/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

No declarations were made. 

122/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Bambridge, Brindle, S Chapman-Allen, Claussen, Cowen, 
Newton, Robinson, Sharpe, Stasiak and Webb were in attendance.

123/18 SAFEGUARDING POLICY 

The Legal Services Manager presented the report to Members 
explaining that District Councils had a range of statutory duties to 
safeguard and promote the wellbeing of individuals and communities 
which complement, but do not duplicate those of our partners. 
Safeguarding encompassed legal duties and responsibilities to protect 
people’s health, wellbeing and human rights, supporting them to prevent 
problems from escalating and enabling them to live free from harm, 
abuse and neglect.  The policy and the related procedures would be for 
staff, councillors, volunteers, and contractors or consultants working on 
behalf of and/or representing the Council.  

Councillor Kybird suggested the following amendments to Page 20 of 
the Policy and Procedures document:

- Training should be provided for Members every 4-years.
- Compliance with completing training will be audited by the 

Safeguarding Officer from time to time to monitor compliance – 
should read ‘ensure’ compliance.

Councillor Dimoglou said that on-line training would be very useful for 
Members to undertake.  He also asked Officers to check if ‘honour-
based violence’ was the correct terminology to use.  The Legal Services 
Manager would amend the policy document accordingly.

RESOLVED that subject to the above amendments, the policy be 
recommended to Cabinet for approval.

124/18 AMENDMENTS TO THE BRECKLAND HOUSING ALLOCATIONS 
POLICY 

The Executive Member for Growth introduced the report and invited the 
Executive Manager for Growth to present the report in greater depth to 
Members.
 
Members were informed that the current housing allocations policy was 
structured in a way that affordable housing within Breckland was ring-
fenced for households with a local connection to the District and priority 
for housing was awarded to local households in the highest housing 

29



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
8 November 2018

3

Action By
need. The only exception to that was where homes were built on 
‘exception sites’, which were typically prioritised for households with a 
connection to the parish where the homes had been built.
 
Separately to the processes relating to housing allocations, a number of 
Parishes across the District were developing Neighbourhood Plans.  As 
a result local communities were asking for a proportion of affordable 
housing delivered on sites allocated through the local plan process to 
be prioritised for households with a local connection to that specific 
settlement.  However, there were a number of legal impediments that 
made it difficult for the District Council to support this approach, mainly 
a legal requirement to allocate affordable housing to those in highest 
need.
 
The Chairman asked if applications were received on a local need first 
could the second let be to anyone across the District.  It was confirmed 
that this was how the Policy would be applied if agreed, but there would 
be scope to extend this beyond first let if members were minded to 
support that approach.  
 
The Executive Member for Growth suggested that the proposed policy 
would satisfy a current need, however it was recognised that the 
Council would need to consult on any policy changes ahead of 
implementing any changes.  
 
Councillor Oliver queried ring-fenced for the first let, but not for the 
second, and questioned if this was a legal requirement. The Executive 
Manager for Growth set out that the proposal for the ring-fence to apply 
only on first let was a proposed approach, but a policy choice open to 
the Council. Councillor Oliver enquired as to why the policy could not 
apply in areas where neighbourhood plans were not being developed. 
The Executive Manager for Growth set out that the legal advice 
received by the authority was clear that applying local ring-fences on 
sites allocated to meet district-wide need carried with it a high risk of 
successful legal challenge from households who would be 
disadvantaged through such a policy, including those to whom the 
Authority had a statutory duty to award higher priority, such as 
households that were owed a duty under homelessness legislation. The 
Executive Manager for Growth set out that the approach proposed 
within the paper carried with it a substantially lower risk of successful 
challenge. 
 
The Executive Manager added that the issue had been explored in 
external legal advice.  Under the current Housing legislation, the 
Council has a statutory duty to provide a reasonable preference to 
households.
 
Councillor Dimoglou felt that we should encourage people to buy 
through shared ownership.  
 
Councillor Wilkinson said he had experience of housing local people 
under the criteria set within Section 106 agreement, but also was not 
able to fill them on the first let.
 
The Chairman asked the Executive Manager to review the Policy as 
Members were not in agreement for Parishes to have first let only.

30



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
8 November 2018

4

Action By
 
RESOLVED that the Executive Manager for Growth gives consideration 
to Members’ comments prior to recommending the report to Cabinet.

125/18 Q2 2018-19 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Executive Member for People and Information explained that the 
Performance Report covered the period from 1 July to 31 September 
2018.  The key areas of success were highlighted as:

 FOI response rate had improved dramatically within the Council;
 Breckland Lottery scheme had shown further success as 

£14,799 had been generated for community good causes since 
the lottery had been launched in March 2019;

 The housing benefit error rate was at its lowest since the figure 
had been reported.

An area of concern was the staff turnover rate which continued to be 
monitored by HR.  The report suggested that the maximum threshold for 
the staff turnover be amended from 10% to 17.5% for 2018/2019 to 
bring it in line with modern turnover rates for local authorities.

Members were informed that two additional performance measures 
would be added to the quarterly report to measure the number of RIPA 
(Regulatory Investigatory Powers Act) applications made by the council 
each quarter; and, the number of customers who had been made 
vexatious as set out by the Council’s vexatious policy.

A Member queried that the target for responding to the FOI requests 
should be at a target of 100% and not 85%.  The Corporate 
Improvement Manager said that since he had taken on his new role, a 
greater emphasis of engagement with the service areas had been 
undertaken to understand why there had been delays and sought a 
resolution to this.  The Member was reassured by the response but 
asked that the target was set at 100% as a mandatory requirement.

Councillor Oliver queried why the vexatious and RIPA targets had been 
added.  He was informed it had been agreed at a previous Cabinet 
meeting that a yearly report would be provided.  Providing quarterly 
data meant that both the Commission and Cabinet would see the 
measures in real-time and could then act on them if they so wished.

Councillor Kybird asked if there had been further information with regard 
to the staff turnover figures.  The HR Manager said she had no 
concerns on why Officers were leaving.  She went onto explain that the 
current performance measure had not been benchmarked for a number 
of years, and the national turnover attrition rate was between 15 – 20%.  
Therefore setting the target to 17.5% was seen as moderate measure.

Members suggested a number of amendments to improve the report.  

The Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager highlighted that 
the Empty Properties indicator was not accurate, and requested a report 
back to the Commission on how the Performance Measure could be 
presented to Members in a meaningful way.  The Commission were in 
agreement with this.

31



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
8 November 2018

5

Action By

The report was noted.

126/18 MEMBER / OFFICER PROTOCOL 

Members were advised that the Member/Officer protocol formed part of 
the Constitution (Part 5B) and was last subject to full review in 2006.  
The Protocol had been re-written and updated in less verbose and less 
legalistic language, but the key principles in the protocol remained.

Councillor Oliver welcomed the report, but asked for greater effort for 
Members to be fully informed about matters on which they were 
required to make decisions or which affected their electoral wards.  This 
was not just about planning or committee references, but all issues.

Councillor Matthews echoed the comments and said she was aware of 
local groups that were meeting with Officers of the Council, but the ward 
representatives had not been made aware.

RESOLVED that subject to the above comments, the revised 
Member/Officer protocol be recommended to Full Council for adoption 
and for inclusion in the Constitution.

127/18 SHOP-APPY UPDATE 

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager gave a verbal 
update to Members explaining the success of Shop-Appy since the 
launch in April 2018.  

Members were reminded that after research had shown that 85% of 
people wanted to shop locally, what they really wanted was for the local 
shopping to be more convenient, and online.  Working in partnership 
with Shop-Appy gave local people and visitors to the Towns an easy 
way to shop locally, and gave local shops a simple solution to having an 
online presence and growing their business through footfall and online 
orders.

The programme had been operational for six-months, and 85 
businesses were signed up to the project with the majority being in 
Attleborough and Swaffham. Nearly 70 orders had been placed with the 
shops and 270 people from across the District had registered as a 
customer on Shop-Appy.

It had been a challenge to work with so many different retailers across 
the District all at the same time.  The shops provided great products and 
unbeatable customer service that make the market towns great places 
to visit.  To showcase the businesses further, 14 short advertising 
videos had been commissioned that involved 17 retailers from across 
the District that would be shared across social media.

This year Breckland had created ‘The 12 Elves of Christmas’ through 
which shoppers were incentivised to visit the high street to find the 
names of 11 elves hidden in shop windows on their local high street.  
The twelfth and final Elf would be hidden within the Shop-Appy website 
again to incentivise participants to explore all of the great products and 
services available.  The winner would receive £250 of shop local 

32



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
8 November 2018

6

Action By
vouchers with 10 runners up receiving £25.

Councillor Crawford asked for the difference in uptake between local 
and national shops, and also asked if there had been a wide variance of 
take up across the market towns.  It was confirmed that this was a local 
project and therefore the national retailers were not involved.  There 
had been a large uptake within Swaffham and Attleborough who were 
using the app. 

Councillor Dimoglou felt it had been a great start with 85 businesses 
signed up.  He asked for data to be available to show the amount that 
was being traded via the App versus what the Council had committed to 
the scheme.

Councillor Joel suggested the information be shared with the village 
magazines as communication should be wider than just social media.  
The Communities and Environmental Services Manager asked 
Members if there were particular forms of media to use to contact him.

The Chairman asked if a delivery service had been considered.  Whilst 
the project was encouraged to create visibility and footfall into the 
Towns, it could be something to be considered at a later stage.

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager said the vision 
was that businesses would see the benefit to the point where the 
Council would no longer need to subsidise.  As a result work was 
underway with a marketing company to promote Shop-Appy through a 
variety of channels and as soon as more details were known, would be 
shared with the Commission.

128/18 UNSIGHTLY SITES UPDATE 

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager reminded 
Members that a programme of activity commenced during 2017 to 
address unsightly and derelict sites across the District.  

Officers sought the local knowledge of Ward Members to identify sites 
that in their view, significantly and adversely impacted upon the 
character and appearance of their immediate and wider environment or 
the general well-being of the communities within which they were 
located.  A total of 50 sites were nominated which were subsequently 
assessed and prioritised accordingly. 

Work had been undertaken in addressing the sites in an effort to deliver 
improved outcomes for the community.  Some of the sites had seen 
improvement following active and positive coercive engagement with 
the individual owners, some had been subject to warning letters whilst 
others had proved more complex and slow to progress.

As a result 14 of the original 50 sites had seen improvement since the 
commencement of the programme.  The first phase of the programme 
had provided a significant amount of learning for those involved.  As a 
result, Officers had worked to create a Virtual Enforcement Hub that 
brought together Enforcement Officers from across the services to 
jointly consider the existing unsightly sites list.
The second phase of the programme had commenced with Officers 

33



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
8 November 2018

7

Action By
focussing on specific cases in a multi-discipline approach to deliver a 
co-ordinated effort to effect change.  It was envisaged the second 
phase would lead to more success in seeing improvements in these 
sites, and it was proposed that a detailed update would be provided to 
Members early in the New Year. 

Councillor Clark expressed his frustration that there were still a number 
of sites that required an update within his ward.  He suggested that 
information be made available on the website as to the progress of the 
unsightly sites.

129/18 TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 

Councillor Clarke updated members on the progress of the Fly-Tipping 
Task and finish group in the absence of Councillor Jermy.

The Group had recently met and received geographical data on fly-
tipping hotspots which had been welcomed by Members. 

Countryside Land Alliance (CLA) were present at the meeting to inform 
Members about the impact of fly-tipping on private land, predominately 
farm land, and the frustrations that they had.  As a result, the CLA had 
produced a 5-point plan on tackling fly-tipping which was being used to 
lobby government to make improvements.

Councillor Joel asked for the geographical data to show where the 
recycling areas were in relation to where the fly-tipping had occurred.

The Executive Member for Growth asked for the group to consider 
prosecution.  

130/18 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Kybird reported that the Norfolk Records Office were 
consulting on being open for reduced hours as part of budget cuts.

Councillor Wilkinson reported that Norfolk and Waveney Clinical 
Commissioning Groups had decided to move towards a single 
management team.  

131/18 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

Nothing to report.

132/18 WORK PROGRAMME 

The Chairman requested the following items be added to the work 
programme:

 Update on the Members Induction programme for May 2019.
 Detailed report on unsightly sites to the January meeting.
 Report from the Fly-tipping Task and finish group to the January 

meeting.

Councillor Kybird asked that the Section 106 report covered an 
explanation of where Parish Councils had requested S106 monies but 

34



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
8 November 2018

8

Action By
had been ignored.  

133/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Thursday 13 
December at 2.00pm in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham, 
were noted.

134/18 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Call-In of the Cabinet Decision on Barnham Broom Golf & Country 
Club Investment Asset  

The Executive Manager of Governance advised Members that the 
Call-in notice received had met the constitutional requirements which 
had been set out within the report in response to a decision of the 
Cabinet on 16 October 2018.

He went onto explain to Members why he felt that the public interest 
was served by excluding the Press and Public from the following item.  
The Council and its’ Tenant were legally bound by commercial 
confidentiality and failure to observe that obligation could potentially 
result in legal proceedings.  The Cabinet took the report below the 
line, because the report contained commercially sensitive business 
and financial information which related to both the Council and the 
Tenant.  Discussion of the report in an open forum would impact on 
the Council’s ability to have a suitable dialogue with the tenant.  It was 
often in the public interest to discuss commercially sensitive 
information in private in order to achieve the best outcome for the 
District.  This was industry standard practice, which Officers 
considered to be the case with this item.

135/18 EXCLUSION FROM PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act.

136/18 BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT 
ASSET 

Members discussed the decision in detail.  It was RESOLVED to take 
no further action, which resulted in the decision taken by Cabinet on 16 
October 2018 to be effective immediately. 

The meeting closed at 5.10 pm
CHAIRMAN

35



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 29 October 2018 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Vice-
Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke

Mr P.J. Duigan
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

Also Present
Mr P. R. W. Darby (Substitute Member)
Mr T. J. Ashby (Ward Representative)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Ward Representative)
Mr J.P. Cowen (Ward Representative)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou (Ward Representative)
Mr J.W. Nunn (Ward Representative)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
P. R. W. Darby 

In Attendance
Jon Berry Head of Development Management
Tom Donnelly Development Management Assistant
Carl Griffiths Principal DM Planner
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Fiona Hunter Principal Development Management Planner
Naomi Minto Development Management Planner
Mark Simmonds Principal DM Planner
Debi Sherman Principal DM Planner
Natalie Wicks Planning Assistant
Teresa Smith Democratic Services Team Leader

 

Action By
121/18 MINUTES 

1) Brettenham: Land East of Arlington Way and West of A1088: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0578/O (118/18(i))

The Objector should read: Robert Bick, not Bic.

2) Subject to the above amendment, the Minutes of the meeting held on 1 
October 2018 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman.

122/18 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES 

None.

36

Agenda Item 10



Planning Committee
29 October 2018

Action By

123/18 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

CASTON: Land adjacent to Caston Primary School, The Street, Caston: 
Reference: 3PL/2017/1267/O

Councillor Brame declared an interest in this application due to knowing the 
objectors, and therefore would abstain from voting on this matter.

124/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Chairman informed Members that this would be the last planning meeting 
Debi Sherman, Principal DM Planner would attend as she was leaving Capita. 
The Chairman gave his thanks on behalf of the Committee for her hard work and 
guidance.

125/18 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 

None.

126/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

127/18 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) 

Members were informed that following the recent Local Plan hearings, the 
Planning Inspector had proposed some modifications that were under 
consideration by the Council.

128/18 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS 

a) Caston: Land adjacent to Caston Primary School, The Street: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1267/O  

The Chairman said matters had arisen which resulted in the Vice-Chairman to 
lead on this item only.

The Vice-Chairman took the seat, and the Chairman left the room.

The application had been deferred at the Planning Committee meeting on 12 
February 2018 to enable further investigations to take place with the Environment 
Agency in relation to the impact that the floodplain compensation scheme would 
have on the drainage system as it operates at present and once the development 
had been implemented if approved.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Philip Cowen (against the application)

Applicant’s Agent: Ian Reilly (Lanpro)
37



Planning Committee
29 October 2018

Action By

Parish Council: David Blincow (Chairman of Caston Parish Council)

Objector: Steve Farnborough

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 4 for approval as recommended subject to:
1) The Diocese approving the car park and the car park therefore being 

included in the development;
2) Conditions as listed in the report; and
3) The reserved matters application coming before Planning 

Committee for determination.

b) Garvestone: Windyridge, Reymerston Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0575/O  

The application had been deferred at the Planning Committee of the 30 July 2018 
as Members requested the applicant provide a Tree Survey and Ecological 
Survey before making a decision on the application.  

Consideration was given to the report presented by Mark Simmonds, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Paul Claussen (in support)

Ward Representative: Councillor Pablo Dimoglou (in support)

Applicant: Neil Hart

DECISION: Members unanimously voted not to accept the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

REASON(s) on grounds that the proposal was in a sustainable location, 
and would contribute to the Council’s housing supply.

DECISION Members voted unanimously to approve the application.

c) Shipdham: The Cricket Players, Old Post Office Street: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0864/F  

The application had been deferred at the Planning Committee Meeting on 
Monday 3rd September where Members voted unanimously to defer making a 
decision in order to seek clarification on the exact details for the access 
arrangements of the scheme.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Jon Berry, Interim Director of 
Planning and Building Control.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

38



Planning Committee
29 October 2018

Action By

Agent: David Futter (David Futter Associates Ltd)

Objector: Colleen Langham

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to;

1) Delegated authority being granted to the Executive Director of Place 
to agree all archaeological issues after the Council had heard back 
on its consultation, and subject to his absolute assurance that the 
objection that has been raised concerning access via Old Post 
Office Street will be dealt with within the submitted plans;

2) Conditions as listed in the report.

129/18 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

a) Attleborough: Land north-west of Chapel Road School, 50 Chapel Road: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/0982/VAR  

The proposal sought a variation to a condition given on the planning permission 
3PL/2017/0342/F, re-positioning plots 9 and 10 to create a larger easement to 
the Anglian Water pipeline.  In addition, plots 7 and 8 would be moved 0.3m 
north-west to correct an overlap with plot 6.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner. 

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to conditions as listed within the report.

b) Attleborough: Land adjacent to junction of Hillsend Lane/London Road: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/0552/F  

The proposal sought planning permission for the demolition of the existing motor 
retail facility and the construction of seven dwellings comprising of four semi-
detached and three-detached, as well as access and parking.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: David Jewell

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to conditions as listed within the report.

39



Planning Committee
29 October 2018

Action By

c) Attleborough: Land North of Norwich Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1615/D  

Reserved matters approval was sought to develop the land North of Norwich 
Road to provide up to 327 dwellings and associated works including associated 
attenuation areas, open space and infrastructure works.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, Principal 
Development Management Planner

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Councillor Joel raised concern that NHS England did not respond.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward representative: Councillor Tristan Ashby

Objector: Glyn Morgan

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to; 

1) Delegated authority being granted to the Executive Director of Place 
to issue the planning permission once the final Highways 
consultation comments had been received;

2) Delegated authority being granted to the Executive Director of Place 
to agree the positioning of the MUGA;

3) conditions as listed within the report.

d) Beetley: Hall Farm Barn,Fakenham Road East Bilney: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0614/O  

The application sought outline permission for construction of a single welling with 
details of access and all other matters reserved, on land to the North of Hall Farm 
Barn.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: Anthony Pettifer (Icon Consulting)

Parish Council: Mr Leigh (Clerk to Beetley Parish Council)

Objector: Chantal Dereepere

Objector: Peter Roberson

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 3 for approval as recommended, subject to 
the conditions as listed within the report. 

40



Planning Committee
29 October 2018

Action By

e) Carbrooke: Former RAF Watton, Norwich Road, Carbrooke & Griston: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/0910/VAR  

The application sought to vary Condition 2 to 3PL/2016/1352/VAR revising the 
layout and house types to plots 15 – 26.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Chris Webber (Barrett Homes)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions as listed within the report. 

f) Foxley: Development Site Off The Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/0931/F  

The application considered amendments to the previously approved planning 
permission given to the site (ref: 3PL/2017/1437/F).

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffith Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: David Futter (David Futter Associates Ltd)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions as listed within the report. 

g) Garvestone: Land at Park Lane/Hingham Road, Reymerston : Reference: 
3PL/2018/0753/F  

The application had been called into Committee at the request of the Ward 
Representative.

It was a revised application following refusal of permission which was also 
dismissed on Appeal for four detached single storey dwellings at the site.  
Permission was now sought for the erection of two single storey dwellings on 
land to the north of the former Reymerston Golf Club.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

41



Planning Committee
29 October 2018

Action By

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Paul Claussen

Agent: Erica Whettingsteel (EJW Planning Limited)

DECISION: Members voted 3 x 8 not to accept the Officers recommendation 
of refusal.

REASONS: Members considered that the change from 4 to 2 dwellings 
altered the planning balance, especially from an ecological point of view.  
They concluded that it was a sustainable development and it would make a 
small contribution to the five year housing supply.

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 3 to approve the application

h) Griston: Former RAF Watton Technical Site, Norwich Road, Griston and 
Carbrooke: Reference: 3PL/2018/0939/VAR  

The application proposed variations to conditions of grant of consent 
(3PL/2017/1094/VAR) to revise the layout and plot mix to swap two x 2-Bedroom 
units with two x 3-bedroom units.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of this application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

i) Hockering: Land to the North of Heath Cottage, 24 Heath Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0383/F  

The application sought full planning permission for a two-storey dwelling, garage 
and wind turbine at land to the east of Heath Road, Hockering.  The applicant is a 
Breckland District Councillor who was not present for this item.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: Anthony Pettifer (Icon Consulting)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

42



Planning Committee
29 October 2018

Action By

j) Kenninghall: Old Chapel East Church Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/0685/HOU  

Permission was sought for a two-storey extension including a linked element as 
well as a porch.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor William Nunn (supporting) 

Applicant: Mr J Gooderham

DECISION: Members voted 10 x 1 to reject the Officers’ recommendation of 
refusal.

REASON:  The proposed extensions by virtue of their overall size, scale 
and design would not result in a disproportionate addition to the original 
dwelling, they would  be in keeping and in character with its appearance 
and simplistic form and they would preserve the character of the 
Conservation Area.

DECISION:  Members voted 1 x 10 to approve the application.

h) Swaffham: Swans Nest Site, Land East of Brandon Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1351/F  

The application for Members to consider two matters namely changes to the 
S106 obligation requirements; and information submitted to address conditions 
that were currently proposed as pre-commencement.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, Principal 
Development Management Planner

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect to this application

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to; 

1) Delegated authority being granted to the Executive Director of Place 
to issue the planning permission following receipt of all consultation 
responses;

2) conditions as listed within the report.

i) Thetford: Tanner House, Tanner Street: Reference: 3OB/2018/0009/OB  

The application sought to remove the requirement for affordable housing 
provision as the development was less than 10units and less than 1000sqm.  The 

43



Planning Committee
29 October 2018

Action By

original scheme was considered at a time when the Adopted Core Strategy 
Policy DC4 applied.  However, National Policy on planning obligations had been 
amended since the planning permission had been granted both in 2014 as set 
out in the Ministerial Statement on affordable housing and in early 2018 with the 
revised NPPF.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect to this application

DECISION: Members voted 10 x 1 for approval as recommended.

130/18 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
PLACE 

Noted.

131/18 APPEALS SUMMARY (FOR INFORMATION) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 2.20pm

CHAIRMAN

44



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

LICENSING COMMITTEE

Held on Wednesday, 21 November 2018 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mrs J. Hollis

Mrs K. Millbank
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

In Attendance
Donna Hall - Licensing & Business Support Manager
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer BDC)
Lisa Turner - Assistant Licensing Officer
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Bethany McDade - Apprentice (Licensing)

Action By

45/18MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

1. 17 July 2018

The Minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting held on 17 July 
2018 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

2. 02 October 2018

The Minutes of the additional Licensing Committee meeting held on 
2 October 2018 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman.

46/18APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from the Chairman, Councillor 
Marion Chapman-Allen, Councillor Matthews and Bowes.

The Vice-Chairman Councillor Keith Martin chaired the meeting.

47/18URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

48/18DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

Public Document Pack

45

Agenda Item 11



Licensing Committee
21 November 2018

2

Action By

49/18NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

None.

50/18UPDATE ON THE WORK RELEVANT TO THE BUSINESS OF THIS 
COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

Donna Hall, the Licensing & Business Support Manager provided Members 
with an update and a little background information on the new animal 
welfare regulations.

The Committee had been presented with a report on 28 March 2018 to 
advise about the new draft Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving 
Animals) (England) Regulations 2018. The regulations changed the 
existing licensing regime for animal establishments including animal 
boarding establishments, dog breeding establishments, pet shops and 
riding establishments. 

In 2016 DEFRA consulted on the introduction of new secondary legislation 
to introduce a single “Animal Establishment Licence”. The stated aim was 
to “relieve the administrative burden on local authorities, simplify the 
application and inspection process for businesses, as well as maintain and 
improve existing animal welfare standards by modernising the current 
animal licensing system in England.” DEFRA went on to write draft 
regulations made under the Animal Welfare Act 2006.

Local authorities would be required to submit an annual data return in 
electronic format to DEFRA on the number of licences and registrations 
held for the animal activities. The publishing of this information nationally 
should help to reduce the burden of Freedom of information requests 
which were common on animal welfare licensing. 

The new regulations provide for the licensing of persons involved in 
England in selling animals as pets, providing or arranging for the provision 
of boarding for cats or dogs, hiring out horses, breeding dogs and keeping 
or training animals for exhibition. This replaced the requirement in England, 
to be registered under the Performing Animals (Regulation) act 1925 or to 
obtain a licence under the Pet Animals Act 1951; the Animal Boarding 
Establishments Act 1963; the Riding Establishments Act 1964 or the 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973.

The regulations provide for local authorities to be the licensing authorities. 
Any person wishing to carry on any of these activities in England must 
obtain a licence from their local authority. Any person carrying on any of 
these activities without a licence would commit an offence and that person 
would be liable to imprisonment for up to six months, a fine or both.

An additional Licensing Committee meeting had been held in October 2018 
where the proposed fees and charges and the proposed delegations of 
authority were approved.

A boarding kennel owner who had attended the previous meeting had 
raised concerns about the new legislation and how difficult it was to obtain 
the Ofqual qualification – this was where such businesses, although not 

46



Licensing Committee
21 November 2018

3

Action By

compulsory, had to adhere to a number of conditions to obtain a ‘5 star’ 
qualification.  The Licensing Team had investigated this matter and further 
guidance from DEFRA was expected in due course.  The Licensing & 
Business Support Manager had not come across this problem in other 
animal welfare categories.  

Councillor Brame asked if the Council had considered offering a support 
service to assist such businesses.  Members were informed that 
Environmental Health Consultancy Service would be extended to 
incorporate animal welfare.

The number of establishments such as pet shops, animal boarding 
kennels/breeders, horse-riding establishments under the old regime had 
been notified.

Councillor Millbank asked if these new regulations would cause some 
breeders/establishments to go ‘underground’.  The Licensing & Business 
Support Manager was confident that the public would report anything 
untoward to the Council. 

Anyone advertising a business of selling dogs, and/or breeding three or 
more litters of puppies in any 12 month period or earnings of £1,000, as 
part of a business, were now covered by the Regulations. The regulations 
introduced specific requirements about advertisements for the sale of 
dogs, which would need to include: the licence number; the local authority 
that issued the licence; a recognisable photo of the dog being advertised, 
and the age of the dog being advertised. The sale of puppies below eight 
weeks of age would be prohibited. 

One of the biggest issues currently was animal importation.

Legislation governing performing animals had previously fallen to the 
County Council but from April 2019, this would form part of this Council’s 
remit under the new regulations and would go wider to cover animals that 
were exhibited, such as mobile animal exhibits. 

In response to a question about star ratings, Members were informed that 
the regulations provide for a licence to be granted or renewed for a period 
of one, two or three years in respect of the activity.  The ratings and 
qualifications were then highlighted.

A Member asked if the Licensing Team was coping with the extra 
workload.  In response, the Licensing & Business Support Manager said 
that although it was very busy, the Team was just about managing the 
workload.

Councillor Darby asked about cross border taxi licences.  Members were 
informed that this issue had been under discussion for a number of years 
and although any new legislation was not forthcoming an updated Policy 
for the Council was being prepared.   Further to this, a new system that 
would sit on a national anti-fraud database was being developed and 
would be brought to a future meeting for discussion.

The meeting closed at 10.25 am  CHAIRMAN

47



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY

Held on Wednesday, 21 November 2018 at 12.00 pm in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mrs J. Hollis

Mrs K. Millbank
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

In Attendance
Donna Hall - Licensing & Business Support Manager
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer BDC)
Lisa Turner - Assistant Licensing Officer
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Bethany McDade - Appentice (Licensing)

Action By

16/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Councillor Keith Martin in the Chair.

The Minutes of the meeting held on 17 July 2018 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

17/18 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from the Chairman, 
Councillor Marion Chapman-Allen, Councillors Bowes and 
Councillor Matthews.

18/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

19/18 DECLARATION OF INTEREST (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

20/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

Public Document Pack

48

Agenda Item 12



Committee of the Licensing Authority
21 November 2018

2

Action By

21/18 GAMBLING ACT POLICY (AFTER CONSULTATION) (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

The Licensing & Business Support Manager presented the report.  

The draft amendments to the Gambling Act Policy had been 
considered and approved by the Committee of the Licensing 
Authority at its meeting on 17 July 2018.

Following the above agreement, the proposed amendments to the 
Policy were issued for a 12 week consultation.  During this 
consultation period, the draft Policy was then considered by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission on 27 September 2018.  The 
closing date for consultation responses was 12 October 2018 and 
three responses had been received.  

 Gosschalks Solicitors (on behalf of the Association of 
British Bookmakers)

 Norfolk County Council Public Health
 Bingo Association.

The responses had been attached to the agenda for information 
and the amendments to the Policy had been highlighted in green.

The Gambling Act Policy was due to take effect in January 2019.  

Councillor Monument had noticed that South Holland District 
Council had been referred to on page 26 of the Policy document.  
The Licensing & Business Support Manager apologised for this 
error and explained that the Policies differed slightly for each 
authority but the thought process for both were the same to reflect 
best practice but this would be amended accordingly.

Members were informed that the revised Policy would be 
presented to Full Council meeting on 6 December for 
consideration and if approved, a Local Area Profile would be 
developed for this Committee to consider in the near future.

Councillor Gilbert asked if the Policy had been sent to all Town 
and Parish Councils.  Members were informed that it had but no 
responses had been received; however, as it was quite a 
complicated document, the Licensing Team would be happy to 
help if and when required.  Councillor Gilbert asked that if the 
Policy was sent again, it would be better to attach a note, asking 
the Town & Parish Councils to add this item to their agendas.  
Councillor Monument pointed out that no responses could be an 
indication that the Towns and Parishes had not been subjected to 
any trouble.  Members were informed that the gambling premises 
in the Breckland area generally had high levels of compliance.

RESOLVED that subject to the above amendment, the amended 
Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) as shown at appendix A 
of the report be recommended to Full Council for approval.

49



Committee of the Licensing Authority
21 November 2018

3

Action By

22/18 UPDATE ON THE WORK RELEVANT TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Although there was not a great deal to highlight, the Licensing & 
Business Support Manager updated Members on the work that the 
Licensing Team were currently working on.

The back office system, LalPac, was being changed to a new 
system to manage the high volume of applications.  This would be 
a great improvement as it would allow more of the licensing 
processes to be done on-line.  Laura Anderson, the Assistant 
Licensing Officer was currently working on this.  This would be 
brought to a future meeting for discussion.

Councillor Gilbert said that he had tried looking for a personal 
licence for a certain organisation in Watton but could not find it 
and felt that it would be really helpful if an alphabet could be 
incorporated on the webpage.  Members were informed that the 
new system would be much more interactive and should include a 
searching mechanism.  

23/18 TRAINING REQUIREMENTS (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

The Licensing & Business Support Manager and the Legal 
Services Manager would be providing an induction session for 
new Licensing Members soon after the Elections in May 2019.  A 
more formalised external training session was suggested.  
Members were informed of a very good one day course that would 
provide Members with a personal licence accreditation 
qualification.  This could be considered as a training option for all 
Licensing Committee Members.

The Chairman was aware that eight Members had been on the 
recent internal refresher course allowing them to sit on any future 
Panel meetings.
 

24/18 FEEDBACK AND DISCUSSION ON RECENT PANEL 
MEETINGS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The last Hearing Panel meeting was discussed.  Councillor 
Richmond asked that when Members were notified of these 
meetings, could the email clearly state the location of the subject 
matter.

25/18 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Wednesday, 16 
January 2019 immediately following the Licensing Committee 
meeting were noted.

The meeting closed at 10.50 am  CHAIRMAN

50



 BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge - Executive Member for Growth  

To: Council – 6th December 2018

Author: Phil Mileham – Strategic Planning Manager
Sarah Robertson – Principal Planning Policy Officer 

Subject: Local Plan – Main Modifications 

Purpose: To consider the Main Modifications requested by the Inspector during the 
Local Plan Examination in Public to date.

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Members consider contents of this report and 
Council endorse option 1a which is to accept the modifications and continue with the main 
modifications consultation.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 As Members will be aware, the Council agreed to sign-off the proposed Submission version 
of the Local Plan on 27th July 2017 for its final pre-submission publication (6 week 
consultation) and submission for Examination in Public.

1.2 The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination on 30th November 2017. 
The purpose of the examination is for the government appointed Inspector to establish the 
soundness of the plan (i.e. to ensure that it is positively prepared, effective, justified and in 
accordance with National Planning Policy).  Members are reminded that the Examination 
formally commences on the day that the Plan is submitted and only concludes with the 
issue of the final report. As such, the Examination remains ‘live’ at this time.

1.3 As part of the recommendation to Council in July 2017, Members delegated to the Strategic 
Planning Manager in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Growth the 
ability to agree amendments to the Local Plan arising during the Examination in Public. In 
light of the progress of the examination to date and the nature of the Inspector’s 
modifications, it is considered appropriate to refer the matters back to Council for 
consideration. 

1.4 The examination of the Local Plan has currently been ongoing for 12 months, and will 
continue until the Inspector has released his final written report. Subject to the 
consideration of this report, the current timetable would include a main modification 
consultation in January-February 2019, followed by the Inspectors report released 
potentially in April 2019 and the Council adopting the Local Plan in June 2019.

Main Modifications to the Plan

1.5 As part of the examination, and at the request of the Council, the Inspector is able to make 
modifications to the plan in order to make it sound. It is common practice for plans to be 
subject to main modifications during the examination process, and consultation would take 
place only on these changes. The Council requested this occurred at the start of the 

51

Agenda Item 13



hearing sessions. The Council is not able to choose which elements of the plan 
modifications should be made on. If the Council does not allow the Inspector to make 
modifications to the plan, this would result in the plan being found unsound. If the Inspector 
finds the plan unsound, his only option will be to direct the Council not to adopt the plan. It 
should be noted that the Council did not specifically invite the Inspector to make main 
modifications to Policies HOU4 or HOU5. 

1.6 Following the hearing sessions, the Council will then consult on the proposed modifications 
for a six week period followed by the Inspector issuing his report into the soundness. 
Officers could expect that these modifications may cause significant representations by 
certain affected communities. It is only once the Inspector has issued his report finding it 
sound, that a plan may be adopted.

1.7 There have been a significant number of other changes requested to the Plan during the 
Examination so far; however, many of these have not altered the strategic direction of the 
policies that members agreed and in many cases are useful additions or clarifications to 
policies.

1.8 Following the close of the hearing sessions on 16th September, the Inspector wrote to the 
Council on 6th November setting out additional modifications to the Plan in addition to those 
which had been agreed through the hearing sessions. It is as a result of the modifications 
set out within this letter that necessitate Council’s consideration. The modifications are set 
out in more detail in the following section of this report. A comprehensive schedule of main 
modifications is included at Appendix A. Further to this, legal advice has been sought from 
Counsel to consider the implications of the modifications. Further planning legal advice has 
also been obtained in order to assist with the assessment of the options presented in 
section 2 of this report.  

Implications of Key Inspectors Changes on the Plan

1.9 Members’ attention is drawn to a number of key modifications to the plan proposed by the 
Inspector. These are:

a. Changes to the housing trajectory including the use of the Sedgefield methodology;
b. Amendments to rural housing policies HOU04 and HOU05;
c. An early review of policies in relation to housing and employment land supply.

1.10 The implications can be summarised in the following paragraphs.

1.11 Changes to the housing trajectory – In order for the Local Plan to be found sound it must 
be able to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land. The view of the Inspector is that 
the proposed Breckland Local Plan is able to demonstrate a five year housing land supply. 
However, the Inspector has raised concerns with delivery rates later in the plan period 
predominantly from the sustainable urban extensions. The policy had proposed a stepped 
housing trajectory, which would have allowed a lower delivery rate in the first years of the 
plan, followed by higher delivery later in the plan period to take into account the gradual 
increasing in delivery rates due to infrastructure requirements of major sites. The Inspector 
has indicated that a modification will be required to remove the stepped trajectory as he did 
not consider it justified. This will place more pressure on early delivery.

52



1.12 In relation to how land supply is calculated, the Inspector has concluded that the plan 
trajectory should be calculated using the Sedgefield methodology. This approach 
essentially requires any shortfall in housing delivery from the start of the plan period to be 
made up in the next 5 year period. The alternative methodology known as the Liverpool 
Method, spreads any shortfall across the remainder of the plan (i.e. by 2036). The impact of 
the Inspectors conclusion is that the Council will be able to demonstrate a five year land 
supply figure on adoption of the plan; however, the overall figure will be lower as the annual 
dwelling requirement increases because the backlog has to be addressed sooner. This will 
also places more pressure on early delivery.

1.13 Changes to the rural housing policies – The Inspectors letter indicates that a number of 
changes will be required to policies HOU04 and HOU05. These are the policies relating to 
housing development in the most rural settlements. The Inspectors letter sets out the 
following changes to these policies: ‘In terms of Policy HOU04 and HOU05, please can the 
Council draft modifications to remove the 5 and 3 dwelling limits from the policies 
respectively, as well as criterion 3 of Policy HOU04.’

1.14 Without a cap on the number of dwellings which can come forward under a single 
application, there is the potential that larger sites and higher housing numbers will come 
forward within the rural settlements, contrary to the original intentions of the policy. 
However, the policies do still contain a number of criteria which will limit the level of 
development. Policy HOU04 sets out that development should not result in an increase of 
development by more than 5% of the settlement. Whilst Policy HOU05 does not contain a 
cap on the level of development the policy wording will effectively still limit the size of 
developments coming forward. It sets out requirements for developments to be: 

 Sensitive infilling;
 Rounding off of a cluster of dwellings with access to an existing highway;
 Appropriate scale and design to the settlement;
 Enhancement of the historic nature and connectivity of communities.

1.15 Policy HOU05 also requires applications to not:
 Harm or undermining a visually important gap that contributes to the character 

and distinctiveness of the rural scene;
 Apply to farmsteads or sporadic small scale groups of dwellings.

1.16 Early review of the Local Plan - The Inspector has also requested an early review trigger 
on three key areas of the plan; housing numbers, employment policies and gypsies and 
travellers. He has requested the review be commenced immediately following the adoption 
of the plan and submitted by June 2022. Should the Council not do so, those policies would 
become out of date and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework would 
take precedence. 

1.17 It should be noted that recommending an early review of Local Plan policies is not an 
uncommon practice, however due to the nature of the policies which are required to be 
reviewed, this would, in essence, result in a whole plan review due to the knock on effects 
on to other policy areas (e.g. retail requirements etc).

53



The role of an up to date Local Plan

1.18 As set out in the preceding paragraphs, there are a number of implications in relation to the   
modifications the Inspector is proposing. An up to date Local Plan represents an 
opportunity for a local authority’s planning objectives to be met based on current evidence 
and need. Without an up to date plan applications will be measured against the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) where policies are out of date, with limited weight 
afforded to the old policies contained in the existing Local Plan.  This undermines the 
Council’s ability to determine applications in line with its own policies and objectives.
 

1.19 A key implication of the modifications is that the five year housing land supply position may 
be challenging to maintain. Members will be aware that when a Council is unable to 
demonstrate a five year housing land supply, the policies in relation to the supply of housing 
are considered to be out of date. Housing is only one element of local planning.  Any 
policies found to be “out of date” when compared to the NPPF would attract less weight, 
undermining the Council’s objectives in terms of employment, economic development, 
conservation etc. It is Officers professional opinion that an up to date plan without a five 
year supply would still be up to date in other respects and would be beneficial to a plan 
which is out of date from multiple aspects which would be the case if the authority sought to 
rely on the Core Strategy (2009) rather than adopt the Local Plan (2019). Having a newly 
adopted Local Plan would provide for a policy set that can be afforded greater weight in 
day-to-day decision taking than an out of date Core Strategy when used for the purposes of 
Planning Committee. 

OPTIONS
2.1 In order to move forward with the Local Plan, there are essentially three options available to 

Members:

2.2 Option 1a: Accept the modifications and continue with Main Modifications 
Consultation (recommended)
This option would see the Council accept the Inspector’s modifications and continue to 
progress the Local Plan in accordance with the agreed timetable. The Council would 
consult on the main modifications in January and February 2019. The Inspector’s Report is 
then expected in April 2019 and adoption could therefore occur in June. 

2.3 Benefits: The benefits of this approach are that the Council will continue to progress the 
Local Plan examination at pace in order to adopt an up-to-date Local Plan which will 
provide a five year housing land supply. Adoption of the plan will provide certainty over the 
Council’s strategy for the District, allocated sites will be able to be incorporated into the five 
year housing land supply, and it will also aid delivery on allocated sites. There is a need to 
ensure additional allocations are identified as those contained in the current LDF Site 
Allocations document for residential development all have the benefit of planning 
permission and a number have been developed. Furthermore, the policies in the plan will 
be able to be used for determining planning applications. A number of policies will provide 
greater certainty in day-to-day planning decision making including Affordable Housing, open 
space and Design.

54



2.4 Risks: A key risk associated with this option is the ability to deliver a review of the Local 
Plan in accordance with the timeline recommended by the Inspector. Producing a plan for 
submission by June 2022 would result in a regulatory minimum level of public consultation 
and engagement. There are also concerns on the ability producing the evidence base in the 
timescales proposed, some of which would require being completed with other local 
authority partners.

2.5 The modifications proposed to Policies HOU04 and HOU05 also represent a risk, as there 
is potential that these settlements could receive higher levels growth than originally 
intended.  The Local Plan seeks to ensure housing delivery occurs in the most sustainable 
locations, in accordance with the principles of the NPPF, and the settlement hierarchy has 
been developed on this basis. However as set out in paragraphs 1.14 and 1.15 of this 
report, there are a number of criteria retained within the policies which will still restrict the 
level of development which can occur. Whilst the removal of the cap on the number of 
dwellings per application has the potential to see larger developments coming forward 
under HOU05 settlements than originally envisaged, the settlement hierarchy still seeks to 
direct larger scale development to the Market towns, Local Service centre villages and 
those villages with boundaries. 

2.6 Option 1b: Seek to re-open hearing sessions
This option seeks to ask the Inspector to re-open the hearing sessions to allow a fuller 
discussion to take place on his proposed modifications to the rural housing policies. 
However, this option is solely at the discretion of the Inspector. 

2.7 Benefits: Should the Inspector agree to this approach it would allow for further dialogue in 
relation to the modifications to HOU4 and HOU5 or exploration of the modifications which 
may ultimately lead to some minor changes to the recommended modifications or 
supporting text. 

2.8 Risks: Counsel’s advice confirms that there is no guarantee that the Inspector would agree 
to re-open the hearings, and Counsel considers it unlikely the Inspector would agree to do 
so. This would potentially leave only option 1 or 2 then available. As set out at paragraph 
1.5, Counsel’s advice confirms that it is not at the Council’s discretion to pick which main 
modifications it wishes to be taken into account. The Council must choose to either accept 
all of the main modifications, or the Inspector will find the plan unsound. The Inspector has 
provided modifications to the plan which he considers necessary to make the plan sound. 
There is no new evidence for the Inspector to consider in relation to Policies HOU 04 and 
HOU 05 and the Council has already presented a robust case for the inclusion of these 
policies through written statements and the oral hearing sessions. 

2.9 Endorsing this option would further delay the examination, and the subsequent issue of his 
report. Delays to the examination may mean that evidence to support other policies in the 
plan becomes out of date. For instance, the Inspector has already asked for additional 
information in relation to housing numbers due to the release in September of the 2016 
household projections. The availability of the Inspector to conclude our examination is not in 
the Councils control and there is no certainty over the length of delay to the timetable at this 
point. The risk of extending the examination is that parts of the Local Plan will start to 

55



become out of date which present a risk to the examination of the plan. Further hearing 
sessions also present a further cost to the Council. 

2.10 Option 2: Do not accept modifications and withdraw the Local Plan (not 
recommended)
This option would see the Council withdraw the Local Plan from the examination, ultimately 
halting the production of the plan. The option would allow the Council to go back to 
Regulation 18 stage and prepare a plan again.

2.11 Benefits: It would allow the Council additional time to prepare a revised Local Plan, not in 
conformity with the Inspectors proposed submission deadline of June 2022. The Council 
would not have to accept the Inspectors modifications, but those policies would not be in 
use. 

2.12 Risks: Withdrawing the plan, would mean that the policies for determining planning 
applications would remain as the adopted Core Strategy, Site Allocations and Thetford Area 
Action Plan documents and where these are deemed to be out of date, national policy 
would apply. The existing suite of local planning documents (with the exception of the 
Thetford Area Action Plan) were all adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF in 2012. 
The second iteration of the NPPF has now been published. All local planning policies need 
to be assessed against their level of conformity with the NPPF. Policies adopted prior to the 
NPPF are therefore more likely to be out of date as they were developed under a previous 
national planning framework. This would mean that in determining planning applications, 
there would be a greater reliance on national policies, which would not be as reflective of 
local circumstances as the Local Plan. The Council should also bear in mind that over time 
as more policies in the plan become out of date the risk of the Secretary of State exercising 
its powers of intervention increase.

2.13 The Council would also not be able to demonstrate a five year housing land supply, 
therefore the Core Strategy policies relating to the supply of housing would be considered 
out of date. There would be no easy or quick way to increase housing delivery without the 
inclusion of the housing allocations from the new Local Plan. 

2.14 The majority of Local Plan policies as submitted are considered to be sound and in 
conformity with national policy, subject to the main modifications. This approach would 
prevent their use in determining planning applications. Withdrawal of the plan may cause 
reputational harm to the Council, particularly in light of the cost of production over a 5 year 
period, including examination, as could the continued challenge of securing a 5 year 
housing land supply.

3.0       REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that Members endorse option 1a to accept the Inspector’s modifications 
and continue to progress with the main modification consultation. Endorsing Option 1a will 
enable the authority to move towards the adoption of the plan. An adopted plan will secure 
a five year housing land supply for the District and planning applications will be determined 

56



in accordance with the development plan. In addition, adopting the Local Plan will ensure 
that the Council has a NPPF compliant Local Plan.

3.2 Endorsing option 1b provides no guarantee of an alternative outcome as it is not in the 
Council’s gift, whilst option 2 is not recommended as a fall-back position, as this would 
result in reliance on policies that are dated, as well as not allowing the ability for new sites 
to form part of the Council’s housing land supply. A new plan is likely to take a number of 
years to be produced during which time it is unlikely that the Council would be able to 
identify a housing land supply. Preparing a new Plan with similar levels of consultation than 
has been undertaken for this plan would take a number of years, during which time land 
supply would be met through continued ad hoc development coming forward under the 
provisions of the NPPF rather than through a plan-led approach. Option 2 would also result 
in reputational harm being caused to the Council. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Endorsement of option 1a would see the Council adopt the Local Plan at the soonest 
opportunity, the benefits of this approach are set out fully within paragraph 2.3. They 
include having up to date local planning policies which accord with national planning policy 
and also having a five year housing land supply.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional & 
Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. Where 
the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these 
headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 Legal advice has been sought from Counsel in relation to the way forward for the Breckland 

Local Plan. This has concluded that there is no prospect whatever of the council being able 
to take effective legal proceedings to challenge the proposed main modifications. Legal 
challenge to the modifications may only occur if an error of law has occur. The Counsel 
advice has clearly set out that the main modifications are reasonable in a legal sense in 
order to ensure that the Local Plan conforms to established legal principles, and national 
policy and guidance. As set out within the main body of this report, Counsel has advised 
that the Council has the following options in relation to the main modifications:

 To request that the proposed MM’s be made, carry out public consultation on them, 
and following the Inspector’s recommendation to adopt the Plan with the 
modifications, thereafter to adopt it.

 To reject the MM’s, in which case the Local Plan – as a whole - cannot be adopted. 
The Council could not adopt the Plan with the omission of these policies. 

57



Accordingly, the whole Local Plan will fail, and would have to be withdrawn under 
section 22 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

5.3 Corporate Priorities
5.3.1 The Local Plan aligns to the following corporate priorities:

 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
 Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth 
 Enabling stronger, more independent communities

5.4 Reputation 
5.4.1 Option 2 withdrawal of the Local Plan may result in reputational damage to the Council due 

to a failure to progress a plan that could have been made sound through a series of main 
modifications.

5.5 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.5.1 If Members agree to endorse option 1, the main modifications on the Local Plan would be 

subject to a six week consultation period. The consultation period would be open to the 
public and stakeholders and provide an opportunity for comment on the soundness of 
changes to the plan. Representations received during this period would go to the Inspector 
for his consideration of his final report into the soundness of the plan. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards in Breckland are affected by the Local Plan

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 LDF – Local Development Framework
7.2 NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Mileham – Strategic Planning Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656803
Email: phil.mileham@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Schedule of Main Modifications 

58

../../../../../../Committee/Committee/Report%2520Guide/2014/THE%2520COMMITTEE%2520REPORT%2520GUIDE_JUNE%25202014.doc
../../../../../../Committee/Committee/Report%2520Guide/2014/THE%2520COMMITTEE%2520REPORT%2520GUIDE_JUNE%25202014.doc


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member Strategy & Governance (Mark Robinson)

To: Council – 6 December 2018

Author: Sue Daniels, Electoral Services Team Leader

Subject: Community Governance Review Final Recommendations – Parish of 
Carbrooke; Parish of Great Ellingham & Parish of Thetford

Purpose: To approve the recommendations of the Community Governance Sub 
Committee for the Parishes of Carbrooke; Great Ellingham & Thetford.

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 

1) That the number of parish councillors for Carbrooke Parish Council be increased from 7 to 9.

2) That the boundary of the parish of Great Ellingham be altered to extend the southern 
boundary of the parish of Great Ellingham to meet the natural boundary provided by the A11 
which currently lies within the parish of Attleborough (Queens and Besthorpe Ward). 
(Appendix A)

3) That:

(a) The parish boundary for Thetford be extended to include all the land to the south 
of the A11 and west of the A1075 currently in the parish of Croxton, with the 
boundary between Croxton and Kilverstone remaining unchanged. (Appendix B)

(b) An additional two Councillors for Thetford for the new parish ward be approved.

(c) The new Parish is named the ‘New Saxon’ Ward

.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In November 2017, Council agreed to the creation of a Cross Party Community 
Governance Sub-Committee to agree the Terms of Reference and conduct the 
Community Governance Reviews for the parishes of Carbrooke, Great Ellingham, and 
Thetford.

1.2   In January 2018, the Sub Committee approved and published the Terms of Reference for 
each of the reviews

1.2 The Terms of Reference were to consult and consider: 

a) The request from Carbrooke Parish Council to increase the number of parish councillors 
from seven to nine members. 

b) The request from Great Ellingham Parish Council for an extension to the southern 
boundary of the parish of Great Ellingham to meet the natural boundary provided by the 
A11; this currently lies within the parish of Attleborough (Queens and Besthorpe Parish 

59

Agenda Item 14



Ward). The request suggests that the properties within this area have no natural ties with 
the town of Attleborough as their properties are closer in proximity to Great Ellingham. 

c) The request from Thetford Town Council to extend its boundary to include the new 
Sustainable Urban Extension area (SUE) - this area currently lies within the parishes of 
Croxton and Brettenham & Kilverstone. The Town Council has also asked to increase its 
size from 16 to 20 councillors, to reflect the increased area, and requested additional 
councillors in the Thetford Town Council Wards of Boudica, Anne Bartholomew, and 
Castle Ward.

2.0 CONSULTATIONS

2.1 The Sub-Group agreed to consult local government electors for the areas under review, 
together with Ward & Parish Councillors, Parish Councils, and Norfolk County Council.

2.2 The first consultation ran for 10 weeks from 8th January to 16th March 2018.  The numbers 
of responses received for Carbrooke were 5; Great Ellingham 3 and Thetford 525. The 
responses were considered by the Sub Committee at a meeting on 28th March. The 
recommendations agreed for the second consultation were:

a) To increase the number of parish councillors on Carbrooke Parish Council from 
seven to nine members.

b) To extend the Great Ellingham Parish Boundary to the natural boundary with the 
B1077

c) No change to the current Thetford boundaries.

2.3 The Council published its draft recommendations on the changes proposed and a second 
period of consultation ran for 10 weeks between 16th April 2018 and 22nd June 2018.  The 
numbers of responses received for the second response were Carbrooke 2; Great 
Ellingham 4 and Thetford 3,962. 

2.4 At its meeting on 8th August 2018, the sub-committee agreed to carry out a third 
consultation for the Thetford review only. The recommendations agreed for the third 
review were:

a) The Parish Boundary for Thetford is extended to include all the land to the South of 
the A11 and west of the A1075 currently in the parish of Croxton.

b) The parish boundary between Croxton and Kilverstone remain unchanged.

c) The number of Thetford Town Councillors is increased by 2 to 18 to cover the 
proposed new Parish Ward.

d) The name of the new Parish Ward to be determined by Breckland Council following 
consultation.

 2.5 The Council published these draft recommendations, and a third public consultation ran 
from 20th August 2018 & 28th September 2018. The numbers of responses received to this 
consultation were 99. The sub-committee subsequently met on 19th October and agreed 
the recommendations proposed in this report.

60



3.0 LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK

3.1 In undertaking the review, the Council has been guided by Part 4 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, and the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

3,2 The Council is also required to have regard to guidance on Community Governance 
Reviews issued in accordance with section 100 (4) of the Act by the Government 
department for Communities and Local Government .  This Guidance was published in 
April 2008, and it was considered when agreeing the Terms of Reference. 

3.3 Any changes to the current arrangements for either the Thetford or Gt Ellingham reviews 
would need to be referred to the Boundary Commission for England for approval as set 
out in the guidance on Community Governance Reviews Sections 172 – 176 issued in 
accordance with Section 88 (1) & (2)(b) )of the Act by the Government department for 
Communities and Local Government. 

4.0 OPTIONS   

4.1 To agree the recommendations as outlined in this report and in the Maps attached as 
Appendices A and B

4.2 Approve the recommendations with amendments.

4.3 Do Nothing.
             

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1 To complete the reviews set out in the Terms of Reference for the Community 
Governance Review Sub-committee which were approved by Council at its meeting of 2nd 
November 2017 (minute reference 160/17).

6.0  EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1 Improved community cohesion, 

6.2 Effective and convenient local government

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

61



7.1.1 Constitution & Legal

7.1.1. The review was conducted in accordance with the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and Guidance on Community Governance Reviews as 
published by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (March 2010).

7.2 Corporate Priorities

7.2.1 Providing the right services, at the right time and in the right way. 

7.2.2     Enabling stronger, more Independent communities.

7.2 Risk Management
 
7.2.1 The risks associated with the decision Council is asked to make and the proposed actions 

to mitigate those risks are set out below. 

7.2.2 The Community Governance Review has been undertaken in accordance with the relevant 
legal requirements and applicable guidance; legal services will be instructed to draft the 
required Community Governance Order to bring the recommendations into effect subject to 
Local Government Boundary commission permission for the Great Ellingham and Thetford 
review recommendations.  

7.3 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

7.3.1 All residents and elected representatives of the areas under review, 

8.0     WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 All Saints Ward - Parish of Great Ellingham, Attleborough Queens & Besthorpe Ward 
Forest Ward - , Parishes of Thetford, Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone; Saham Toney 
Ward, Parish of Carbrooke, 

9.0 ACRONYMS 

9.1 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health (The Act ) LGPIH
9.2 Community Governance Review (CGR)

Background papers:- None. The following published documents were referred to in 
preparing this report:-
‘Guidance on Community Governance reviews’ (Communities and 
Local Government and the Local Government Boundary commission 
for England) 

                                               Community Governance Review Sub Committee Meetings on
                                            12 December 2017, 28 March 2018, 8 August 2018, 19 October 2018 

(http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1) 
                                               Community Governance Review Consultation Responses 

(https://www.breckland.gov.uk/CGR-review-2018) 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sue Daniels, Electoral Services Team Leader

62

http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/CGR-review-2018


Telephone Number: 01362 656870
Email: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Map of the proposed amendment to the boundary area for the Parish 

of Great Ellingham
Appendix B Map of the proposed amendment to the boundary area for the Parish 

of Thetford

63

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk


 

64



65



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director of Strategy and Governance 

To: Council – 6th December 2018

Author: Sue Daniels, Electoral Services Team Leader

Subject: Change of Parish Name 

Purpose: To approve a change in name for the Parish of Garvestone

Recommendation(s): 

1)  Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 

2) Note the receipt of the request from Garvestone Parish Council to change the name of the 
parish 

3) That the name of the parish be changed to Garvestone, Reymerston & Thuxton

4) That the Council make an order which is effective immediately

5) Delegate the making future Section 75 orders to the Executive Director Strategy & 
Governance

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 A request has been received from the Parish Council of Garvestone to formalise a change 
in the name of the parish under the Local Government Act 1972, Part IV, Section 75.

1.2 The parish council has, for some time, operated informally under the name of Garvestone, 
Reymerston and Thuxton although no order had been made formalising these 
arrangements. Their request reflects the identities and interests of the community whilst 
making no changes to the governance arrangements for the area.

1.3 The statutory authority for a change of name of a parish is set out in the Local 
Government Act 1972.  Section 75 is very brief and silent on the type and level of 
consultation process that should be adopted.

1.4 The Local Government Act 1972 Section 75 of the Local Government Act 1972 states:- 

(1) At the request of the parish council or, where there is no parish council, at the request 
of the parish meeting, the council of the district in which the parish is situated may change 
the name of the parish. 

(2) Notice of any change of name made under this section - 

(a) shall be sent by the district council concerned to the Secretary of State, to the Director 
General of the Ordnance Survey and to the Registrar General; and 

(b) shall be published by the district council in the parish and elsewhere in such manner 
as they consider appropriate. 

66

Agenda Item 15



(3) A change of name made in pursuance of this section shall not affect any rights or 
obligations of any parish or of any council, authority or person, or render defective any 
legal proceedings; and any legal proceedings may be commenced or continued as if there 
had been no change of name.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing

2.2 Approve the formal change in name for the parish of Garvestone to become Garvestone, 
Reymerston & Thuxton.

2.3 Approve the making of an order to effect the change of parish name.

2.4 Approve the delegation of powers to the Executive Director Strategy & Governance for the 
making of Section 75 orders in consultation with the relevant Ward Member(s). 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 A request to change the name of the parish was received from the Parish Council of 
Garvestone. 

3.2 The making of a Section 75 Order under the Local Government Act 1972, Part IV does not 
require that a public consultation be carried out. The delegation of powers to the 
Executive Director Strategy & Governance in consultation with the relevant Ward Member 
will allow for these matters to be dealt with in a timely manner. 

4.0   EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 A greater sense of community and belonging.

5.0   IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1  Constitution & Legal
5.1.2 The Local Government Act 1972, Part IV, Section 75.

6.0 Financial 
6.1 The making and publication of an order under Section 75 of the Local Government Act 

1972 will be in employee time only.

7.0 Corporate Priorities
7.1 There are no direct implications that relate to this request but the Council generally 

supports community development.

67



8.0 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
8.1 The Ward members have been informed of the request and no representations have been 

received.  The publication of the change of name shall be within the parish and elsewhere 
in such a manner as appropriate.  The order to be effective immediately.

9.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

9.1 The District Ward of Mattishall

9.1.2 Parish of Garvestone

Background papers:- Local Government Act 1972 – Section 75

 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sue Daniels, Electoral Services Team Leader
Telephone Number: 01362 656870
Email: Elections@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service. 

68



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Monitoring Officer, Maxine O’Mahony

To: Council – 6 December 2018

Author: Teresa Smith, Democratic Services Team Leader

Subject: Member/Officer Protocol

Purpose: To update the Protocol on Member/Officer relations at Part 5B of the Constitution.

Recommendation(s): 

1) To agree the revised Member/Officer Protocol, for inclusion in the Constitution.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Member/Officer Protocol at Part 5B the Constitution was last subject to a full review in 
2006. It was, however, last approved by Council when the revised Constitution was 
adopted on January 2016.

1.2 The Protocol has been re-written in less verbose and less legalistic language, but the key 
principles in the Protocol remain as there has been no fundamental change to the overall 
meaning.

1.3 Executive Members and the Overview and Scrutiny Commission have been consulted on 
the draft, and their feedback is reflected in the document.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To agree the protocol without amendment.
2.2 To agree the protocol with suggested amendments
2.2 Not to agree to the protocol, in which case the existing protocol will remain in place.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The revised Member/Officer Protocol brings up to date the Protocol, which is an important 
document as it governs the relationship between Officers and Members to enhance and 
maintain the integrity of local government. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Effective working relationships between members and officers, the outcome of which is 
effective local government and the delivery of effective and efficient services to the 
Council’s residents.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 

69

Agenda Item 16



Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 As the Protocol forms part of the Constitution of the Council, the final decision is reserved to 
Council.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Teresa Smith, Democratic Services Team Leader
Telephone Number: 01362 656295
Email: teresa.smith@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Member/Officer Protocol

70



Protocol on Member/Officer Relations
1. Introduction 

1.1 The purpose of this protocol is to guide Members and Officers of the Council in their 
relationships with one another. It is not intended to be prescriptive or comprehensive 
and seeks simply to offer guidance on some of the issues, which most commonly 
arise. 

1.2 The protocol seeks to reflect the principles underlying the respective Codes of 
Conduct, which apply to Members and Officers and should be read in association 
with those Codes. The shared objective of the Codes is to enhance and maintain the 
integrity of local government. 

1.3 Councillors and Officers are servants of the public. The effectiveness of the 
outcomes they are able to deliver for residents is dependent on a strong and 
constructive relationship which adheres to a set of clear principles. These principles 
are:

 Mutual respect for each other’s roles and responsibilities

 Dealings between members and Officers should be courteous, and conducted 
in a constructive and positive way.

 Neither party should seek to take unfair advantage of their position or seek to 
exert undue influence

 Respecting the confidentiality of information given and received as part of 
Council business

.
 Concerns as to the conduct of officers should be made to the relevant 

Executive Director, and of members, to the Monitoring Officer, or if 
appropriate to the relevant political group leader

2. Personal Relationships 

2.1 It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship between 
Portfolio holders, Opposition Group Leaders and Spokesmen, Committee Chairmen 
and the relevant Director and other senior officers. However, such relationships 
should never be allowed to become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring 
into question the individual's ability to deal impartially with others. 

2.2 Provided these guidelines are observed there is no reason why there should not be 
an informal atmosphere between Members and Officers outside formal meetings and 
events. 

3. Support Services to Members and Party Groups 

3.1 Members are provided with ICT (information and communication technology) 
equipment and support services (e.g., printing, photocopying etc.) to enable them to 
better perform their role as a councillor and a ward member and constituency role as 
Councillors. Members must use the equipment and e-mail addresses provided by the 
Council. 

71



3.2 Members should not use, and Officers should not provide such equipment and 
support services in connection with party political or campaigning activity or for 
purposes not related to Council business. 

4. Officers and Whole Council 

4.1 Officers are required at all times to serve the whole Council and provide support 
regardless of political affiliation and will need to exercise judgement in fulfilling this 
obligation, whilst maintaining the distinction between executive and scrutiny. 
Members must recognise this obligation on Officers. 

5. Officers and the Cabinet/Portfolio Holders 

5.1 Any decision by an individual Portfolio Holder or collective decision by the Executive 
should except in an emergency be supported by written advice from the appropriate 
Officer(s). An Officer’s obligation to the whole Council requires that such advice is 
independent and Members must not seek to suppress or amend any aspect of such 
professional advice. 

5.2 Reports to Committees will normally be produced by Officers but there may be 
occasions when a Portfolio Holder or other Member prepares a report. In either 
situation, the appropriate Officer shall place on record his/her professional advice to 
the Committee and ensure that advice is considered when a decision is taken. 

5.3 Officers may be representing the decisions (internally and externally) of a single party 
Cabinet or an individual Portfolio Holder. Other Members will need to recognise that, 
in so doing, the Officer is representing an executive decision of the Council. 

6. Officers and Political Party Groups 

6.1 There is statutory recognition for political groups and it is common practice for such 
groups to give preliminary consideration to matters of Council business in advance of 
consideration by the relevant Council body.

6.2 On the invitation of a Group Leader, an Executive Director or his/her nominee may 
attend a Group meeting to give factual information about an issue which is currently 
being or will shortly be debated by a Council body.

6.3 Officer support in these circumstances must not extend beyond providing information 
in relation to matters of Council business. Officers must not be involved in advising 
on matters of party business. The observance of this distinction will be assisted if 
Officers are not expected to be present when matters of party business are 
discussed. 

6.4 Group meetings, while they form part of the preliminaries to Council decision making, 
are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the Council. Conclusions reached 
at such meetings are not Council decisions and it is essential that they are not 
interpreted or acted upon as such. Councillors must also ensure that any preliminary 
view of the political Group does not result in pre-determination of a decision, though it 
is acceptable to have a pre-disposition towards a particular view.

6.5 Similarly where Officers provide information and advice to a Group in relation to a 
matter of Council business this cannot act as a substitute for the Officer providing all 

72



necessary information and advice to the relevant Council body when the matter is 
considered. 

6.6 Officers will not normally attend and provide information to any political party group 
meeting which includes non-Council members. Exceptions to this may be approved 
by the Executive Directors who shall do so in writing and copy the correspondence to 
all the political Group Leaders. 

6.7 Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty in this area of Officer advice to political 
party groups should be raised with the Executive Directors who will discuss them with 
the relevant Group Leader(s). 

7. Officers and Individual Members 

7.1 Any Group Leader, Portfolio Holder, Group Spokesman or Committee Chairman may 
request a private and confidential briefing from an Executive Director on matters 
which have already been or may be discussed by the Council or within its decision-
making or advisory process. All requests should be made to the appropriate 
Executive Director who should invite the Monitoring Officer or his/her nominees to 
attend if this is thought appropriate. 

7.2 Briefings shall remain strictly confidential and are not to be shared with other 
Members of the Council unless so permitted by the relevant Member. 

7.3 Except for the confidential policy advice referred to above, where possible 
information will be shared among political group representatives. In particular, 
Overview & Scrutiny is a cross-party process involving all political groups 
represented on the Council. Information supplied to Overview & Scrutiny Chairmen 
will therefore be shared as a matter of course with each of the political groups. 

7.4 Individual Members may request the Executive Directors (or another Senior Officer of 
the Directorate concerned) to provide them with factual information. Such requests 
must be reasonable, and must recognise the need for Officers to maintain the 
distinction between the executive and scrutiny processes. The relevant Cabinet 
members, Committee or Overview & Scrutiny Committee Chairman and the 
Opposition Spokesmen will, unless it is of a minor nature, be advised that the 
information has been given and, on request, will be supplied with a copy. 

7.5 If an Executive Director considers the cost of providing the information requested, or 
the nature of the request to be unreasonable, they shall seek guidance from the 
Monitoring Officer as to whether the information should be provided. Where 
necessary, the Leader in consultation with the other Group Leaders will determine 
whether the information should be provided. 

7.6 Confidential information relating, for instance, to casework should not normally be 
sought. If in exceptional circumstances Members wish to discuss confidential aspects 
of an individual case then they shall first seek advice from the Executive Director and 
follow appropriate guidance. 

7.7 Any Council information provided to a Member must only be used by the Member for 
the purpose for which it was provided (i.e. in connection with the proper performance 
of the Member's duties as a member of the Council). This point is emphasised in the 
Code of Conduct. 

73



8. Officers and Non-Council Elected Representatives 

8.1 Officers may be requested to meet with Councillors or Elected Representatives from 
other Councils or organisations to provide briefings and/or policy advice. 

8.2 Any Officer requested to attend a meeting of this nature which is not held on a cross–
political party basis must obtain the prior authorisation of the Executive Directors who 
shall inform all Group Leaders of the arrangements

9. Media Relations

9.1 A primary intention of the Government in introducing executive arrangements was to 
raise the public and media profile of Portfolio Holders and to make the Cabinet 
directly accountable for decisions taken. It follows that media presentation and media 
support will reflect this. Advice to the Cabinet and Portfolio Holders in relation to the 
media will be provided on a confidential basis if requested. 

9.2 The Overview & Scrutiny Chair (or in their absence the Deputy Chair) shall be 
consulted on all media statements relating to the scrutiny function. Any such 
statements must be consistent with the Council’s intent that the scrutiny function shall 
help to achieve a culture of continuous improvement throughout the Council. 

9.3 The Communications Manager and other Officers will also assist non-Cabinet 
Members in their media relations (on a confidential basis if requested). 

9.4 Any Officer assisting a Member with media relations must act at all times in the 
interests of the whole Council and in a politically impartial manner. Other than factual 
statements, Members should not seek assistance from an Officer with the 
preparation or issue of any media statement that will adversely affect the reputation 
of the Council. 

10. Local Members 

10.1 The council will keep local members fully informed on all matters which affect their 
electoral wards. 

10.2 Each chief officer will ensure that all relevant staff are aware of the requirement to 
keep local members informed and that, the timing of such information allows local 
members to respond appropriately and contribute to relevant decisions. 

10.3 Any notification under this protocol should include sufficient detail to enable the local 
member(s) to have a broad understanding of the issue including a summary of 
advantages and disadvantages of any proposal and any financial implications. 

10.4 Where lawful, communication of such information to local members will be made 
seven days before publication by the council of that same information. During those 
seven days the local member shall keep confidential the information imparted and 
not disclose it further without the agreement of the Executive Directors. 

10.5 Local members must be informed of the formative stages of policy development as it 
affects their ward. This includes any consideration of the matter by working parties, 
internal boards or committees of the Council.

10.6 Issues may affect a single electoral ward but others may have a wider impact in 
which case a wider number of members will need to be kept informed. 

74



10.7 Should you be approached for assistance from a constituent of another ward, you
should in the first instance refer the individual to the appropriate ward member(s). In 
particular, you should be careful to avoid pursuing an issue that has been raised 
because the constituent is unsatisfied with the response from his/her own ward 
member or where the ward member considers that all reasonable options have been 
exhausted. If it is not possible or appropriate to direct the constituent to his/her ward 
member (an example might be that the ward member is unavailable and the issue 
that has been raised is both important and urgent) then you should ensure that the 
individual understands that you may have to process their personal data and if 
necessary share such data in accordance with your Privacy Notice (a copy of which 
is on your page of the Council’s website). Unless there are compelling reasons not to 
do so, you should inform the constituent’s ward representative(s) at the earliest 
opportunity.

10.8 Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue all 
the members representing the electoral wards affected should as a matter of course 
be invited to attend the meeting. 

10.9 Whenever an Officer attends either a public meeting or a Town/Parish Council 
meeting they should inform the local ward member(s) about the issue and their 
attendance prior to the meeting taking place.

10.10 Whenever the Council undertakes any form of consultative exercise the local 
members must be included. 

10.11 Where a news release specifically relates to an issue affecting a particular ward or 
geographical area, the local Member(s) will be advised by email or telephone as 
appropriate and sent a copy of the proposed release prior to distribution to the local 
media. 

10.12 The local member’s name will normally be added to the contacts list on the press 
release and the Communications Team will offer advice and guidance in the usual 
way, seeking a quote from the local member if appropriate. 

11. Member Training 

11.1 Members are expected to embrace the principles of personal development and skill 
training and ensure they allocate time to participate in all the necessary training and 
personal development activities. This includes the necessary skills to take advantage 
of the ICT facilities made available to them. 

11.2 Officers will work with individual members to produce a personal development plan, 
seek to ensure resources are available to fulfil the actions agreed in the plan and 
provide appropriate training to ensure that all members have the skills needed to fulfil 
their duties. 

12. Arbitration 

12.1 When necessary, the Executive Directors will arbitrate on the interpretation of this 
Protocol following consultation with the Monitoring Officer.  

75



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth 

To: Council, December 6th 2018

Author: Matthew Hogan, Executive Manager for Growth

Subject: A report concerning the resourcing of the Council’s Housing Strategy and 
Enabling Service

Purpose: To set out a proposal concerning the resourcing of the council's Housing 
Strategy and 'Enabling' function, following a change in the current delivery 
model.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That in response to the change to the current delivery model for the council’s Housing 
Strategy and Enabling service, that the role of Housing Strategy and Development Officer 
(1FTE) is created within the Council’s permanent staffing establishment. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1   The Housing Strategy and Enabling team at Breckland Council is a small yet busy team 
which covers a number of functions in relation to housing delivery, policy development 
and research. The type of work presently undertaken by the team includes the following; 

1.2   Affordable housing ‘enabling’. A major function of the team involves ‘enabling’ the 
delivery of affordable housing through work with housing associations, developers and 
landowners. The team does this through building individual relationships with 
development staff at housing associations, sharing with them development opportunities, 
identifying forms of funding and supporting housing associations to access those fund, 
negotiating with private developers the percentage of affordable housing to be delivered 
on market sites (taking into account viability matters) and working with housing 
associations to secure the delivery of those affordable housing units. Through taking a 
proactive approach to enabling affordable housing, this has seen 94 affordable homes 
delivered during 2017/18 and a further 185 affordable dwellings anticipated to be 
delivered in 2018/19. This includes developments on schemes at Denny’s Walk in 
Narborough, Kimms Belt in Thetford, York Place in Dereham, the ‘Fenlands’ in Weeting, 
an exception site in Old Buckenham and the Bury Road in Thetford, alongside a 
significant number of affordable homes negotiated with developers on wider market 
housing schemes. 

1.3   Undertaking research into the housing market and housing need. Over recent years 
the team has led on a significant amount of research-based work as a means of 
supporting the right type of housing growth to meet the needs of the district. This has 
included work in respect of the delivery of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment, the 
commissioning of a new Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessments, the creation of a rural 
profiling tool (used to understand rural housing needs in individual localities), a large 
degree of work with parishes to commission housing needs surveys to support exception 
site development, and work to engage with Norfolk County Council to deliver an updated 
evidence base for older persons accommodation needs. The team are currently 

76

Agenda Item 17



commissioning research into custom and self-build housing, designed to support any 
future activity that the authority may wish to take in order to support that sector.

1.4   Work on detailed housing policy and strategy development. The team have played a 
key role in developing the housing polices within the Breckland Local Plan, providing 
housing expertise to support the council’s planning policy service. This has included 
undertaking viability assessment work to ensure that the council’s affordable housing 
policies are pitched at a level where they are viable and deliverable, and working on 
polices relating to housing mix. The officers within team have also played a major role in 
developing the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy, which was approved by 
the authority in 2017.

1.5   Rural affordable housing, community-led housing, investment in homeless 
accommodation, and the delivery of ‘custom and self-build’ housing. The team are 
also leading on a range of other housing delivery projects of relevance to the council’s 
housing strategy and its corporate plan. This includes the ongoing work to invest in 
temporary accommodation provision to meet the needs of homeless households within 
the district, engagement with parishes and town councils on the delivery of rural and 
‘community-led’ housing, and an ongoing programme of work focused on supporting the 
growth of custom and self-build housing across Breckland. 

2.0 THE CURRENT DELIVERY MODEL

2.1         Since October 2015, the Housing Strategy and Enabling service at Breckland Council has 
been shared with the Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk (BCKLWN). The 
shared team consist of three FTE posts; 

 One FTE employed and funded by Breckland
 One FTE employed and funded by BCKLWN
 One more senior and experienced officer employed jointly funded by both authorities, 

but a BCKLWN employee.

2.4         Since its inception in 2015 the shared service arrangement with BCKWLN has worked 
well and has delivered a number of notable benefits for both parties, including resilience in 
terms of service provision and delivery, efficiency through the alignment of process, and 
the sharing of expertise and knowledge on a number of key issues.

2.3         However, in October 2018 officers at BCKLWN notified officers at Breckland of a desire to 
bring the shared arrangement to an end. BCKLWN have advised that, despite satisfaction 
with the current operation of the shared arrangement, there is a growing requirement for 
BCKLWN for focus their resources on their own growth programme. BCKLWN have 
advised that a major catalyst for this change is the recent award of substantial levels of 
funding from Homes England to BCKLWN to deliver housing in seven sites within their 
ownership by March 2021. This programme of activity will require a reprioritisation and 
refocusing all of their existing staffing resources (including the 2FTE currently deployed in 
the shared team with Breckland), in addition to generating a potential need for further 
resources. 

2.4         Consequently, officers at BCKLWN have requested that the shared arrangement come to 
an end by March 2019 at the latest. It is important to note that there are no TUPE 
implications of what is proposed. 

2.5         It should be noted that, as part of the discussions with BCKLWN concerning the ending of 
the shared arrangement, agreement has been reached that officers from across the two 
authorities will continue to communicate closely as a means of ensuring that the 

77



relationships developed over the past three years are maintained and developed to the 
benefit of both authorities. Agreement has also been reached that the cessation of shared 
service provision should not prevent future joint working on areas of commonality, 
including through sharing of best practice and joint procurement of research. 

3.0         THE OPTIONS FOR FUTURE SERVICE DELIVERY

3.1         The cessation of the shared arrangement with BCKLWN generates a need for the 
authority to consider the options for service delivery moving forward. Currently, the 
authority is dependent upon the shared arrangement with BCKLWN to delivery all of its 
statutory and non-statutory (yet corporately important) functions, such as those listed in 
Section 1 of this report. 

3.2         Consequently, officers have been exploring a number of options concerning service 
delivery following the cessation of the current arrangements with BCKLWN. The options 
have ranged from ‘do nothing’ (i.e. delivering the service with 1FTE), sharing a service 
with another Norfolk-based authority (in a similar vein to the arrangement that the 
authority has had with BCKLWN for the past three years), and a wholly-shared service 
with South Holland District Council (with whom the council shares a senior management 
team). 

3.3         In exploring these options, officers have given detailed consideration to the nature of the 
service and the most appropriate model for delivery, the current resource requirement 
emanating from the council’s current programme of activity in relation to housing enabling 
and delivery (including the future resource requirements that any future review of the 
Local Plan may generate for the housing team), and the timescales associated with 
establishing some of the potential options (notably the timescales involved in establishing 
a shared service with another Norfolk authority ahead of the cessation of the current 
arrangements with BCKLWN). 

3.4         Following consideration of all of the options, a delivery strategy is proposed based around 
the creation of a Housing Strategy and Development Officer to sit within the Breckland 
establishment. This arrangement would provide the team with a total resource of 2FTE 
once the shared arrangements with BCKLWN come to an end in March 2019. 

3.5         This resourcing approach will see the team return the staffing structure that it had in place 
prior to the creation of the shared service with BCKLWN. It is anticipated that this level of 
resourcing would enable the authority to continue to promote its areas of non-statutory 
interest in relation to custom and self-build housing and investment temporary 
accommodation, whilst providing an appropriate level of resilience to ensure effective 
service provision and provide the necessary capacity to support the elements of housing 
policy development associated with any future review of the Breckland Local Plan. 

3.7         It is also proposed that the role is scoped to reflect the skill set and expertise required to 
support the agenda of the council’s Growth and Commercialisation directorate. This 
includes a focus on development expertise to support projects such as the temporary 
accommodation investment work, alongside supporting the work associated with the 
delivery of sites in the council’s ownership, including those that have attracted funding 
from the MHCLG’s ‘Land Release Fund’.  

3.8         It is worth noting that the management of the council’s Housing Strategy and Enabling 
team will continue to be provided through a Shared Strategic Housing Manager role; a 
post shared across Breckland and South Holland as part of the council’s wider shared 
management structure. This management arrangement will ensure that, whereas the 
proposed new post will have a Breckland specific-focus, the wider benefits of the shared 

78



management arrangement with South Holland (notably the alignment and sharing of best 
practice, collaboration on key projects, shared procurement, and the fostering of strong 
cross-council working relationships) will be embedded as part of the approach to service 
delivery. This will be in addition to the proposed continued informal collaboration at an 
officer level with the team at BCKLWN. 

4.0         OPTIONS

4.1 Do nothing. Under the ‘do nothing’ option, the shared arrangement with BCKLWN will 
end in March 2019 and the authority will revert to its existing establishment (1 FTE) for the 
delivery of its Housing Strategy and Enabling function. Whereas this is an option available 
to the authority, a team of 1FTE would represent a reduction in resources based on 
current and historic levels at a time where the authority is actively pursuing a housing 
programme with a strong focus on proactively enabling the delivery of affordable housing, 
supporting investment in temporary accommodation to meet the needs of homelessness 
households, and supporting projects such as rural affordable housing and ‘custom and 
self-build’ accommodation. If the ‘do nothing’ option was pursued, there would be a 
requirement for the authority to evaluate the scope of its current housing programme. 

4.2 That the role of Housing Strategy and Development Officer is added to the 
Council’s establishment (recommended). Under this option, the role of Housing 
Strategy and Development Officer will be created within the council’s establishment as a 
means of providing continuity in the delivery of the council’s housing programme following 
the cessation of the current shared arrangement with BCKLWN. This arrangement would 
provide the team with a total resource of 2FTE, returning the resourcing levels within the 
team to the levels prior to the introduction of the shared service in 2015. 

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1 To provide continuity in the delivery of the council’s housing programme following the 
cessation of the current shared arrangement with BCKLWN

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1 It is anticipated that the major expected benefit, delivered through the report 
recommendation, will be a level of officer resource required to support continuity in the 
delivery of the council’s housing programme, that being a housing programme focused on 
matter including (but not exclusive to) the following; 

 The proactive ‘enabling’ of the delivery of affordable housing, through working 
proactively with housing associations, developers, land owners and bodies such as 
Homes England

 Policy development and research to underpin work such as future reviews of the 
Breckland Local Plan

 Supporting rural and community-led housing through engagement with parish and town 
councils across Breckland

 Work on developing the council’s approach to supporting custom and self-build 
housing; a major government priority, for which there is local evidence of need and 
demand

 Investment activity in respect of temporary accommodation for homeless 
accommodation, and work to support the delivery of housing sites within the council’s 
ownership (including those that have recently attracted funding allocations through 
national programmes such as the MHCLG’s Land Release Fund) 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

79



7.1       Contracts

7.1.1 It should be noted that the cessation of the shared arrangements with BCKLWN does not 
create any contractual issues for the authority. 

7.2 Corporate Priorities

7.2.1 The work of the council’s Housing Strategy and Enabling services supports a wide range of 
the authority’s corporate and strategic objectives, both in terms of the council’s corporate 
plan and the delivery of the authority’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy. In respect of 
the council’s corporate priorities, the report recommendation supports the delivery of 1) 
supporting Breckland to develop and thrive, 2) developing the local economy to be vibrant 
with continued growth, and 3) enabling stronger and more independent communities. 

7.3 Financial 

7.3.1    The report recommendation carries with it a number of financial implications. 

7.3.2    The council’s current annual financial contribution to the cost of the shared service with 
BCKLWN is c£35,000 per annum. For the purposes of the new post, budget calculations 
have been based on the new post being graded at Breckland Grade 7 (note that the post is 
yet to be formally job evaluated). Inclusive of on-costs, the cost to the authority of 
employing a Grade 7 post is £39,380 (based on the bottom of Grade 7). Consequently, the 
report recommendation carries with it a minimum net additional budgetary cost of 
approximately £5,000 per annum.

7.3.3    A ‘Proforma B’ form setting out the financial strategy for the funding of the post is included 
in Appendix 1. This funding strategy includes the use of uncommitted funding from MHCLG, 
currently undesignated in reserve, which was paid to the authority to support general work 
in respect of supporting the delivery of ‘community-led’ housing and custom and self-build 
housing. The use of that funding to support the funding of the proposed post is considered 
by officers to be an appropriate use of that funding, taking into consideration the purposes 
for which the funding was provided to the authority. 

7.3.4    Furthermore, it should be noted that the Housing Strategy and Enabling service has 
already met its 10% efficiency target through the deletion of a previous vacant post within 
the council’s establishment, which has generated an annual saving of c £38,000 
(representing 17% of the total service budget). 

7.4 Staffing

7.4.1    The report carries with it staffing implications through the proposed creation of a post on 
the Breckland establishment. It should also be noted that the cessation of the shared 
service with BCKLWN does not bring with it any TUPE implications. 

7.5 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

7.5.1    The current shared service with BCKLWN is anticipated to come to an end in March 2019. 
Consequently, if the recommendation contained within this report is agree with members, 
recruitment will commence as soon as practically possible as a means of ensuring 
continuity of service when the arrangement with BCKLWN comes to an end.

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

80



8.1       All Wards 

9.0 ACRONYMS 

 BCKLWN – Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk
 MHCLG – Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government
 TUPE – Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006.

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Matthew Hogan, Executive Manager for Growth
Telephone Number: 01775 764524
Email: matthew.hogan@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Proforma B

81

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


PROFORMA B

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance.

28/11/2018 Page 1 of 1
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\3\5\AI00029533\$oa

1ai0qh.docx

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT

FROM: Mandy Chenery (Senior Accountant - Revenue & Projects)
REPORT: Housing Strategy & Enabling function
REPORT DATE: November 2018

£ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Revenue
Income

(-) (-) (-) (-)
Costs
Salary (including on costs) - 39,380 40,170 40,970
Contribution to KLWN budget removed - (34,585) (34,585) (34,585)
Total Revenue - 4,795 5,585 6,385

Capital
Income
N/A (-) (-) (-) (-)
Costs
N/A - - - -
Total Capital - - - -
Considered By: Full Council
Date: 06/12/18

Financial Services Comments
The costs shown in the table above are for a grade 7 (96% budget bottom of scale, which takes 
into account the council’s vacancy target) and the saving for the contribution costs for the 
current arrangement with Kings Lynn and West Norfolk.

If the role was appointed at the middle of the scale the costs would increase by £3k and if the 
role was appointed at the top of the grade the costs would be around £7k higher than shown in 
the table above.  

The proposal is for the role to be permanent.  

Uncommitted funds (£145k unallocated) are held in the Revenue Grants reserve for Self Build 
Housing and Community Led Housing work (received from MHCLG) and could be used to fund 
the additional cost for 3 years subject to approval. 

Financial Risk
The role is subject to job evaluation and costs may be lower or higher than estimated in the 
table above, however, the funding in reserve will cover these costs (subject to approval).

82



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Sam Chapman Allen, Deputy Leader

To: Council, December 6th 2018 

Author: Matthew Hogan, Executive Manager for Growth

Subject: External Funding Officer 

Purpose: To seek council agreement to create a shared External 
Funding Officer post, as a means of supporting the 
council’s activity in relation to identifying, applying for an 
securing external funding to support delivery of key council 
objectives/ 

Recommendation(s):

1. That Council approves the creation of a new shared External Funding Officer post, with a 
view to pursue the delivery of the expected benefits as captured within the main report.  

1.0       BACKGROUND

1.1 External funding can usefully be defined as any money which the Council secures, 
extra to its annual allocation from central government and the money raised from 
council tax, business rates, investment, fees and charges, etc. either by itself or in 
partnership, which has been specifically bid for by the Council for a particular project.

1.2 Over future years, external funding will become increasingly important to Breckland 
and other local authorities for the delivery of key strategy programmes. As such, the 
application processes are becoming increasingly competitive. External funding also 
has the potential to support the revenue operating costs of the council, reducing the 
council’s draw upon core sources of funding for local government. 

1.3 Breckland has a successful track record of procuring external funding from a range of 
sources. This includes recent funding successes with respect of the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund and the Single Local Growth Fund, which have seen the authority 
bring significant levels of external funding into the authority to support corporately and 
strategically important projects.

1.4 However, these funding successes have often been the result of diverting officer 
resource away from other corporately important projects in order to focus upon the 
extensive level of complex work (often within a very short timescale) that such bids 
require in order to be successful.

1.5 Furthermore, whereas the authority has undoubtedly seen success in securing 
external funding, there are other funding sources available that the authority is yet to 
proactively tap into, given the constraints on officer capacity to invest the time required 
to identify funds, build relationships with the funding bodies, and then prepare funding 
applications that have a chance of securing a successful outcome. 

83

Agenda Item 18



1.6 For future years the Council will need a more pro-active approach to become even 
more effective and focussed at targeting priorities, identifying new sources of funding 
and ensuring the allocation of such resources result in maximum impact for the benefits 
of the Council and the district. 

1.7 This includes being proactive in seeking funding as part of emerging and existing 
programmes that have the potential to make a significant positive impact on the 
delivery of local priorities. For example, the 2018 Autumn Budget announced a series 
of new funding opportunities for local authorities to bid into. These opportunities include 
funding related to the corporate priorities of the council, including but not exclusive to; 

 £675m in funding to support the regeneration of high streets
 £500m in funding for infrastructure to support housing growth
 Future funding to support rural housing pressures
 Funding to support air quality management issues

1.8 In addition to being well prepared to take advantage of these opportunities, there is a 
need to ensure that the authority is well placed to capitalise on opportunities to secure 
funding from other as-of-yet still under-utilised sources, such as; 

 The Heritage Lottery Funding – a major fund to support heritage projects
 The Big Lottery Fund – a major fund with a community development focus
 Sport England Funding – a key fund for supporting major programmes linked 

to health and wellbeing. 
 The forthcoming UK Shared Prosperity Fund, which will replace European 

funding sources post March 2019 and will have a focus on economic 
development and growth. 

 LGA Funding through programmes such as the Housing Advisors Programme 
and the Digital Experts Programme

1.9 In response to these challenges and opportunities in respect of external funding, this 
paper seeks to secure agreement for the creation of a shared External Grants Officer 
post who will play a key role in assisting the authority in developing a more co-
ordinated, proactive and appropriately resourced approach to identifying, bidding and 
securing external grant funding. 

1.10 It is anticipated that having additional resources to support the council’s engagement 
in bidding for funding through these and other sources, alongside a more robust and 
structured approach to external funding, will assist the authority in obtaining greater 
access to these funds and therefore contribute to Breckland’s success in achieving the 
key strategic priorities set out in the Corporate Plan and accompanying Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

1.11 The key purpose of the post will be as follows –

 To develop, implement and manage a strategic approach to external funding in 
line with the council’s purposes and objectives;

 To build relationships with key external funding bodies, including those with 
whom the authority would benefit from developing a greater relationship (e.g. 
Sport England, the Heritage Lottery Fund etc…);

 To raise additional resources through grants or funding and maximise their 
contribution to the development of both council’s services and programmes;

84



 To provide significant ‘added value’ with respect of fund application processes, 
in terms of capacity, expertise and support. 

 To co-ordinate action and give advice to other services who are seeking 
external funding for the benefit of the district or council, including external 
groups (e.g. community groups) where appropriate.

1.12 It is proposed that this post is shared (50:50) with South Holland District Council.  South 
Holland is in a similar position to Breckland and would likewise benefit from a pro-
active and effective approach to fundraising, enabled through the creation of this new 
post. It is anticipated that the shared nature of the post will assist in delivering 
efficiencies in terms of the identification of funding opportunities, engagement with 
funding bodies, and the sharing of ideas and best practice in the formulating of funding 
applications. 

1.13 If agreed, it is proposed that the External Funding Officer post is permanently recruited 
to the establishment, will form part of the Growth and Commercialisation Directorate 
reporting to the Shared Executive Manager for Growth, and be recruited to at a 
Breckland Grade 8 (or equivalent).

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing (Not Recommended) - Under this option, the External Funding Officer 
will not be created. The expected benefits set out in Section 4 will not be met. 

2.2 Approve the increase to the establishment and the creation of a new External 
Funding Officer post (Recommended) – Under this option, the post will be created 
(subject to similar formal approval being secured by South Holland District Council) 
and recruitment will commence in earnest. It is anticipated that a post holder will be in 
place before the end of the 2018/19 financial year.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 As a Council, Breckland needs a robust and co-ordinated approach towards external 
funding so that it is able to compete effectively for finite resources and adapt quickly to 
changes in funding regimes. This will involve building on current expertise and past 
experience as well as the development of new and improved ways of attracting 
resources. 

3.2 The External Funding Officer post will provide the basis for a consistent and 
standardised approach towards the identification, acquisition and deployment of 
external funds.

4.0       EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The principal expected benefit to the Council is the acquisition of more external funding 
from a greater range of sources for the benefit of the Council and the district as a 
whole. It is anticipated that this will be achieved through the delivery of a number of 
other benefits, including greater proactive engagement in identifying funding, greater 
levels of engagement with funding bodies, ‘value add’ through additional capacity and 
expertise to support funding applications, and the sharing of expertise and generation 
of efficiencies through working with a partner authority. The success of this post will be 
judged on its ability to attract funds to support the delivery of key strategic projects in 
Breckland.

85



4.2 In addition, there will be the expected benefit effective and efficient use of resources 
to best deliver the objectives set out in the Corporate Plan and the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 The report author considers that there are no implications.  

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 Constitutionally, a permeant increase to the establishment is a matter for Full Council 
to determine.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 The report author considers that there are no implications.  

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 As detailed above, this proposal will support delivery of all the objectives set out in the 
Corporate Plan and the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 The report author considers that there are no implications.  

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 All relevant legislation will be adhered to in recruitment to this post.  

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 It is proposed that the External Funding Officer post is permanently recruited to the 
establishment at a Breckland Grade 8 (or equivalent) and that the costs are shared 
50:50 between Breckland Council and South Holland District Council

5.7.2 The total annual cost, including salary and all necessary on-costs (travel allowances, 
corporate overhead, pension cover) will be a maximum of £40,636 in 2019/20. 
Therefore the cost to Breckland inclusive of on-costs in 2019/20 would be £20,318 per 
annum and for South Holland £20,318 inclusive of on costs.

5.7.3 The post represents an increase in the funded establishment. However, it is anticipated 
that this additional cost will be offset through the delivery of the objectives of the post, 
which are to increase the levels of external grant secured by the authority to deliver 
the programmes and priorities associated with the council’s Corporate Plan. 
Furthermore, given the competitive process relating to grant applications and the 
reliance upon wider public sector finances as a source of external grant, it is difficult at 
this stage to quantify at the outset the potential net cost/benefit of the introduction of 
this post. However, the effectiveness of the post and the postholder will be kept under 
close review to monitor a) the delivery of the expected benefits and b) to ensure that 
the authority receives an appropriate return on investment. 

86



5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 The report author considers that there are no implications, other than the matter that 
the post holder will likely play a key role in supporting funding applications for 
strategically important projects that support health and wellbeing agenda within 
Breckland. This includes potential funds through bodies such as Sport England and 
the Big Lottery Fund. 

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 The report author considers that there are no implications.  

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 Risk relating to the activity of this post will be managed through existing risk 
management channels within the authority. 

5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 All relevant legislation will be adhered to in recruitment to this post.  

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1  Increase to the establishments at Breckland Council and South Holland District Council 
of 1 FTE (shared), split 50:50. 

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1  As the proposed post will be shared with South Holland District Council, there is a 
need for similar formal endorsement of the creation of the role to be provided in 
South Holland. Informal discussions have taken place with members in South 
Holland concerning the creation of such a post, which have been positively received. 
A formal report is due to be considered by members in South Holland for a decision 
on November 28th. 

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 The report author considers that there are no implications.  

5.15 Other

5.15.1 The report author considers that there are no implications.  

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 Not applicable

Lead Contact Officer

87



Name and Post: Matthew Hogan

Telephone Number: 01775 764524

Email: matthew.hogan@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

88



PROFORMA B

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance.

28/11/2018 Page 1 of 1
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\2\1\2\AI00029212\$jqq

3k54t.docx

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT

FROM: Alison Chubbock (Chief Accountant)
REPORT: External Funding Officer
REPORT DATE: November 2018

£ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Revenue
Income
South Holland 50% Contribution (-) (20,318) (20,943) (21,589)
Costs
Salary (including on costs) - 37,635 38,887 40,178
Other costs (i.e. travel, etc) - 3,000 3,000 3,000
Total Revenue - 20,317 20,944 21,589

Capital
Income
N/A (-) (-) (-) (-)
Costs
N/A - - - -
Total Capital - - - -
Considered By: Full Council
Date: tbc

Financial Services Comments
The additional costs of a grade 8 (mid point) role are shown in the table above, with indicative 
associated costs (i.e. travel, mobile, etc).  
If the role was appointed at the top or bottom of grade then the costs would be around £3k 
higher or lower than shown.

As the proposal is for the role to be permanent, there is no specific funding that can be utilised, 
so this would be an additional cost pressure to the base budget.
However, if successful, the role should bring in additional external funding to the Council which 
would not otherwise have been achieved.

Financial Risk
If the role were not successful and a future decision was taken to remove the role, there will be 
associated redundancy costs (and potentially pension strain costs), which would be shared 
50/50 between the two Councils.

89



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for People and Information Cllr Alison Webb

To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission 27/09/2018
Committee of the Licensing Authority 21/11/2018
Full Council 6/12/2018

Author: Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager

Subject: Revised Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) 

Purpose: Consideration of the Council’s revised Gambling Policy (Statement of 
Principles) 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Commission consider the proposed revised Gambling Policy (Statement of 
principles) as shown at Appendix A of this report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1   Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council (the Licensing Authority) to 
prepare and publish a Statement of the Principles (Gambling Policy) that it proposes to 
apply in exercising its licensing functions. The statement will last for a maximum of three 
years, but can be reviewed and revised by the Authority at any time. This Authority’s 
current statement took effect in January 2016 and so the required review process must be 
completed by the end of 2018 to enable publication in January 2019. This report 
summarises the proposed amendments to the Policy.

1.2 The Gambling Act 2005 places the responsibility for the licensing of gambling premises 
and the issuing of gambling permits with Local Authorities, with the associated 
responsibility for ensuring that the conditions on these licences are upheld. Amongst other 
matters the 2005 Act deals with the licensing of: 

 Casinos
 Betting shops
 Bingo halls
 Amusement arcades
 Gaming machines
 Society lotteries

1.3 The Act requires Licensing Authorities to prepare, consult on and publish a Statement of 
Licensing Principles (Gambling Policy) that they propose to apply in exercising their 
functions under the Act during the 3 year period to which the policy applies.

1.4 Core to the Gambling Act are the licensing objectives. These are:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime. 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open manner

90

Agenda Item 19



 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.

1.5 Section 349 (3) of the 2005 Act requires the Licensing Authority to consult the following on 
its licensing policy statement or any subsequent revision: 

 The Chief Officer of Police
 One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests 

of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Authority’s area; and
 One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests 

of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions under the Act

The list of persons to be consulted when preparing the licensing policy statement is 
deliberately wide. This enables Licensing Authorities to undertake a comprehensive 
consultation exercise with anyone who may be affected by or otherwise have an interest in 
the Licensing Policy statement.

1.6 Section 154 of the 2005 Act indicates that adoption of the Statement of Principles 
(Gambling Policy) cannot be delegated to the Committee of the Licensing Authority, 
therefore full Council must adopt the final document. This is different to the granting of 
gambling premises licences which the Act automatically delegates to the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority. It is proposed that the Council meeting on 6th December will consider 
the final version of the proposed revised policy. The timetable for the process is below: 

17th July 2018
Draft amendments were considered by the Committee of the Licensing Authority

23rd July 2018 
Proposed amendments to the Policy issued for consultation

27th September 2018
Draft amended policy to be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission

12 October 2018
Closing date for consultation responses

21st November 
Consultation results to be considered by the Committee of the Licensing Authority. Any 
appropriate amendments to be made and then recommend the revised Policy to the 
Council for adoption. 

6th December 2018
Revised policy to be adopted by the Council

31st January 2019
Revised policy to take effect

1.7 We have reviewed the current Gambling Policy in light of experience in dealing with 
gambling premises and issues over the last three years, as well as considering the 
Gambling Commission guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

Proposed significant changes to the policy are identified below:

91



A) Part A section 1 of the policy provides additional information about how we promote safe 
gambling practices. 

B) Part A section 2 of the Policy now clarifies the relationship with the Planning process

C) Part A section 4 confirms that Norfolk Safeguarding Children Board is the responsible 
authority to advise on the protection of children from harm. 

D) Part A section 5, provides more detail on the definition of “interested parties” and how the 
Licensing Authority will determine these.

E) Part A section 6 provided the up to date position on how and who the council exchanges 
information with in relation to gambling, enabling compliance with the 2005 Act and current 
data protection legislation.

F) Part B section 1 has been expanded to provide additional safeguards for protecting children 
and vulnerable adults from being harmed and exploited by gambling. For example, the 
Licensing Authority will consider recommending measures such as: staff training (to include 
training on dealing with truancy and vulnerable persons); provision of CCTV with images 
retained for 28 days. 

G) Part B section 2 has extended the measures that the Licensing Authority may consider in 
relation to Adult Gaming Centres such as Think 21, notices in relation to “GamCare”, self 
exclusion schemes etc.

H) Part B section 3 now recommends an extended list of measures that the Licensing 
Authority may consider in relation to Licensed Family Entertainment Centres.

I) Part B section 6 makes additional recommendations in respect of the circumstances to be 
considered in limiting the number of betting machines at a betting premises. 

J) Part B section 12 has been included to provide more detail on the Think 21 Policy

K) Part B section 13 has been included to explain this Authority’s stance on test purchasing

L) Part B section 14 has been included to advise that credit facilities should be prohibited from 
casinos and bingo premises. Cash machines (ATMs) may be installed but conditions may 
be applied to where they are sited.

M) Part B section 15 has been added to explain the situation regarding Local Risk 
Assessments which gambling operators are now required to undertake for new premises, 
and for existing premises when certain triggers are met.

N) Part B section 16 explains the new recommendation from the Gambling Commission for 
Licensing Authorities to produce a Local Area Profile. 

O) Appendix 5 and 6 have been added to the policy to provide more detail about safeguarding 
children and vulnerable adults.

92



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The options for the Committee are limited as the process is legislative and dictated by the 
Gambling Act 2005. The Council has no discretion as to making the Statement of 
Principles, although there is some discretion as to the content of the statement.

2.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission are asked to review the draft policy and agree for 
it to be issued for consultation.

2.3 Do nothing 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure that Breckland Council, acting as the Licensing Authority, can meet its statutory 
duties under the Gambling Act 2005.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefit is having a transparent and up to date policy on gambling, and 
enabling compliance with our statutory obligations under the Gambling Act 2005.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 

5.1.1 The consultation document has been emailed to consultees where possible to reduce 
printing and paper. The document is also available on the Council’s website.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is a statutory requirement that the Licensing Authority produces a Statement of Principles 
that it proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Gambling Act 2005 and that it 
reviews it every three years. If the Authority does not produce a revised policy within the 
statutory timescale, there is a risk that the Authority will not be in a position to process 
applications, leaving the Authority open to challenge. 

5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 This policy supports the corporate priorities: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
Providing the right service, at the right time and in the right way;
Enabling stronger, more independent communities;
Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth

5.4      Crime and Disorder 

5.4.1 Norfolk constabulary are a consultee on this policy. There are criminal offences under the 
Gambling Act 2005 and so the policy will support businesses to comply with the law.

93



5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.5.1 The policy addresses how human rights are considered in respect of enforcement action 
and also addresses information sharing and Data Protection. 

5.6       Health & Wellbeing

5.6.1 The policy addresses how children and vulnerable adults should be protected from 
gambling related harm including addiction and financial exploitation.

5.7 Safeguarding

5.7.1 The new policy covers safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults in more detail and 
now includes additional appendices to explain in more detail the risks and how these can 
be managed.  

5.8 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.8.1 Full consultation is in progress as detailed in this report and within the policy. Consultation 
includes responsible authorities and other parties listed in Appendix 2 of the Policy.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

The policy applies to all wards

Background papers:- Gambling Commission Guidance for Licensing Authorities 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-
authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager
Telephone Number: 07866 810466
Email: donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Draft Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) 2019

94

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


1

Breckland Council
Policy (Statement of Principles)

Gambling Act 2005

DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

ALL COMMENTS ABOUT THIS DRAFT SHOULD BE EMAILED TO licensingteam@breckland.gov.uk 
DURING THE CONSULTATION PERIOD

2019

95

mailto:licensingteam@breckland.gov.uk


Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

2

Contents
Part A
1. The Licensing Objectives  2
2. Introduction   2
3. Declaration   4
4. Responsible Authorities   4
5. Interested Parties   5
6. Exchange of information   6
7. Enforcement   7
8. Licensing Authority functions   8
Part B - Premises Licences:  Consideration of Applications
1. General Principles   9
2. Adult Gaming Centres   15
3. Licensed Family Entertainment Centres   15
4. Casinos   16
5. Bingo Premises   16
6. Betting Premises  17
7. Tracks   18
8. Travelling Fairs   18
9. Provisional Statements   19
10. Reviews   19
11. Appeals   20
12. Think 21 Policy 20
13. Test Purchasing 20
14. Credit Facilities 20
15. Local Risk Assessments 21
16. Local Area Profile 22
Part C - Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 23
2. (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits  24
3. Prize Gaming Permits   25
4. Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits   26
5. Temporary Use Notices  27
6. Occasional Use Notices  27
7. Small Society Lotteries   28
8. Review   29
9. Glossary   29
Part D - Appendices
Appendix 1 - Summary of delegated powers  30
Appendix 2 - Persons consulted and Responsible Authorities   33
Appendix 3 - Glossary   34
Appendix 4 - Area map of district   37
Appendix 5 – Safeguarding Children 38
Appendix 6 – Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults 39

96



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

1

Breckland Council - Statement of Principles - Gambling Act 2005

All references to the Guidance refer to the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities.

The Gambling Act 2005 requires every Licensing Authority to publish a 
Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles), which they propose to apply when 
exercising their licensing functions.

Whilst all applications will be judged and determined on their individual merits 
the policy will be the basis of the Licensing Authority’s decisions.
This document is the Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) of 
Breckland Council. The policy will be reviewed regularly to reflect the needs of the 
District of Breckland.

97



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

2

PART A

1.  The Licensing Objectives

In exercising it’s functions under the Gambling Act 
2005, the Licensing Authority must have regard to 
the licensing objectives as set out in Section 1 of 
the Gambling Act.  The licensing objectives are:

i. preventing gambling from being a source 
of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime.

ii. ensuring that gambling is conducted in a 
fair and open way.

iii. protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling. 

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission 
has stated:  “The requirement in relation to children 
is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling”.

In practice, the objective of protecting children from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling usually 
means preventing them from taking part in, or 
being in close proximity to gambling. 

The 2005 Act promotes safe practice at premises 
where gambling activities take place and this 
means that licensees and operators have a legal 
responsibility to ‘protect children and other 
vulnerable person’s from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling’. More information about the 
signs of problem gambling can be found on the 
Gamble aware and Gamcare websites.  The 
aforementioned websites also provide general 
information about gambling, including how to 
gamble safely and where to get help if somebody 
or someone you know has problems with their 
gambling.  This Authority would expect licensees 
and operators to acquaint themselves with the 
contents of the aforementioned websites.  

Further specific information on this Authority’s 
recommendations and expectations, in relation to 
the protection of children and other vulnerable 
persons can be found at Appendices 5 and 6. 

The Licensing Authority is aware that, as per 
Section 153, in making decisions about premises 
licences and temporary use notices it should aim 
to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far 
as it thinks it to be:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives and

iv. in accordance with the Authority’s Statement 
of Licensing Policy.

2.  Introduction

Breckland Council (herein referred to as the 
Licensing Authority) is responsible for the licensing 
of premises and issuing of permits and 
authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005.  The 
Authority’s main functions under the Gambling Act 
2005 (2005 Act) are: 

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises 
where gambling activities are to take place 
by issuing Premises Licences

 Issue Provisional Statements
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ 

welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via the issuing of 
club gaming permits and/or club machine 
permits

 Issue club machine permits to commercial 
clubs

 Grant permits for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines at unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centres

 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed 
premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for 
the use of two or fewer gaming machines

 Issue licensed premises gaming machine 
permits for premises licences licensed to 
sell/ supply alcohol (for consumption on 
licensed premises) under the Licensing Act 
2003, where there are more than two 
machines

 Register small society lotteries below 
prescribed thresholds

 Issue prize gaming permits
 Receive and endorse Temporary Use Notices 

(TUNs)
98



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

3

 Receive Occasional Use Notices (OUNs) 
 Provide information to the Gambling 

Commission regarding details of licences 
and permits issued (see section in this Policy 
Statement on ‘information exchange’)

 Maintain registers of permits and licences 
that are issued under these functions

This Policy (Statement of Principles) is intended to 
provide clarity to applicants,   interested parties 
and responsible authorities on how this Licensing 
Authority will determine applications.  

Breckland Council is situated in the County of 
Norfolk, which contains seven District Councils 
in total.  The Breckland Council area has a 
population of 138,600.  It covers an area of 
1,305 sq kilometres and is one of the largest 
rural districts in England.  The Council area has 
five main market towns which are Attleborough, 
Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and Watton.  
There are also 112 parishes in Breckland but the 
majority of the population is centred around 
these five market towns.  The Breckland area is 
shown in the map attached as Appendix 4.

Number of Gambling Authorisations – Current 
Figures (June 2018)
Betting Premise Licences 10
Bingo Premises Licences 1
Adult Gaming Centre Premises 
Licences 5
Family Entertainment Centre Premises 
Licences 0
Alcohol licensed premises providing two 
or less gaming machines 71
Alcohol licensed premises providing 
three or more gaming machines 8
Club Gaming Permits 2
Club Machine Permits 11
Prize Gaming Permits 0

In adopting the Policy (Statement of Principles) the 
Licensing Authority recognises its duties to 
consider the impact of all its functions and 
decisions on crime and disorder under the 
requirements of Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998. The Licensing Authority 
acknowledges the benefits to the community of 
properly regulating gambling in the district.

The Licensing Act 2003 provides the delegated 
and procedural arrangements for the 
establishment of Licensing Authorities.

Licensing Committees established under Section 
6 of the Licensing Act 2003 are also relevant 
committees for the purpose of gambling functions.  
Therefore, the same Committee that deals with 
applications and other issues in relation to the 
Licensing Act 2003 will also be responsible for 
Premises Licence applications and other issues 
(i.e. permits) in relation to gambling under the 
Gambling Act 2005.

The proceedings of the Licensing Committee are 
regulated by Section 9 of the 2003 Act (and 
Regulations made under that Section).  Particular 
provision can be made for proceedings in relation 
to just the 2003 Act functions or just the 2005 Act 
functions.

The functions of the Licensing Authority under the 
Act may be carried out by the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority, by a Sub-Committee or by one 
or more officers acting under delegated authority.  
Delegated powers shall be in accordance with the 
table at Appendix 1 of this document.

Licensing Authorities are required by the Gambling 
Act 2005 to publish a Gambling Policy (Statement 
of the Principles), which they propose to apply 
when exercising their functions.  This statement 
must be published at least every three years.  The 
statement must also be reviewed as required and 
any amended parts re-consulted upon.  The 
statement must be then re-published.

The Licensing Authority consulted upon this Policy 
(Statement of Principles) before finalising and 
publishing.  A list of those persons consulted is 
provided at Appendix 2.

99



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

4

The Gambling Act requires that the following 
parties are consulted by Licensing Authorities:

i. the Chief Officer of Police;
ii. one or more persons who appear to the 

authority to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in 
the authority’s area;

iii. one or more persons who appear to the 
authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the 
exercise of the Authority’s functions under 
the Gambling Act 2005

The Policy (Statement of Principles) was 
approved at a meeting of the Licensing 
Committee and was subsequently submitted for 
approval at a meeting of the Full Council.

It is also published via the Council’s website.  
Copies of the Statement of Principles are 
available for inspection from the Council Offices.

Should you have any comments as regards this 
Policy (Statement of Principles) please send them 
via e-mail or letter to:

The Licensing Team, Breckland Council, Elizabeth 
House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE

E-mail:  licensingteam@breckland.gov.uk 
Telephone:  01362 656870.

It should be noted that this Policy (Statement of 
Principles) will not override the right of any person 
to make an application, make representations 
about an application, or apply for a review of a 
licence, as each will be considered on its own 
merits and according to the statutory 
requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.

Planning Permission – The Licensing Authority will 
only take into account relevant representations 
related to gambling and the three Licensing 
Objectives.  The existence of a planning permission 
or building regulation approval for a premises or 
activity associated with gambling shall not be taken 
into account by the Licensing Authority in 
determining a Premises Licence application. 
Similarly, the existence of a gambling licence shall 
not prejudice the consideration of any planning or 
building regulation application related to a gambling 
activity or premises. 
In reaching a decision of whether or not to grant 
a licence, the Licensing Authority will take 
account of any non-compliance with other 
statutory requirements brought to its attention (by 
way of relevant representations), which 

undermine the licensing objectives. Non-
compliance with other statutory requirements may 
demonstrate that the premises are unsuitable for 
the activities proposed or that the management of 
the premises is not adequate to ensure 
compliance with the licensing objectives.

3.  Declaration

In producing the Policy (Statement of Principles), the 
Licensing Authority declares that it has had regard 
to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, 
the Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the 
Gambling Commission, and any responses from 
those consulted on the Policy (Statement of 
Principles).

4.  Responsible Authorities

The Licensing Authority has designated in writing, 
the body it considers competent to advise the 
Licensing Authority on the protection of children 
from harm.  The body is:

Norfolk Safeguarding Children Board

The reasons the Licensing Authority has chosen 
the above as a responsible authority competent to 
advise it on the protection of children from harm 
are:

 That this body is answerable to 
democratically elected persons and is not 
answerable to a particular vested interest 
group.

 That this body is responsible for the area 
covered by the Licensing Authority and this 
Policy.

 That this body is experienced in dealing with 
the protection of children.

The contact details of all the Responsible 
Authorities are available by contacting the 
Licensing Team. 

100



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

5

5.  Interested Parties

Interested parties can make representations 
about licence applications, or apply for a review of 
an existing licence.  These parties are defined in 
the Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

For the purposes of this Part a person is an 
interested party in relation to an application for, or 
in respect of a Premises Licence if, in the opinion 
of the Licensing Authority which issues the licence 
or to which the application is made, the person:

i. lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities,

ii. has business interests that might be affected 
by the authorised activities, or

iii. represents persons who satisfy paragraph (i) 
or (ii) e.g. Members of Parliament and ward 
Councillors.

The Licensing Authority is required by 
Regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 
2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party.

Interested parties can be persons who are 
democratically elected such as Councillors and 
Members of Parliament. Other than these 
however, this Authority will normally require 
written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an 
advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who 
either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised activities 
and/or has business interests that might be 
affected by the authorised activity/activities.  A 
letter from one of these persons, requesting the 
representation is sufficient.

If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask 
them to represent their views then care should be 
taken that the Councillors are not part of the 
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence 
application.  If there are any doubts then please 
contact the Licensing Team. Where a Councillor 
represents an interested party, in order to avoid 
conflict of interests, that Councillor shall not be 
part of the Licensing Committee dealing with the 
licence application. If there are any doubts, 
Councillors will be asked to contact the Council’s 
Member Services to gain further advice.

The Licensing Authority is required by regulations 
to state the principles that it will apply in exercising 
its powers under the Gambling Act 2005, to 
determine whether a person is an interested party.  
With regard to specific premises, the Licensing 
Authority will consider whether a person is an 
interested party on a case-by-case basis, judging 
each on its own merit.  The Authority will not apply 
a rigid rule to its decision making. 

The principles the Licensing Authority will apply 
when deciding whether or not a person is an 
interested party are:

 The size of the premises where larger 
premises may be considered to affect people 
over a broader geographical area compared to 
smaller premises offering similar facilities;

 The nature of the activities being conducted on 
the premises. 

For persons living sufficiently close to the premises, 
the Licensing Authority will take into account the 
following factors when interpreting ‘sufficiently 
close’. 

 Size of the premises
 Nature of the premises
 Distance of the premises from the location of 

the person making the representation
 Potential impact of the premises, i.e. number of 

customers, routes likely to be taken by those 
visiting the establishment

 Circumstances of the complainant, i.e. 
interests of the complainant that may be 
relevant to the distance from the premises 

The Licensing Authority recognises ‘sufficiently close 
to be likely to be affected’ could have a different 
meaning, for instance, a private resident, a 
residential school for children with behavioural or 
other problems and a residential hostel for 
vulnerable adults and will therefore deal with each 
representation on its own merit. 

Where persons with business interests that could be 
affected the Licensing Authority will firstly determine 
whether or not a person is an interested party and 
secondly whether or not their representation is 
relevant. Representations by such persons that do 
not relate to the Licensing Objectives but focus on 
demand and competition will not be considered as 
relevant. 

101



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

6

The Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that 
the relevant business is likely to be affected and 
shall not take into account representations put 
forward by a rival operator anywhere in the county, 
simply because they are in competition within the 
same gambling sector.  The following factors will 
therefore be relevant:

 Size of premises
 The ‘catchment’ area of the premises (i.e. how 

far people travel to visit)
 Whether the person making the 

representation has business interests in that 
catchment area that might be affected

 Whether or not the representation is purely 
based on ‘competition’ as the Licensing 
Authority does not consider this to be a 
relevant representation

Representations will not be considered as relevant 
where they relate to demand or competition.

The Licensing Authority will decide upon 
representations from those persons with business 
interests on an individual basis.  The Licensing 
Authority will consider the Gambling Commission’s 
guidance that ‘has business interest’ should be 
given the widest possible interpretation and include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical 
practices. 

With regard to persons representing persons living 
sufficiently close and/or having business interests 
that may be affected, the Licensing Authority will 
take into account trade associations, trade unions, 
residents and tenants’ associations.  The Licensing 
Authority will not, however generally view these 
bodies as interested parties unless the organisation 
can demonstrate that they have  a member who can 
be classed as an interested person under the terms 
of the Gambling Act 2005, i.e. lives sufficiently close 
to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
activities being applied for. 

Only Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties 
may make representations.  Advice on how to make 
a representation is available from the Licensing 
Team. Where there are representations, the 
Licensing Authority will encourage negotiation 
between the objector and the applicant as to the 
possible use of conditions on the licence.  

Where there are representations, the Licensing 
Authority will determine whether or not they will be 
admissible and will consider carefully whether the 
representations are relevant.  Relevant 
representations must be relevant to the three 
Licensing Objectives taking into account the 
Licensing policy (Statement of Principles), Gambling 
Commissions Guidance and the Gambling 
Commissions’ Codes of Practice. 

Representations are not relevant where they are 
vexatious or frivolous and before a decision is made 
as to whether it is relevant or not, the Licensing 
Authority will consider:

 Who is making the representation and whether 
there is a history of making representations 
that are not relevant.  

 Whether or not it raises a relevant issue, or 
 Whether it raises issues specifically to do with 

the premises that are the subject of the 
application. 

The Licensing Authority strongly recommends that 
representations be submitted at the earliest 
opportunity to allow the maximum time to negotiate 
an appropriate solution. 

6.  Exchange of Information

In its exchange of information with parties listed in 
Schedule 6 of the Gambling Act 2005, the Council will 
have regard to: 

 The provisions of the 2005 Act, which include the 
provisions that data protection law will not be 
contravened;

 The guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

 Other relevant legislation and regulations.

In accordance with Section 350 and Schedule 6 of the 
Gambling Act 2005, the Council may exchange 
information with the following statutory bodies or 
individuals:

 A constable or police force;
 An enforcement officer
 Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs;
 The Gambling Appeal First Tier Tribunal;
 The Secretary of State;
 Scottish Ministers; and 
 Any other person or body designated by the 

Secretary of State in accordance with the Act.

102



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

7

The Council may also exchange information 
provided by applicants with law enforcement 
agencies for purposes connected with the 
prevention and detection of crime, but we will only 
share any personal details for this purpose if 
required to do so by law. 

Where relevant, information will be protected and 
confidentiality of those making representations 
will be maintained.  Information will be shared by 
means of e-mail, telephone or in writing between 
the Responsible Authorities and the Gambling 
Commission. 

7.  Enforcement

Decisions on all licensing matters will be taken in 
accordance with an approved scheme of 
delegation, as attached at Appendix 1.  This is 
aimed at underlining the principles of timely, 
efficient and effective decision-making.

The main enforcement and compliance role for the 
Licensing Authority in terms of the Gambling Act 
2005 will be to ensure compliance with the premises 
licence, other permissions which it authorises and 
any relevant Codes of Practice.  The Gambling 
Commission will be the enforcement body for the 
Operator and Personal licences and illegal 
gambling. Concerns about manufacture, supply or 
repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by 
the Licensing Authority but will be notified to the 
Gambling Commission.

In order to ensure compliance with the law, the 
Licensing Authority will prepare a risk based 
Inspection Programme and will carry out ‘routine’ 
programmed inspections, based on risk 
assessment in the categories High, Medium and 
Low and will also carry out ‘non-routine’ inspections 
as required.  Where one off events are taking place 
under a Temporary Use Notice (TUN) or 
Occasional Use Notice (OUN), the Licensing 
Authority may also carry out inspections to ensure 
the Licensing Objectives are being promoted. 

High- risk premises are those premises that have a 
history of complaints or non-compliance and require 
greater attention with low risk premises needing only 
a lighter touch so that resources are effectively 
concentrated on problem premises.
In considering enforcement action, the Licensing 
Authority will bear in mind the Human Rights Act, in 
particular:

i. Article 1, Protocol 1 - peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions

ii. Article 6 - right to a fair hearing
iii. Article 8 - respect for private and family life
iv. Article 10 - right to freedom of expression

The Licensing Authority may carry out risk based 
operations with other agencies including the 
Gambling Commission and the Police to ensure the 
objectives are being promoted.  This includes test 
purchasing operations to ensure children and the 
vulnerable are being protected where required.  
When undertaking test purchasing activities, this 
licensing authority will undertake to liaise with the 
Gambling Commission and the operator to 
determine what other, if any, test purchasing 
schemes may already be in place.  Irrespective of 
the actions of an operator on their overall estate, test 
purchasing may be deemed to be an appropriate 
course of action.

As a general rule the Licensing Authority will 
consider formal action where there is evidence that 
the Licensing Objectives are being adversely 
affected.

The Licensing Authority sets out below the principles 
to be applied in exercising its functions with regard 
to inspection of premises and enforcement.  The 
Licensing Authority in carrying out its regulation 
functions will follow the Statutory Code of Practice 
for Regulators. 

i. proportionate:  regulators should only 
intervene when necessary:  remedies should 
be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs 
identified and minimised

ii. accountable:  regulators must be able to justify 
decisions, and be subject to public scrutiny

iii. consistent:  rules and standards must be 
joined up and implemented fairly

iv. transparent:  regulators should be open, and 
keep regulations simple and user friendly; and

v. targeted:  regulation should be focused on the 
problem, and minimise side effects

103



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

8

As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, this Licensing Authority will 
endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory 
regimes so far as possible and will keep itself 
informed of developments as regards the work of 
the Statutory Code of Practice for Regulators

Premises Licence Holders are advised that where 
following the receipt of a warning or warnings in 
relation to a Premises Licence breach or breaches, 
an operator subsequently breaches the licence 
conditions, the Licensing Authority will seek to 
review the Premises Licence.

8.  Licensing Authority Functions

Breckland Council, as the Licensing Authority, is 
responsible for the licensing of premises and the 
issue of permits and authorisations under the 
Gambling Act 2005.  The Authority’s main functions 
under the 2005 Act are:

i. be responsible for the licensing of premises 
where gambling activities are to take place by 
issuing Premises Licences

ii. issue Provisional Statements
iii. issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 

Permits for premises licensed to sell/supply 
alcohol for consumption on the licensed 
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, 
where there are more than two machines

iv. register small society lotteries below 
prescribed thresholds

v. issue Prize Gaming Permits
vi. receive and endorse Temporary Use Notices
vii. receive Occasional Use Notices
viii. provide information to the Gambling 

Commission regarding details of licences 
issued (see section above on ‘information 
exchange’)

ix. maintain registers of the permits and licences 
that are issued under these functions

x. issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial 
Clubs

xi. grant permits for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines at unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centres

xii. receive notifications from alcohol licensed 
premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for 
the use of two or fewer gaming machines

xiii. Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare 
institutes who wish to undertake certain 
gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming 
Permits and/or Club Machine Permits

It should be noted that licensing authorities are not 
involved in licensing remote gambling at all, which 

is regulated by the Gambling Commission via 
Operating Licences.

This Policy is intended to provide clarity to 
applicants, interested parties and responsible 
authorities on how this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications.  Guidance is available to 
assist applicants:  the aforementioned guidance 
does not form part of this Policy.

104



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

9

PART B
Premises Licences:  Consideration of Applications

1.  General Principles

Premises Licences authorise the provision of 
gambling facilities on the following:

 Casino Premises
 Bingo Premises
 Betting Premises (including tracks and 

premises used by betting intermediaries)
 Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs)
 Family Entertainment Centres (FECs)

Except in the case of Tracks (where the occupier 
may not be the person offering gambling), Premises 
Licences will only be granted to those issued with an 
Operating Licence by the Gambling Commission. 

Other forms of authorisations are as follows:

 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres 
(uFEC) Permits

 Prize Gaming Permits
 Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits
 Club Gaming Permits
 Club Gaming Machine Permits

Premises licences are subject to the requirements 
set out in the Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, 
as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions, which are detailed in Regulations issued 
by the Secretary of State.  Licensing authorities are 
able to exclude default conditions and also attach 
others, where it is believed to be appropriate.

(a) Decision-making

This Licensing Authority is aware that in making 
decisions about Premises Licences it should aim to 
permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as 
it thinks fit:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission;

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission;

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives; and

iv. in accordance with the authority’s Statement 
of Licensing Policy

It is appreciated that as per the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 

“moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason 
to reject applications for premises licences” and 
also that unmet demand is not a criterion for a 
Licensing Authority.

This Licensing Authority also notes Gambling 
Commission guidance on Appropriate Licensing 
Environment.

It is not permissible for an operator to offer gaming 
machines on a premise which is licensed for non-
remote betting but not to offer sufficient facilities for 
non-remote betting.  A non-remote betting operating 
licence authorises its holder to ‘provide facilities for 
betting’ (s.65(2)(c) of the Act).  Likewise, a betting 
premises licence authorises premises to be used for 
‘the provision of facilities for betting’ (s.150(1)(e) of 
the Act).  The ability to make up to four gaming 
machines, within categories B2 – D available, is an 
additional authorisation conferred upon the holder of 
a betting premises licence (s.172(8) of the Act); it is 
not a free standing right to make gaming machines 
available for use.  It follows that unless a betting 
premises operator offers sufficient facilities for 
betting it should not be making gaming machines 
available on the premises in question. 

(b) Definition of ‘premises’

Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”. 
Different Premises Licences cannot apply in respect 
of a single premises at different times.  However, it 
is possible for a single building to be subject to more 
than one Premises Licence, provided they are for 
different parts of the building and the different parts 
of the building can be reasonably regarded as being 
different premises. Whether different parts of the 
building can properly be regarded as being separate 
premises will always be a question of fact. 

105



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

10

The location of the premises will clearly be an 
important consideration and the suitability of the 
division will be a matter for discussion between the 
operator and the Authority’s Licensing Officer.  
However, the Gambling Commission does not 
consider that areas of a building that are artificially 
or temporarily separated (for example, by ropes or 
moveable partitions) can be properly regarded as 
different premises. The Licensing Authority will 
consider the definition of premises and where there 
are such concerns the Licensing Authority may 
address these through licence conditions. The 
Licensing Authority will, if necessary, respond to any 
further guidance by the Gambling Commission on 
this subject by way of a minor variation of this Policy.

The Licensing Authority takes particular note of the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities which states that:

Licensing Authorities should take particular care in 
considering applications for multiple licences for a 
building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  
In particular they should be aware of the following:

i. The third Licensing Objective seeks to protect 
children from being harmed by gambling.  In 
practice that means not only preventing them 
from taking part in gambling, but also

ii. Preventing them from being in close proximity 
to gambling.  Therefore premises should be 
configured so that children are not invited to 
participate in, have accidental access to, or 
closely observe gambling where they are 
prohibited from participating.

iii. Entrances to and exits from parts of a building 
covered by one or more Premises Licences 
should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not 
compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a 
gambling area.  In this context it should 
normally be possible to access the premises 
without going through another licensed 
premises or premises with a permit.

iv. Customers should be able to participate in the 
activity named on the Premises Licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the 
Licensing Authority should be aware of, which may 
include:

i. Do the premises have a separate registration 
for business rates?

ii. Is the premises’ neighbouring premises 
owned by the same person or someone else?

iii. Can each of the premises be accessed from 
the street or a public passageway?

iv. Can the premises only be accessed from any 

other gambling premises?

This Authority will consider these and other relevant 
factors in making its decision depending on all the 
circumstances of the case.

(c)  Premises ‘Ready for Gambling’

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance states that a 
licence to use premises for gambling should only be 
issued in relation to premises that the Licensing 
Authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to 
be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of the building or 
alterations required before the premises are brought 
into use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, 
or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy 
them, then an application for a provisional     statement 
can be made instead. This is also the case for a 
premises requiring significant alteration where that 
alteration is unlikely to be completed for some 
considerable period of time.

In deciding whether a Premises Licence can be 
granted where there are outstanding construction or 
alteration works at the premises, this authority will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a 
two stage consideration process:

i. first, whether the premises ought to be 
permitted to be used for gambling

ii. second, whether appropriate conditions can 
be put in place to cater for the situation that 
the premises are not yet in - the state in which 
they ought to be before gambling takes place.

Applicants should note that this authority is entitled 
to decide that it is appropriate to grant a licence 
subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant 
such a licence.

More detailed example of the circumstances in 
which such a licence may be granted can be found 
within the Gambling Commissions Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities.

106



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

11

(d)  Location

The Licensing Authority is aware that demand 
issues cannot be considered with regard to 
the location of premises but that 
considerations in terms of the licensing 
objectives are relevant to its decision making.  
As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
to Licensing Authorities, this authority will pay 
particular attention to the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as 
issues of crime and disorder

With regard to these objectives, upon receipt 
of any relevant representations this Authority 
will look at specific location issues including: 

i. proximity of the premises to schools and 
vulnerable adults 

ii. the proximity of the premises to 
residential areas where there may be a 
high concentration of families with 
children

iii. the size of the premises and the nature of 
the activities taking place

iv. any levels of organised crime in the area

When considering the location of premises the 
Licensing Authority may take into 
consideration any restrictions on access to the 
premises.

This policy does not preclude any application 
being made and each application will be 
decided on its merits, with the onus upon the 
applicant showing how potential concerns can 
be overcome.

(e) Duplication with Other Regulatory 
Regimes

This Licensing Authority seeks to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems where possible, including planning.  
This authority will not consider whether a 
licence application is likely to be awarded 
planning permission or building regulations 
approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though 
listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns 
about conditions, which are not able to be met 
by licensees due to planning restrictions, 
should such a situation arise.  It is for the 
applicant to ensure that any other statutory 
requirements are complied with.

Licensing Objectives

Premises licences granted must be 
reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives.  With regard to these objectives, 
the Licensing Authority has considered the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities and some comments are 
made below.

Preventing gambling from being a 
source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or 
being used to support crime

This Licensing Authority is aware that the 
Gambling Commission will be taking a leading 
role in preventing gambling from being a 
source of crime. The Licensing Authority 
recognises it is the responsibility of the 
Gambling Commission when issuing 
Operating Licences to ensure the operator is a 
suitable applicant. However, if during the 
course of considering a Premises Licence 
application or at any other time, the Licensing 
Authority receives such information that 
causes it to question the suitability of the 
applicant, those concerns will be brought to the 
immediate attention of the Gambling 
Commission.  The Gambling Commission's 
Guidance does however envisage that 
Licensing Authorities should pay attention to 
the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, 
where an area has known high levels of 
organised crime this authority will consider 
carefully whether gambling premises are 
suitable to be located there and whether 
conditions may be suitable such as the 
provision of door supervisors, CCTV etc.  

The Licensing Authority recognises that 
disorder and nuisance may be focused on 
premises and therefore recommends an 
applicant takes such controls as necessary to 
prevent such disorder and nuisance. 
Examples may include thought given to the 
way that gambling is conducted on the 
premises, siting of large pay out machines and 
levels of noise from public address systems 
that should ideally be sited at the back of the 
premises away from residential areas. 
Consideration, where relevant, will be given to 
the placing of appropriate conditions on the 
licence governing opening hours for betting 
shops in residential areas and other sensitive 
areas and in the case of disorder the use of 
Door Supervisors. Section 178 of the 2005 Act 
sets out the definition of ‘Door Supervisor’ and 

107



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

12

provides that where a person is employed in 
such a role is required to hold a licence issued 
by the Security Industry Authority (SIA), that 
requirement will have force as though  it were 
a condition on the premises licence. 

Where there are persistent levels of disorder, 
the Licensing Authority will liaise closely with 
the Gambling Commission to consider the 
suitability of the applicant as an operator. In 
addition, the Licensing Authority will strive to 
have a good working relationship with the 
Police in accordance with any protocol that is 
currently in place.

As there are no clear lines between nuisance 
and disorder, the Licensing Authority may seek 
legal advice when determining what action to 
take in circumstances in which disorder may 
be a factor. The Licensing Authority 
appreciates that disorder is intended to mean 
activity that is more serious and disruptive than 
mere nuisance, however, in determining this it 
will take into account the following factors:

i. Whether the situation was serious 
enough to require Police or Ambulance 
assistance;

ii. How threatening the behaviour was to 
those who could see or hear it.

Ensuring that gambling is conducted 
in a fair and open way
This Licensing Authority has noted that the 
Gambling Commission states that it generally 
does not expect Licensing Authorities to 
become concerned with ensuring that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
as this will be addressed via operating and 
personal licences.  There is however, more of 
a role with regard to tracks which is explained 
in more detail in the 'tracks' section.
The Licensing Authority, in certain 
circumstances, may seek to impose conditions 
to ensure that the environment in which betting 
takes place is suitable.

The Licensing Authority may wish to know the 
nature of the venue, have sight of a plan of the 
track which would include access to the place 
where gambling is to take place, where the 
operators will conduct on course betting and 
whether or not there are any off course betting 
operators.

Protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling

Protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling - As children and young persons are 
prohibited from the great majority of gambling 
they must be prevented from entering adult 
only gaming environments. This Licensing 
Objective intends to prevent children and 
young persons from taking part in, or being in 
close proximity to, gambling. Restrictions are 
therefore necessary when advertising 
gambling products that are aimed at children 
or advertised in such a way that makes them 
attractive to children. The Licensing Authority 
will therefore consider whether or not specific 
measures are needed to protect children at 
particular premises. Such measures may 
include:

i. staff training (to include training on how 
to deal with suspected truants and 
vulnerable persons)

ii. careful consideration of the siting of 
ATMs

iii. additional requirements to provide 
supervision at entrances

iv. steps taken to segregate gambling from 
non- gambling areas frequented by 
children

v. the supervision of gaming machines in 
non- adult gambling specific premises in 
order to prevent children or vulnerable 
young persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling

vi. Minimum staffing levels in adult only 
gambling premises

vii. Induction training for new staff and 
refresher training for existing staff

viii. Maintenance of a refusals register
ix. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 21)
x. Third party test purchasing
xi. Location of entry to adult only gambling 

premises
xii. Infra Red Beam positioned across the 

entrance to the adult only gambling 
premises

xiii. provision of CCTV (with images 
retained for a minimum period of 28 
days)

PART B

108



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

13

These measures will be particularly relevant 
on mixed-use premises, and on tracks where 
children have freedom of movement in betting 
areas on race days. Other such measures may 
include:

i. appropriate signage
ii. location of gaming machines
iii. numbers of staff on duty
iv. not siting child orientated machines or 

facilities close to the entrance to adult 
gaming / betting facilities

v. ensuring there is no accidental access to 
premises used for adult gambling

vi. With regard to vulnerable persons, 
measures such as the use of self-barring 
schemes, provision of information 
leaflets and helpline numbers for 
organisations such as Gamcare, should 
be deemed particularly appropriate.

Further specific information on this Authority’s 
recommendations and expectations, in relation 
to the protection of children and other 
vulnerable persons, can be found at 
Appendices 5 and 6 of this policy document.

The above lists are not exhaustive but 
indicative of examples.

As regards ‘vulnerable persons’, it is noted that 
the Gambling Commission has not defined a 
‘vulnerable person’ but states that it will 
assume that this group will include people who 
gamble more than they want to; people who 
gamble beyond their means; and people who 
may not be able to make informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling due to a mental 
impairment, alcohol or drugs. Whilst the 
Gambling Act does not prohibit vulnerable 
groups in the same manner as children and 
young persons, with regard to vulnerable 
people, the Licensing   Authority will consider 
whether or not any measures have been taken 
to protect such a group. Any such 
considerations will be balanced against the 
Licensing Authority’s aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling; each application will be 
treated on its own merit.

With this Licensing Objective in mind, the 
Licensing Authority will take particular care 
when considering applications for more than 
one premises licence for a building and those 
relating to a discrete part of a building used for 
other non-gambling purposes, such as 
shopping malls. Where relevant, applicants will 
be expected to take measures to ensure young 
persons, and children are not in close 

proximity to gambling. Such measures may 
include siting machines at the back of a 
premises so as to ensure young children do 
not have sight of such machines, not 
advertising gambling so as to encourage 
children, not siting child orientated machines 
or facilities close to the entrance to adult 
gaming/betting facilities and ensuring there is 
no accidental access to observe or enter 
premises used for gambling.

In the absence of a definition of “direct access” 
between an Adult Gaming Centre and a 
Licensed Family Entertainment Centre or 
Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre in the 
2005 Act or Regulations, the Licensing 
Authority has identified a Statement of 
Principles within this Policy to be followed in 
decision-making. Should it be established that 
these Principles are inconsistent with the 
legislation (through statute or the Courts), the 
Licensing Authority reserves the right to 
amend this Statement of Principles as a minor 
policy change without further consultation.

The Licensing Authority recommends that 
measures are taken to ensure entrances and 
exits from parts of a building covered by one or 
more premises licences are separate and 
identifiable so that people do not drift into a 
gambling area in error.  Such measures could 
include appropriate signage, physically 
separating Family Entertainment Centres and 
Adult Gaming Centres, and supervision of 
entrances.

The Licensing Authority will consider multiple 
licences carefully and applicants are 
recommended to configure these buildings 
carefully if they seek to develop multipurpose 
developments and in particular consider how   
they will protect children from being harmed by 
gambling as well as preventing children from 
being in close proximity to gambling. 
Applicants are also requested to consider 
entrances and exits from parts of the building 
covered by one or more licences. These exits 
and entrances should be separate and 
identifiable to ensure children do not ‘drift’ into 
a gambling area.

The Licensing Authority recommends that all 
staff are suitably trained and aware of the 
Gambling laws, social responsibility and 
statutory requirements related to age 
restrictions on gaming machines. Appropriate 
measures should be taken to prevent under 
age use of such machines, including clear and 
appropriate signage, an approved Proof of Age 

109



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

14

scheme (such as a Think 21 scheme) and a 
requirement for staff to be vigilant and aware 
at all times.

In relation to amusement arcades the 
Licensing Authority recognises BACTA’s 
voluntary Code of Social Responsibility and 
Good Practice for Adult Gaming and Family 
Entertainment Centres. The Licensing 
Authority recommends that operators of Adult 
Gaming and Family Entertainment Centres 
consider the adoption of any areas of the Code 
that are not covered by any current mandatory 
Codes of Practice.

Conditions

Any conditions attached to licences will be 
proportionate and will be:

i. relevant to the need to make the 
proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility

ii. directly related to the premises and the 
type of licence applied for

iii. fairly and reasonably related to the scale 
and type of premises and

iv. reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be 
made on a case by case basis, although there 
will be a number of measures this Licensing 
Authority will consider utilising should there be 
a perceived need, such as the use of door 
supervisors and appropriate signage for adult 
only areas etc.

This Licensing Authority will also expect the 
licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to ways in which the licensing 
objectives can be met effectively.

This Licensing Authority will also consider 
specific measures which may be required for 
buildings which are subject to multiple 
premises licences.  Such measures may 
include the supervision of entrances; 
segregation of gambling from non-gambling 
areas frequented by children; and the 
supervision of gaming machines in non-adult 
gambling specific premises in order to pursue 
the licensing objectives.  These matters are in 
accordance with the Gambling Commission's 
Guidance.

Default Licence Conditions 

Applicants are advised that any applications to 
amend default licence conditions will not be 
dealt with by Officers acting under delegated 
powers. A Licensing Sub-Committee hearing 
will consider such applications. The Licensing 
Authority is aware that one issue likely to be 
raised in relation to default conditions is the 
hours the premises may be open in order to 
provide gambling or betting facilities (for 
example a betting premises). The Authority will 
only exclude default conditions and replace the 
same with less rigid conditions when there are 
clear and identifiable reasons for doing so.

Where an operator breaches the licence 
conditions, initially a warning will normally be 
given to correct the breaches. If following such 
warning or warnings, a breach or breaches 
occur the Licensing Authority will seek to 
review the Premises Licence.

Door Supervisors

If there are concerns that premises may attract 
disorder or be subject to unauthorised access 
by children and young persons, then the 
Licensing Authority may require that Door 
Supervisors control entrances to the 
premises.  The Licensing Authority recognises 
that each premises application shall be treated 
on its own merit.  In addition, the Licensing 
Authority shall take into account the previous 
trading history of the type of premises 
proposed and that any decision shall be 
necessary and proportionate.

Where door supervisors are imposed as a 
condition on a Premises Licence (except 
casino or bingo premises), Section 178 of the 
2005 Act requires that any person employed 
in that capacity will hold a relevant licence 
issued by the Security Industry Authority 
(SIA).  There are however exemptions to this 
requirement i.e. ‘in-house’ employees working 
as door supervisors at casino and bingo 
premises.

110



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

15

It is noted that in-house staff acting as door 
supervisors at casinos or bingo premises are 
not required to be licensed by the SIA. However, 
this Authority recommends that where in-house 
staff acting as door supervisors are provided at 
these premises the operator should ensure that 
any persons employed in this capacity are fit 
and proper to carry out such duties. Possible 
ways to achieve this could be to carry out a 
Basic Criminal Records (DBS) Check on 
potential staff and for such personnel to have 
attended industry recognised training.

2.  Adult Gaming Centres

The Licensing Authority will specifically have 
regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being 
exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will 
be sufficient measures to, for example, ensure 
that under 18 year olds do not have access to 
the premises.

The Licensing Authority may consider 
measures to meet the licensing objectives, 
such as:

i. proof of age schemes
ii. CCTV
iii. supervision of entrances/machine areas 

(e.g. use of door supervisors)
iv. physical separation of areas
v. location of entry
vi. Minimum staffing levels
vii. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff
viii. Refusals register
ix. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 21)
x. Third party test purchasing
xi. Location of entry to premises
xii. Infra-Red Beam positioned across the 

entrance to the premises
xiii. notices/signage (including the statutory 

requirement in relation to the display of 
GamCare stickers)

xiv. specific opening hours
xv. self-exclusion schemes
xvi. Provision of information leaflets/helpline 

numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare.

With regard to vulnerable persons, the Licensing 
Authority will consider measures such as the 
use of self-barring schemes and the provision of 
information leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare, as appropriate 
measures.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and 
is merely indicative of example measures.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants 
to adopt an approved proof of age scheme 
(such as Challenge 21/25), for staff to be 
suitably trained and aware of the gambling 
laws, social responsibility and statutory 
requirements relating to age restrictions.

3.  Licensed Family 
Entertainment Centres

This Licensing Authority will specifically have 
regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being 
exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, 
that there will be sufficient measures to ensure 
that under 18 year olds do not have access to 
the adult only gaming machine areas.  
The Licensing Authority will expect applicants 
to meet the Licensing Objectives and comply 
with all mandatory conditions and Codes of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission. 
However, appropriate measures may cover 
issues such as:

i. Proof of Age schemes
ii. CCTV, specifically sited where the adult 

machines are to be situated
iii. Door supervisors
iv. Controlled supervision of entrance and 

machine areas
v. Location of entry
vi. Statutory requirement in relation to the 

display of GamCare stickers
vii. Physical segregation of machines and 

areas
viii. Appropriate Notices and signage
ix. Specific opening hours
x. Self-exclusion schemes
xi. Measures/training for staff on how to deal 

with suspected truant school children on 
the premises

xii. Provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare

xiii. Minimum staffing levels
xiv. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff
xv. Refusals register
xvi. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 21)
xvii. Third party test purchasing
xviii. Location of entry to premises
xix. Infra-red beam positioned across the 

111



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

16

entrance to the premises
xx. Appropriately trained floor walking staff 

with regard to the protection of children 
and vulnerable adults

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and 
is merely indicative of example measures.

With regard to vulnerable persons, the 
Licensing Authority will consider measures 
such as the use of self-barring schemes, 
provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as GamCare 
as appropriate measures.

With regard to segregation of Category C 
machines in licensed FECs, there is a 
requirement that there must be clear 
segregation between the two types of machine 
so that children do not have access to 
Category C machines. All Category C 
machines must be located in an area of the 
premises separate from the remainder of the 
premises by a physical barrier, which is 
effective to prevent access other than through 
a designated entrance. The Licensing Authority 
will seek to ensure that:

i. only adults are admitted to the area 
where the machines are located;

ii. access to the area where the machines 
are located is supervised;

iii. the area where the machines are located 
is arranged so that it can be observed by 
staff of the operator or the licence holder; 
and

iv. at the entrance to, and inside any such 
area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area 
is prohibited to persons under 18.

In most cases the Licensing Authority will be 
happy to accept a solid waist high barrier 
(e.g. 1.1 to 1.4 metres in height) in order to 
designate the adult only Category C gaming 
machine area. The barrier must be fixed and 
not something which is transient or easily 
moveable.

4.  Casinos

No Casinos Resolution

This Licensing Authority has not passed a ‘no 
casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the 
Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the 
power to do so.  Should this Licensing 
Authority decide in the future to pass such a 
resolution, it will update this Policy (Statement 
of Principles) with details of that resolution.  
Any such resolution will be made by the Full 
Council.

5.  Bingo Premises

Entry to bingo premises is not generally age 
restricted although entry to certain areas of the 
premises will be restricted by law if they 
contain Category C gaming machines. If the 
bingo premises operator intends not to allow 
under 18s entry to any part of the premises 
then this Authority will expect to be advised of 
the same by the operator/licensee as soon as 
reasonably possible after that decision has 
been made.

In accordance with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance, the Licensing 
Authority recognises that it is important that if 
children are allowed to enter premises 
licensed for bingo that they do not participate 
in gambling, other than on Category D 
machines.  Where Category C or above 
machines are available in the bingo premises 
to which children are admitted, the Licensing 
Authority will seek to ensure that:

i. all such machines are located in an area 
of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical 
barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated 
entrance;

ii. only adults are admitted to the area 
where the machines are located;

iii. access to the area where the machines 
are located is supervised;

iv. the area where the machines are located 
is arranged so that it can be observed by 
staff of the operator or the licence holder; 
and

v. at the entrance to, and inside any such 
area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area 

112



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

17

is prohibited to persons under 18.

In most cases the Licensing Authority will be 
happy to accept a solid waist high barrier 
(e.g. 1.1 to 1.4 metres in height) in order to 
designate the adult only Category C gaming 
machine area. The barrier must be fixed and 
not something which is transient or easily 
moveable.

The Gambling Commission has issued Codes 
of Practice relating to Bingo premises and the 
Licensing Authority expects all applicants to 
comply with these codes. The Licensing 
Authority will not look favourably upon an 
application where an applicant seeks a Bingo 
Premises Licence with the sole intention of 
placing Category B2 Gaming Machines only in 
the premises with no provision for facilities for 
bingo, as this is not considered to be in the 
spirit of the Act. This is also referred to in the 
Gaming Machines section of this Policy 
Statement. Applicants and premises licence 
holders are reminded of the Gambling 
Commission’s operator licence conditions 
requiring that bingo is provided as the primary 
activity in any premises that hold or apply for a 
bingo premises licence.

Where bingo is provided in alcohol-licensed 
premises and it reaches a certain threshold, it 
will no longer be authorised as equal chance 
gaming and a Bingo Operating Licence will 
need to be obtained from the Gambling 
Commission.  High turnover bingo will require 
a Bingo Operating Licence. Definitions of low 
and high turnover bingo are available by 
referring to the Gambling Commission’s 
website.

The aim of this provision is to prevent bingo 
becoming a predominant commercial activity 
on such non- gambling premises.

The Licensing Authority will take into account 
any additional guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission in relation to the 
suitability and layout of bingo premises.

6.  Betting Premises

The Licensing Authority is responsible for 
issuing and monitoring Premises Licences for 
all betting premises.  Children and young 
persons are not permitted entry to a premise 
with a Betting Premises Licence.  They may, 
however, be permitted entry to tracks and 

special rules will apply.  The Licensing 
Authority recommends that an applicant for 
gaming machines in betting premises 
considers carefully the location of betting 
machines to ensure that they are not in sight 
of the entrance of the premises.

The Licensing Authority has discretion as to 
the number, nature and circumstances of use 
of betting machines at a betting premises. 
However the Licensing Authority will consider 
limiting the number of machines only where 
there is clear evidence that such machines 
have been, or are likely to be, used in breach 
of the Licensing Objectives. Where there is 
such evidence, the Licensing Authority 
may consider, when reviewing the licence, 
the ability of staff to monitor the use of such 
machines from the counter. When 
considering whether or not to impose such a 
condition the Licensing Authority will take into 
account the following:

i. The size of the premises;
ii. The number of counter positions 

available for person to person 
transactions; and

iii. The ability of staff to monitor the use of 
the machines by children and young or 
vulnerable persons. In deciding whether 
to impose conditions to limit the number 
of betting machines each case will be 
considered on its own merits and account 
will be taken of the relevant Codes of 
Practice and Guidance issued under the 
Gambling Act 2005.

The Licensing Authority will not look favourably 
upon an application where an applicant seeks 
a Betting Premises Licence with the sole 
intention of placing Category B2 Gaming 
Machines only in the premises with no 
provision for facilities for betting, as this is not 
considered to be in the spirit of the Act. This is 
also referred to in the Gaming Machines 
section of this Policy Statement. Applicants 
and premises licence holders are reminded of 
the Gambling Commission’s operator licence 
conditions requiring that counter betting 
facilities are provided as the primary activity in 
any premises that hold or apply for a betting 
premises licence.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants 
to meet the Licensing Objectives and comply 
with all mandatory conditions and Codes of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission. 
In determining whether an application meets 

113



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

18

the aforementioned criteria the Licensing 
Authority may give consideration as to whether 
appropriate measures are or will be in place to 
address the matters listed below:

i. Minimum staffing levels
ii. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff

This list is not exhaustive and is merely 
indicative of example measures. The 
Licensing Authority will expect applicants to 
offer their own measures to meet the licensing 
objectives.

7.  Tracks

Note there are currently no tracks operating in 
the district.  However, this Statement of 
Principles contains provision for the event of 
such a premise.

This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks 
may be subject to one, or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence 
relates to a specified area of the track.  As per 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this 
Licensing Authority will especially consider the 
impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. 
the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling) and the need to ensure that 
entrances to each type of premises are distinct 
and that children are excluded from gambling 
areas where they are not permitted to enter.

This Authority will therefore expect the 
premises licence applicant to demonstrate 
suitable measures to ensure that children do 
not have access to adult only gaming facilities.  
It is noted that children and young persons will 
be permitted to enter track areas where 
facilities for betting are provided on days when 
dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, 
but that they are still prevented from entering 
areas where gaming machines (other than 
category D machines) are provided.

This Licensing Authority may consider 
measures to meet the licensing objectives, 
such as:

i. proof of age schemes
ii. CCTV
iii. supervision of entrances/machine areas
iv. physical separation of areas
v. location of entry

vi. notices/signage (including the statutory 
requirement for GamCare stickers)

vii. specific opening hours
viii. self-exclusion schemes
ix. provision of information leaflets/helpline 

numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and 
is merely indicative of example measures.

Gaming Machines

Where the applicant holds a pool betting 
operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines, 
machines (other than category D machines) 
should be located in areas from which children 
are excluded.

Betting Machines

This Licensing Authority will, as per the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, take into 
account the size of the premises and the 
ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it is 
an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable people, when considering the 
number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer.

8.  Travelling Fairs

This Licensing Authority is responsible for 
deciding whether category D machines and/or 
equal chance prize gaming without a permit 
are to be made available for use at travelling 
fairs, the statutory requirement that the 
facilities for gambling amount to no more than 
an ancillary amusement at the fair is met.

The Licensing Authority will also consider 
whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair.

It has been noted that the 27-day statutory 
maximum for the land being used as a fair, 
applies on a per calendar year basis and that 
it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs 
are held, regardless of whether it is the same 
or different travelling fairs occupying the land.  
The Licensing Authority will work with its 
neighbouring authorities to ensure that land, 
which crosses our boundaries, is monitored 
so that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

114



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

19

9.  Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this authority 
for provisional statements before entering into 
a contract to buy or lease property or land to 
judge whether a development is worth taking 
forward in light of the need to obtain a 
premises licence.  There is no need for the 
applicant to hold an operating licence in order 
to apply for a provisional statement.

Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides for 
a person to make an application to the 
Licensing Authority for a provisional statement 
in respect of premises that he or she:

i. expects to be constructed;
ii. expects to be altered; or
iii. expects to acquire a right to occupy.

The process for considering an application for 
a provisional statement is the same as that for 
a premises licence application.  The applicant 
is obliged to give notice of the application in 
the same way as applying for a premises 
licence.  Responsible Authorities and 
Interested Parties may make representations 
and there are rights of appeal.

In contrast to the premises licence application, 
the applicant does not have to hold or have 
applied for an operating licence from the 
Gambling Commission (except in the case of 
a track) and they do not have to have a right 
to occupy the premises in respect of which 
their provisional application is made.

The holder of the provisional statement may 
then apply for a premises licence once the 
premises are constructed, altered or acquired.  
The Licensing Authority will be constrained in 
the matters it can consider when determining 
the premises licence application, and in terms 
of representations about premises licence 
applications that follow the grant of a 
provisional statement, no further 
representations from relevant authorities or 
interested parties can be taken into account 
unless:

i. they concern matters which could not 
have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or

ii. they reflect a change in the applicant’s 
circumstances.

In addition, the authority may refuse the 
premises licence (or grant it on terms different 
to those attached to the provisional statement) 
only by reference to matters:

i. which could not have been raised by 
objectors at the provisional statement 
stage;

ii. which in the authority’s opinion reflect a 
change in the operator’s circumstances;

iii. where the premises have not been 
constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application.  This 
must be a substantial change to the plan 
and this Licensing Authority notes that it 
can discuss any concerns it has with the 
applicant before making a decision.

10.  Reviews

Requests for a review of a premises licence 
can be made by the Licensing Authority itself, 
interested parties or responsible authorities.  
However, it is for the Licensing Authority to 
decide whether the review is to be carried out.  
This will be on the basis of whether the request 
for the review is relevant to the matters listed 
below as well as consideration as to whether 
the request is frivolous, vexatious, will 
certainly not cause the Authority to wish to 
alter/revoke/suspend the licence or whether 
it is substantially the same as previous 
requests for review:

115



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

20

The review will be:

i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

ii. in accordance with any relevant 
guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives; and

iv. in accordance with the Authority’s 
Statement of Principles.

The Licensing Authority can also initiate a 
review of a particular premises licence, or a 
particular class of premises licence on the 
basis of any reason which it thinks 
appropriate.

11.  Appeals

There is a right of appeal both for applicants 
and those who have made relevant 
representations or applied for a review.  This 
appeal must be lodged within a period of 21 
days from the day on which the applicant was 
notified by the Licensing Authority of the 
decision and must be made to the 
Magistrates’ Court.

12.  Think 21 Policy

The Licensing Authority strongly supports 
campaigns to reduce the illegal access of 
underage persons to adult only gambling and 
encourages the use of a Think 21 policy within 
premises providing adult only gambling 
facilities. Under the scheme, premises 
providing adult only gambling facilities should 
seek proof of age from anybody who appears 
to be under the age of 21. The policy should 
create a culture of expectation that in premises 
providing adult only gaming facilities, proof of 
age should either be offered or produced on 
demand and that this should be the norm as 
far as access to over 18 gambling is 
concerned.

Whilst supporting the Think 21 Scheme the 
Licensing Authority recognises that some 
premises may wish to go a step further by 
introducing a Think 25 Scheme.

13.  Test Purchasing

This Authority may undertake covert test 
purchasing exercises in order to check 
compliance with the requirement that under 
18s do not access ‘adult only’ gambling 
facilities. This exercise would be in response 
to concerns about underage gambling 
vulnerabilities in particular sub-sectors of the 
gambling industry. Under the terms of the 
Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions 
and Codes of Practice operators must monitor 
the effectiveness of their policies and 
procedures for preventing underage access to 
gambling premises and products. At the time 
of the drafting of this policy certain sub-sectors 
of the gambling industry had not provided the 
Gambling Commission with any assurances 
that this was happening. Those sub-sectors 
are, broadly, the small and medium-sized 
Betting Premises, Adult Gaming Centres and 
Family Entertainment Centres.

There are also no assurances in relation to 
Category C gaming machines in alcohol 
licensed premises to which under 18s have 
access. With this in mind this Authority intends 
to include Alcohol Licensed Premises with 
Category C gaming machines as being 
appropriate for test purchasing – this being in 
order to monitor the effectiveness of their 
policies and procedures for preventing 
underage access to gambling products.

There are a number of steps which this 
Authority would recommend to operators in 
order to prevent underage access and monitor 
the effectiveness of their policies. These steps 
include the adoption of a Think 21 Policy and 
the use of third party test purchasing in order 
to test the effectiveness of the Think 21 Policy. 
Further recommended steps can be found in 
the Premises Sections and the Safeguarding 
Children Section of this policy document.

14.  Credit Facilities

Credit facilities are prohibited from being 
provided in casinos and bingo licensed 
premises. Cash machines (ATMs) may be 
installed in such premises but the Licensing 
Authority may apply conditions as to where 
they are sited.

15.  Local Risk Assessments

116



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

21

It is a requirement of the Gambling 
Commission’s Licence Conditions and 
Codes of Practice (LCCP) for licensees to 
assess the local risks to the licensing 
objectives posed by the provision of 
gambling facilities at their premises and 
have policies, procedures and control 
measures to mitigate those risks. In making 
risk assessments, licensees must take into 
account relevant matters identified in this 
policy document.

The LCCP goes on to say licensees must 
review (and update as necessary) their local 
risk assessments:

i. to take account of significant changes 
in local circumstance, including those 
identified in this policy;

ii. when there are significant changes at a 
licensee’s premises that may affect 
their mitigation of local risks;

iii. when applying for a variation of a 
premises licence.

In addition, operators must undertake a Local 
Risk Assessment when applying for a new 
premises licence.

The Local Risk Assessment should indicate 
the provision of gambling facilities at each 
individual premises, and set out the policies, 
procedures and control measures that the 
operator has in place to mitigate those risks.

This Authority will expect that the manager 
of the gambling premises in question (and 
wherever possible the local staff) are 
involved in the formulation of the local risk 
assessment. It is also expected that a copy of 
the finalised local risk assessment will be 
kept at the gambling premises in question 
and be made available to staff (and 
inspecting officers) at all times.

This Authority will expect the local risk 
assessment to consider as a minimum:

i. whether the premises is in an area of 
deprivation;

ii. whether the premises is in an area 
subject to high levels of crime and/or 
disorder;

iii. the demographics of the area in relation 
to vulnerable groups;

iv. the location of services for children such 
as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, 
leisure centres and other areas where 
children will gather;

v. significant presence of young children, 
both residents and visitors;

vi. high unemployment area;
vii. nearby  homeless hostels;
viii. nearby gambling, alcohol, drug or 

mental health support facilities;
ix. the area has a high number of rough 

sleepers/homeless people;
x. the area has a specific ethnic 

population;
xi. pawn broker/pay day loan businesses in 

the vicinity;
xii. other gambling premises in the vicinity.

The local risk assessment should show how 
vulnerable people, including people with 
gambling dependencies, are protected.

Other matters that the assessment may 
include:

i. The training of staff in brief intervention 
when customers show signs of excessive 
gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief 
intervention and how the   manning of 
premises affects this.

ii. Details as to the location and coverage of 
working CCTV cameras, and how the 
system will be monitored.

iii. The layout of the premises so that staff 
have an unobstructed view of persons 
using the premises. 

iv. The number of staff that will be available 
on the premises at any one time. If at any 
time that number is one, confirm the 
supervisory and monitoring arrangements 
when that person is absent from the 
licensed area or distracted from 
supervising the premises and observing 
those persons using the premises.

v. Arrangements for monitoring and dealing 
with under age persons and vulnerable 
persons, which may include dedicated and 
trained personnel, leaflets, posters, self-
exclusion schemes, window  displays and 
advertisements not to entice passers-by, 
etc.

vi. The provision of signage and documents 
relating to games rules, gambling care 
providers and other relevant information be 
provided in both English and the other 
prominent first language for that locality.

vii. Where the application is for a betting 
premises licence, other than in respect of a 
track, the location and extent of any part of 
the premises which will be used to provide 
facilities for gambling in reliance on the 
licence.

117



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

22

Such information may be used to inform the 
decision the Licensing Authority makes about 
whether to grant the licence, to grant the 
licence with special conditions or to refuse the 
application.

This policy does not preclude any application 
being made and each application will be 
decided on its own merits, with the onus being 
upon the applicant to show how the concerns 
can be overcome.

A copy of the Local Risk Assessment should 
be submitted   to the Licensing Authority when 
an operator applies for a new gambling 
premises licence or a variation to an existing 
premises licence. The Local Risk Assessment 
should also be presented at such other time as 
the Licensing Authority may require (e.g. 
during the annual premises compliance 
check).

Other than at the time of applications and 
annual compliance checks, this Authority 
may also require risk assessments to be 
submitted (or revisited) when there has been 
a significant change in local circumstances 
or at a particular premise that might affect the 
mitigation of local risk.

16.  Local Area Profile

The Gambling Commission Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities includes a 
recommendation for Local Authorities to 
produce a Local Area Profile. The purpose of 
a Local Area Profile being a means of 
“mapping out” local areas of concern 
surrounding the licensing objectives under 
the Gambling Act 2005.

There is no legal requirement upon Licensing 
Authorities to prepare a Local Area Profile, but 
the Gambling Commission is strongly 
encouraging Authorities along this route. 
Where an Authority does prepare a Local Area 
Profile, gambling operators will need to take it 
into account in preparing their own Local Risk 
Assessments for their gambling premises.

This Authority is currently working towards 
producing a Local Area Profile. Our aim is that 
the Local Area Profile will take account of a 
wide range of factors, data and information 
available to the Authority and its partner 
agencies, such as the Police, public health, 
housing and education bodies, community 

welfare groups and safety partnerships and 
organisations.

The aim of the Local Area Profile will be to 
increase awareness of local risk. An area will 
be identified as high risk, for example, because 
of its proximity to a school, youth centre, hostel 
or rehabilitation centre.

118



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

23

PART C
Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices

Note for information: The Gambling Act 2005 
introduced a range of permits for gambling.  
Permits are required when premises provide a 
gambling facility but either the stakes and 
prizes are very low or gambling is not the main 
function of the premises.

The permits regulate gambling and the use of 
gaming machines in a specific premises. The 
Licensing Authority may only grant or reject an 
application for a permit and cannot impose or 
attach any conditions. There are different 
considerations to be taken into account when 
considering the different types of permit 
applications. Where a permit is granted, the 
Licensing Authority will issue the permit as 
soon as is reasonably practicable.

1.  Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permits (Statement of 
Principles on Permits – 
Schedule 10, Para 7

Where premises do not hold a premises 
licence but wishes to provide Category D 
gaming machines, it may apply to the 
Licensing Authority for this permit.  It should 
be noted that the applicant must show that the 
premises will be wholly or mainly used for 
making gaming machines available for use 

The Licensing Authority is satisfied that the 
premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, 
and if the Chief 

Officer of Police has been consulted on the 
application.  Licensing Authorities might wish 
to consider asking applicants to demonstrate:

i. a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs;

ii. That staff are trained to have a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes.

iii. The applicant’s previous history and 
experience of running similar premises.

iv. Applicants must produce a Basic 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 
check dated within one calendar month 
of the date of the application being 
submitted to the Licensing Authority. The 
Disclosure will reveal the existence and 
content of any criminal record (not spent 
under the terms of the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act) held in the name of the 
applicant.

Where an applicant provides evidence that he 
has an Operating Licence and has as a result 
undergone rigorous checks by the Gambling 
Commission, then a DBS check will not 
normally be required.

When considering any convictions revealed in 
an application the Licensing Authority will 
consider the nature and relevance of the 
offence, how long ago the offence took place 
and any other factors that may be relevant. 
The application will be subject to the terms of 
the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act and ‘spent’ 
convictions may not be referred to when 
considering the permit application. The 
application process will make specific 
reference to the Relevant Offences listed in 
Schedule 8 to the Gambling Act 2005.

It should be noted that a Licensing Authority 
cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

Statement of Principles

As these premises are open to children and 
young persons, the Licensing Authority will 
require additional information when an 
applicant applies for this Permit, as follows:

i. A scaled plan of the premises indicating 
the location of Category D machines, 
Automated Teller Machines and any 
appropriate notices that are to be 
displayed;

ii. The approximate number of Category D 
machines that will be provided;

iii. Evidence that applicants have a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes that are permissible;

iv. Evidence that staff are trained to have a 
full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes that are permissible;

119



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

24

v. A Basic Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) check dated within one calendar 
month of the date of the application being 
submitted to the Licensing Authority 
(unless the applicant holds a current 
Operator’s Licence issued by the 
Gambling Commission);

vi. Evidence of staff training by way of a 
Premises Log Book which should be 
signed and dated by staff to prove that 
training has been undertaken and 
understood;

vii. Training for staff as regards dealing with 
suspected truant school children on the 
premises;

viii. Policies and procedures in place to 
protect children from harm. Harm in this 
case is not limited to harm from gambling 
but includes wider child protection 
considerations (including safeguarding 
issues). The efficiency of such policies 
and procedures will each be considered 
on their merits, however, they may 
include appropriate measures such as 
training, covering how staff would deal 
with unsupervised very young children 
being on the premises or children 
causing perceived problems in or around 
the premises;

ix. The amount of space around gaming 
machines to prevent jostling of players or 
intimidation;

x. Details of opening hours;
xi. Approximate numbers of staff employed.

Where an applicant fails to comply with the 
above requirements, the Licensing Authority 
may refuse the application. Where there is 
reason for such a refusal, the Licensing 
Authority will notify the applicant of its intention 
to refuse and the reasons for the refusal. The 
applicant will then have an opportunity to make 
representations orally, in writing or both and will 
have a right of appeal against any decision 
made.

With regard to renewal applications, the 
Licensing Authority may refuse an application 
for renewal of a permit only on the grounds that 
an authorised Local Authority Officer has been 
refused access to the premises without 
reasonable excuse, or that renewal would not 
be reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
Licensing Objectives.

Where the Permit has been granted the 
Licensing Authority will issue the permit as 
soon as is reasonably practicable and in any 
event in line with the Regulations issued by the 
Secretary of State. The permit will then remain 
in effect for 10 years unless surrendered or 
lapsed. Applicants and permit holders are 
reminded that there is no provision within the 
Gambling Act 2005 and associated regulations 
which enable the transfer of a permit from one 
person to another. The Licensing Authority 
recommends that applicants for unlicensed 
FEC Permits consider adopting BACTA’s 
voluntary Code of Practice for Amusement with 
Prizes Machines in Family Entertainment 
Centres.  This Code of Practice promotes 
awareness of social responsibility and 
acknowledges that proactive specific and 
appropriate commitment will be given to 
educating children and young persons, 
thereby minimising the potential for harm.

2.  (Alcohol) Licensing Premises 
Gaming Machine Permits and 
Notifications (Schedule 13, Paragraph 
4(1))

Automatic Entitlement:  Two machines

There is provision in the Act for premises 
licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 
premises, to automatically have two gaming 
machines, of categories C and/or D.  The 
premises merely need to notify the Licensing 
Authority and pay the prescribed fee.

The Licensing Authority however, can remove 
the automatic authorisation in respect of any 
particular premises if:

i. provision of the machines is not 
reasonably consistent with the pursuit of 
the licensing objectives;

ii. gaming has taken place on the premises 
that breaches a condition of Section 282 
of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written 
notice has been provided to the 
Licensing Authority, that a fee has been 
provided and that any relevant Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine has been 
complied with);

iii. the premises are mainly used for 
gaming;  or

120



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

25

iv. an offence under the Gambling Act has 
been committed on the premises

Permits:  Three or more machines

If a premises wishes to have more than two 
machines, then it needs to apply for a permit 
and the Licensing Authority must consider that 
application based upon the licensing 
objectives, any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission issued under Section 
25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such 
matters as they think relevant”.  The Licensing 
Authority considers that “such matters” will be 
decided on a case by case basis but generally 
there will be regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or 
being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the Authority that there 
will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the 
adult only gaming machines.  Measures which 
will satisfy the Authority that there will be no 
access may include the adult machines being 
in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who 
will monitor that the machines are not being 
used by those under 18.  Notices and signage 
may also be help.  As regards the protection 
of vulnerable persons applicants may wish to 
consider the provision of information leaflets 
and helpline numbers for organisations such 
as GamCare.

It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed 
premises may apply for a premises licence for 
their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such 
application would most likely need to be 
applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming 
Centre premises licence.

It should be noted that the Licensing Authority 
can decide to grant the application with a 
smaller number of machines and/or a different 
category of machines than that applied for.  
Conditions (other than these) cannot be 
attached.

It should also be noted that the holder of a 
permit must comply with any Code of Practice 
issued by the Gambling Commission about 
the location and operation of the machine.
Gaming in alcohol-licensed premises - The 
Licensing Authority recognises that low level 
gaming may take place in alcohol-licensed 
premises. Exempt gaming being equal chance 
gaming that should be ancillary to the 
purposes of the premises. This gaming, 
however, is subject to statutory stakes and 
prize limits determined by the Secretary of 

State. A nominated gaming supervisor should 
therefore supervise gaming in alcohol-licensed 
premises, (i.e. the Designated Premises 
Supervisor (DPS)) and all gaming should 
comply with the Codes of Practice issued by 
the Gambling Commission. As there is likely to 
be limited regulatory scrutiny of gaming 
provided in these premises, the Licensing 
Authority expects the applicant to be aware of 
and adopt these Codes of Practice and to 
ensure that all gaming in such premises is 
suitably managed.

3.  Prize Gaming Permits

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing 
Authority may “prepare a Statement of 
Principles that they propose to apply in 
exercising their functions under this schedule” 
which “may, in particular, specify matters that 
the Licensing Authority propose to consider in 
determining the suitability of the applicant for 
a permit”.

The Licensing Authority will require detailed 
information when an applicant applies for this 
Permit, as follows:

i. A scaled plan of the premises indicating 
the location of the machines, other prize 
gaming facilities, etc., and any 
appropriate notices that are to be 
displayed;

ii. Evidence that staff are trained to have a 
full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes that are permissible;

iii. that they understand the limits to stakes 
and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations;

iv. and that the gaming offered is within the 
law.

v. Clear polices that outline steps to be 
taken to protect children from harm.

vi. A Basic Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) check dated within one calendar 
month of the date of the application being 
submitted to the Licensing Authority 
(unless the applicant holds a current 
Operator’s Licence issued by the 
Gambling Commission);

vii. Evidence of staff training by way of a 
Premises Log Book which should be 
signed and dated by staff to prove that 
training has been undertaken and 
understood;

viii. The amount of space around gaming 
machines to prevent jostling of players or 

PART C

121



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

26

intimidation;
ix. Details of opening hours;
x. Approximate numbers of staff employed.

Where an applicant provides evidence that he 
has an Operating Licence and has as a result 
undergone rigorous checks by the Gambling 
Commission, then a DBS check will not 
normally be required.

When considering any convictions revealed in 
an application the Licensing Authority will 
consider the nature and relevance of the 
offence, how long ago the offence took place 
and any other factors, which may be relevant. 
The application will be subject to the terms of 
the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act and ‘spent’ 
convictions may not be referred to when 
considering the permit application. The 
application process will make specific 
reference to the Relevant Offences listed in 
Schedule 8 to the Gambling Act 2005.

In making its decision on an application for this 
permit, the Licensing Authority does not need 
to have regard to the Licensing Objectives and 
will take into account, after consultation, any 
objections that the Police may wish to make 
whether relevant to the Licensing Objectives. 
The grounds for decision making as regards 
renewals are the same as for initial 
applications.

Where the Licensing Authority intends to 
refuse the application for a permit, it will notify 
the applicant of its intention to refuse it stating 
the reasons and offering the applicant an 
opportunity to make representations orally or in 
writing or both.

Where an application is granted the Licensing 
Authority will issue it as soon as is reasonably 
practicable.

It should be noted that there are conditions in 
the Gambling Act 2005 by which the permit 
holder must comply, but that the Licensing 
Authority cannot attach conditions.  The 
conditions in the Act are:

i. the limits on participation fees, as set out 
in Regulations, must be complied with;

ii. all chances to participate in the gaming 
must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on 
one day; the game must be played and 
completed on the day the chances are 
allocated; and the result of the game 
must be made public in the premises on 

the day that it is played;
iii. the prize for which the game is played 

must not exceed the amount set out in 
Regulations (if a money prize), or the 
prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); 
and

iv. participation in the gaming must not 
entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.

4.  Club Gaming and Club Machine 
Permits

Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes 
(but not commercial clubs) may apply for a 
Club Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming 
Machine Permit (Commercial Clubs cannot 
apply for a Club Gaming Permit).  The Club 
Gaming Permit will enable the premises to 
provide gaming machines (three machines of 
categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming 
and games of chance as set out in 
Regulations.  A Club Gaming Machine Permit 
will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (three machines of categories B, C 
or D).

Gambling Commission guidance states:

Members’ clubs must have at least 25 
members and be established and conducted 
‘wholly or mainly’ for purposes other than 
gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by 
separate Regulations.  The Secretary of State 
has made such Regulations and these cover 
bridge and whist clubs.  A members’ club 
must be permanent in nature and established 
and conducted for the benefit of its members 
and not as a commercial enterprise.  
Examples include working men’s clubs, 
branches of the Royal British Legion and clubs 
with political affiliations.

The Commission Guidance also notes that 
Licensing Authorities may only refuse an 
application on the grounds that:

i. for a club gaming permit:  the applicant 
is not a members’ club or miners’ 
welfare institute

ii. for a club machine permit:  the applicant 
is not a members’ club, miners’ welfare 
institute or commercial club 

iii. the premises are used by children 
and/or young persons 

iv. an offence or a breach of a permit has 
been committed by an applicant 

122



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

27

v. a permit held by the applicant has been 
cancelled in the previous ten years 

vi. an objection has been lodged by the 
Gambling Commission or the police.

The Licensing Authority recognises that there 
is a ‘fast track’ procedure for premises holding 
a Club Premises Certificate under the 
Licensing Act 2003 and that there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the 
Commission or the Police and the grounds 
upon which the Licensing Authority can refuse 
a permit are reduced.

The grounds on which an application under 
the process may be refused are:

i. that the club is established primarily for 
gaming, other than gaming prescribed 
under Schedule 12;

that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the 

ii. applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming; or

iii. that a club gaming permit or club 
machine permit issued to the applicant 
in the last ten years has been cancelled.

There are statutory conditions on club gaming 
permits that no child uses a category B or C 
machine on the premises and that the holder 
complies with any relevant provision of a Code 
of Practice about the location and operation of 
gaming machines.

Licensing Act 2003: Review of a Club 
Premises Certificate or a Premises Licence for 
a Commercial Club – Where the Licensing 
Authority is considering the review of a Club 
Premises Certificate or a Premises Licence, 
and that club holds a Club Gaming or Club 
Machine Permit, the Licensing Authority may, 
where appropriate, at the same time decide to 
review the status of the permit.

5.  Temporary Use Notices

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of 
premises for gambling where there is no 
premises licence but where a gambling 
operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for 
gambling.  Premises that might be suitable for 
a Temporary Use Notice, according to the 
Gambling Commission, would include hotels, 
conference centres and sporting venues.

The Licensing Authority can only grant a 
Temporary Use Notice to a person or company 
holding a relevant operating licence i.e. a non-
remote casino operating licence.

There are a number of statutory limits as 
regards Temporary Use Notices.  

Section 218 of the Act refers to a ‘set of 
premises’ and provides that a set of premises 
is the subject of a temporary use notice if ‘any 
part’ of the premises is the subject of a notice. 
The reference to a ‘set of premises’ prevents 
one large premise from having a temporary 
use notice in effect for more than 21 days in a 
year by giving notification in relation to different 
parts of the premises and re-setting the clock. 
The Licensing Authority will decide what 
constitutes a ‘set of premises’ where 
Temporary Use Notices are received relating 
to the same building/site.

In considering whether a place falls within the 
definition of a ‘set of premises’ the Licensing 
Authority will look at the ownership/occupation 
and control of the premises and the Licensing 
Authority will consider whether different units 
are in fact different ‘sets of premises’. An 
example would be a large exhibition centre 
with different exhibition halls. This would be 
considered properly as one premise and would 
not be granted a temporary use notice for each 
of its exhibition halls.

The Licensing Authority expects to object to 
notices where it appears that their effect would 
be to permit regular gambling in a place that 
could be described as one set of premises, as 
recommended in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

6.  Occasional Use Notices

An Occasional Use Notice may be used where 

123



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

28

there is betting on a track on 8 days or less in 
a calendar year. The OUN dispenses with the 
need for a Betting Premises Licence for a track 
and the Licensing Authority will maintain a 
register of all applications.

Tracks are normally thought of as permanent 
race courses, but the meaning of track not only 
covers horse racecourses or dog tracks, but 
also any other premises on any part of which a 
race or other sporting event takes place or is 
intended to take place. Although the track 
need not be a permanent fixture, land used 
temporarily as a track providing races or 
sporting events may qualify. The Licensing 
Authority will, however, consider what 
constitutes a ‘track’ on a case-by-case basis 
and will ensure that the statutory limit of 8 days 
in a calendar year is not exceeded.

7.  Small Society Lotteries

The Licensing Authority registers and deals 
with Small Society Lotteries.  Promoting or 
facilitating a lottery falls within one of the 
following categories:

i. Licensed Lotteries (requiring an 
Operating Licence from the Gambling 
Commission);

ii. Small Society Lotteries (registered with 
the Licensing Authority); and

iii. Exempt Lotteries

Lotteries permitted to be conducted without a 
licence from the Gambling Commission and 
these are:

i. Small Society Lotteries (registered with 
the Licensing Authority);

ii. Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries;
iii. Private Lotteries:  (Private Society 

Lottery, Work Lottery, Residents’ 
Lottery);

iv. Customer Lotteries

Societies may organise lotteries if they are 
licensed by the Gambling Commission, 
registered with the Licensing Authority or fall 
within the exempt category.  The Licensing 
Authority recommends those seeking to run 
lotteries take their own legal advice on which 
type of lottery category they fall within.  
However, guidance notes with regard to all 
lotteries, limits placed on small society 
lotteries and information setting out financial 
limits is available by referring to the Gambling 

Commission website:   
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

Applicants for lottery licences must apply to 
the Licensing Authority in the area where their 
principal office is located.  Where the 
Licensing Authority believes that the Society’s 
principal office is situated in another area it will 
inform the Society as soon as possible and 
where possible, will inform the other Licensing 
Authority.

The Licensing Authority will keep a Public 
Register of all applications and will provide 
information to the Gambling Commission on 
all lotteries registered by the Licensing 
Authority.  As soon as the entry on the Register 
is completed, the Licensing Authority will notify 
the applicant of registration.

The Licensing Authority will ask applicants to 
set out the purposes for which the Society is 
established and will ask the Society to declare 
that they represent a bona fide non-
commercial society and have no relevant 
convictions.  The Licensing Authority may 
seek further information from the Society and 
in particular may require a copy of the 
Society’s constitution.

Where the Licensing Authority intends to 
refuse registration of a Society, it will give the 
Society an opportunity to make 
representations and will inform the Society of 
the reasons why it is minded to refuse 
registration and supply evidence on which it 
has reached that preliminary conclusion.

The Licensing Authority may revoke the 
registered status of a Society if it thinks that 
they would have had to, or would be entitled 
to, refuse an application for registration if it 
were being made at that time.  However, no 
revocations will take place unless the Society 
has been given the opportunity to make 
representations.  The Licensing Authority will 
inform the Society of the reasons why it is 
minded to revoke the registration and will 
provide an outline of the evidence on which it 
has reached that preliminary conclusion.

124



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

29

With regards to where Small Society Lottery 
tickets may be sold, the Licensing Authority 
applies the following guidance criteria to all 
Small Society Lotteries it registers:

i. tickets should not be sold in a street.  
Street includes any bridge, road, lane, 
footway, subway, square, court or 
passage (including passages through 
enclosed premises such as shopping 
malls); and

ii. tickets may be sold from a kiosk, in a 
shop or door-to-door.

This approach is consistent with the operating 
licence conditions imposed by the Gambling 
Commission upon operators of large lotteries.

8.  Review

This Policy (Statement of Principles) will 
remain in existence for a period of three years. 
However, following consultation, the Licensing 
Authority may make revisions to it as deemed 
necessary.

Delegated Powers - Decisions on all licensing 
matters will be taken in accordance with an 
approved scheme of delegation, as attached at 
Appendix 1. This is aimed at underlining the 
principles of timely, efficient and effective 
decision-making.

Inspection and Enforcement - In respect of 
compliance the Licensing Authority will take 
the lead in ensuring compliance with the 
licence and any relevant Codes of Practice. 
The Gambling Commission will be the 
enforcement body for the Operator and 
Personal Licences and illegal gambling. 
Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair 
of gaming machines will not be dealt with by 
the Licensing Authority but information will be 
passed on to the Gambling Commission where 
such concerns are found.

In order to ensure compliance with the law, the 
Licensing Authority will prepare a risk based 
Inspection Programme and will carry out 
regular ‘routine’ programmed inspections, 
based on risk assessment in the categories 
High, Medium and Low and may also carry out 
‘non routine’ inspections.

Where one off events are taking place under a 
Temporary Use Notice (TUN) or Occasional 
Use Notice (OUN), the Licensing Authority 
may also carry out inspections to ensure the 
Licensing Objectives are being promoted.

High-risk premises are those premises that 
have a history of complaints and require 
greater attention with low risk premises 
needing only a lighter touch so that resources 
are effectively concentrated on problem 
premises.

9.  Glossary

A glossary of terms is attached at Appendix 3.

PART C

125



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

30

PART D
Appendices

Appendix 1
Summary of Licensing Authority 
Delegations Permitted Under the 
Gambling Act

Gambling Act 2005 - Scheme of Delegations

1. The power of the Licensing Authority 

i. as a responsible authority, to make 
representations in respect of premises licences 
under Part 8 of the Act;

ii. to propose to attach a condition to a premises 
licence in accordance with Section 169(1)(a) of 
the Act in addition to the mandatory or default 
conditions;

iii. to propose the exclusion of a default condition 
from a premises licence under S169(1)(b) of the 
Act;

iv. as a Responsible Authority, to request a review 
of a premises licence under sections 197 or 200 
of the Act;

v. to give a notice of objection to a temporary use 
notice under S221 of the Act;

vi. to serve notification of intended refusal of any of 
the following:

a. Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permit (Sch 10 Para 10)

b. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 Para 11)
c. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 

(Sch 13 Para 6)
d. And also, in the latter case, notice of 

intention to grant the application but for a 
smaller number of machines than specified 
and/or a different category of machines from 
that specified in the application.

vii. Serve notification of lapse of a Family 
Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permit 
(Sch 10 Para 14 and 15 (1)(b));

i. Serve notice of intention to cancel or vary any of 
the following:

a. Club Gaming permit or Club Gaming 
Machine permit (Sch 12 Para 21)

b. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine permits 
(Sch 13 Para 16)

ii. create and amend the Authority’s application 
procedures in relation to applications for the 
following in accordance with any relevant 
legislation:

a. Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permits (sch10 paras 5 and 7)

b. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 
(Sch 13 Para 2)

c. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 paras 6 and 
8); and

iii. to appoint authorised persons under s 304 of the 
Act

iv. determine that any representations received 
under Part 8 of the Act are vexatious, frivolous, or 
certainly will not influence the Authority’s 
determination of an application; and

v. reject all or part of any application for a review of 
a premises licence in accordance with Section 
198 of the Act

2. In relation to the following matters in the attached 
table the Authority will, in the majority of cases, 
adhere to the table of delegated functions set out 
below.  This table indicates the lowest level of the 
Authority which will normally exercise the 
Delegation though the Authority reserves the 
right, where appropriate, for any particular matter 
to be dealt with at a higher level whilst having due 
regard to statutory requirements.  For example, 
an Officer may choose not to exercise their 
delegated power and refer the matter to the Sub-
Committee or the Sub-Committee itself may 
choose to refer the matter to the Full Committee.

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-Committee of Licensing Committee Authorised Officer 
of the Council

Final approval of three year 
Licensing Statement of 
Principles

x

126



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

31

Statement of Principles not to 
permit casinos x
Fee setting (when 
appropriate) x
Application for premises 
licenses (including 
application for reinstatement 
under S195)

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn (S154 (4)(a))

and/or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under S169 
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under 
section 169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any 
persons making representations agree to this course 
of action and that a hearing is unnecessary

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

The only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a variation to a 
licence

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn (S154 (4)(b)) 

and/or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under S169 
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under 
S169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any persons 
making representations agree to this course of action 
and that a hearing is unnecessary (S187(3))

If the application for a variation is to remove a default 
condition and there are no reps and there are no 
proposals by the Authority to otherwise alter the 
conditions this could be dealt with at officer level 
without a hearing

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

The only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a transfer of a 
licence

Where representations have been received from the 
Commission S154 (4)(c)

Representations made and not withdrawn under S161

Where no 
representations received 
from the Commission

Including cases where 
the only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application

Application for a provisional 
statement

Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn S154 (4)(d) 

and/or

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under 
S169(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded 
under S169(1)(b)

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn

Revocation of a premises 
licence due to non-payment 
of an annual fee S193

x

127



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

32

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-Committee of Licensing Committee Authorised Officer 
of the Council

Review of a premises licence x
Application for club 
gaming/club machine 
permits, renewals and 
variations (including those 
leading to cancellation of 
permit) under Sch12 para 15

Where objections have been made and not withdrawn 
(Sch 12 Para 28(2))

Refusal of permit proposed on the grounds listed in 
Sch12 para 6(1)(a)-(d), or para 10(3) as applicable 
unless Authority and all relevant parties agree that a 
hearing is unnecessary (Sch 12 para 7)

Where no objections 
made/objections have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club 
gaming/club machine permits 
Sch12 para 21

x
Applications for other permits, 
registrations and notifications

Where the officer serves notice of intention of refusal 
and representations are received or proposals to 
grant for lesser number of machines than applied for x

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits Sch 13 para 16

x
Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits for non-payment of 
fee

x

Consideration of Temporary 
Use Notice (including notices 
modified under S223)

Where an objection notice has been received unless 
each person who would be entitled to make 
representations agrees that a hearing is unnecessary

All cases where a counter notice may be required
(S232(3))

x

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a Temporary Use 
Notice

x
Registration of small society 
lotteries

Where officers believe there is a reason to refuse the 
application for registration x

Cancellation of a small 
society lottery due to 
nonpayment of annual fee

x

X Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated.

128



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

33

Appendix 2
Breckland Council
Statement of Gambling Statement of 
Principles – Gambling Act 2005 
Responsible Authorities and 
Consultees

Persons consulted:

 Parish Councils
 Norfolk Police
 Norfolk Trading Standards
 Norfolk Fire and Rescue 
 Norfolk Safeguarding Children Board
 Breckland Planning Department
 MP
 Alcoholics Anonymous
 Gamblers Anonymous
 Gamcare
 Citizens Advice Bureaux
 Shine Mental Health Services
 Mencap
 MIND (Mental Health Charity)
 BACTA (British Amusement Catering Trade 

Association)
 Bingo Association
 British Bookmakers
 British Beer & Pub Association
 British Institute of Innkeeping 
 Other Norfolk District Councils
 Breckland Council Environmental Health
 Adult Gaming Centre, Family Entertainment 

Centre and Bingo premises licence holders 
within Breckland

 Gambling Commission

In addition a copy of the consultation document 
was placed on the Council’s website during the 
consultation period

129



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

34

Appendix 3
Glossary of Terms Under the 
Gambling Act 2005

Council Breckland Council

Applications
Applications for licences and 
permits as stated in the 
Statement of Principles

Notification Notifications of Temporary and 
Occasional Use Notices

Act The Gambling Act 2005

Regulation Regulations made under the 
Gambling Act 2005

Premises Any place, including a vehicle, 
vessel or moveable structure

Premises 
Licence

Issued by the Licensing 
Authority to authorize 
premises to be used for the 
activities as defined by Section 
150 of the Gambling Act

Operator 
Licence

Issued by the Gambling 
Commission to organisations 
and individuals who are 
providing facilities for 
gambling as defined by 
Section 65 of the Gambling Act

Personal 
Licence

Issued by the Gambling 
Commission to certain 
categories of people working 
in the gambling industry as 
defined by Section 127 of the 
Gambling Act

Family 
Entertainment 
Centre

The Act creates two classes of 
Family Entertainment Centres 
– 

Licensed:  which provide 
category C and D gaming 
machines and require a 
premises licence.

Unlicensed:  which provide 
category D gaming machines 
in reliance on a Gaming 
Machine Permit.

Adult Gaming Premises which provide 

Centre category B, C and D gaming 
machines and require an 
operating licence and a 
premises licence

Gaming 
machine

A machine which is designed or 
adapted for use by individuals 
to gamble as defined by 
Section 235 of the Gambling 
Act

Money prize 
machine

A machine in respect of which 
every prize which can be won 
as a result of using the machine 
is a money prize as defined in 
Regulation 3(7) of the 
Categories of Gaming Machine 
(Amendment) Regulations 
2009.  Maximum stake 10p and 
the maximum prize must be no 
more than £5

Non-money 
prize machine

A machine in respect of which 
every prize which can be won 
as a result of using the machine 
is a non-money prize as defined 
in Regulation 3(7) of the 
Categories of Gaming Machine 
(Amendment) Regulations 
2009.  For non-money prize 
machines in general, the 
maximum stake (charge for 
use) must be no more than 30 
pence, and the maximum prize 
value must be no more than £8.

Crane grab 
machine

A crane grab machine is 
defined as a non-money prize 
machine in respect of which two 
conditions are satisfied.  The 
first is that every prize which 
can be won as a result of using 
the machine consists of an 
individual physical object (such 
as a stuffed toy).

The second is that whether or 
not a person using the machine 
wins a prize is determined by the 
person’s success or failure in 
manipulating a device forming 
part of the machine so as to 
separate and keep separate one 

130



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

35

or more physical objects from a 
group of such objects.  The 
maximum stake may be 
anything up to and including £1, 
and the maximum prize value 
may be anything up to and 
including £50

Coin pusher or 
penny fall 
machine

These machines are commonly 
found in seaside arcades and 
are defined in Regulation 2(3) 
of the Categories of Gaming 
Machine Regulations 2007 with 
the additional requirement that 
the machine be neither a 
money-prize nor a non-money 
prize machine.  The maximum 
stake may be anything up to 
and including 20 pence, and 
the maximum prize value may 
be anything up to and including 
£20 (of which no more than £10 
may be a money prize).

Categories of 
gaming machine

A Maximum Stake:  unlimited 
Maximum Prize:  unlimited

B1 Maximum Stake:  £5
Maximum Prize:  £10,000

B2 Maximum Stake:  £100 
Maximum Prize:  £500

B3 Maximum Stake:  £2
Maximum Prize:  £500

B4 Maximum Stake:  £2
Maximum Prize:  £400

C Maximum Stake:  £1
Maximum Prize:  £100

D Maximum Stake:  10p or 
30p when non-monetary 
prize 
Maximum Prize:  £5 cash 
or £8 non-monetary prize

Betting machine 
remote

A machine designed or adapted 
for use to bet on future real 
events as defined by Section 
235(2) (c) of the Gambling Act

Gambling 
remote

Gambling in which persons 
participate by the use of remote 
communication as defined by 
Section 4 of the Gambling Act

Communication
Communication using - 

The internet 
Telephone 
Television

Radio, or
Any other type of 
electronic or other 
technology as defined 
by Section 4(2) of the 
Gambling Act.

Travelling fair

A fair wholly or principally 
providing amusements and that 
has been provided wholly or 
principally by persons who 
travel from place to place for the 
purpose of providing fairs, and 
on a site used for fairs for no 
more than 27 days per calendar 
year

As defined by Section 286 of 
the Gambling Act

Code of Practice
Means any relevant Code of 
Practice under Section 24 of 
the Gambling Act 2005

Responsible 
Authority

For the purposes of this Act, the 
following are responsible 
authorities in relation to 
premises:

i. The Licensing 
Authority in whose 
area the premises are 
wholly or mainly 
situated (Breckland 
District Council);

ii. The Gambling 
Commission;

iii. Breckland Police;

iv. Breckland Fire and 
Rescue;

v. Planning Department, 
Breckland Council;

vi. Public Protection 
Manager, Breckland 
Council

vii. Norfolk Safeguarding 
Children Board, 
Norfolk County 
Council;

viii. HM Revenue and 
Customs.

ix. Any other person/body 
prescribed by 
Regulations.

131



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

36

Interested party

For the purposes of this Act, a 
person is an interested party in 
relation to a premises licence if, 
in the opinion of the Licensing 
Authority which issues the 
licence or to which the 
application is made, the 
person:

i. Lives sufficiently close 
to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by 
the authorised 
activities;

ii. Has business interests 
that might be affected 
by the authorised 
activities;

iii. Represents persons 
who satisfy i) or ii) 
above.

Vulnerable 
persons

Whilst there is no statutory 
definition this authority 
considers that this group 
includes people who gamble 
more than they want to;  people 
who gamble beyond their 
means;  and people who may 
not be able to make informed or 
balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental 
impairment, alcohol or drugs.

Disorder

An angry, possibly violent, 
expression of dissatisfaction by 
an individual(s) or crowd of 
people.  Linked with the crime 
and disorder licensing 
objective.

Nuisance

An activity or event which 
causes annoyance or 
disturbance to an affected 
individual(s).

Self-barring

A scheme to enable individuals 
to request exclusion from 
premises licensed for gambling 
activities.

132



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

3736

Appendix 4
Map of Breckland District

133



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

38

Appendix 5
Safeguarding Children

What are the risks to Children?

The risks will vary, depending on the type of 
gambling activities taking place at the premises. 
For example, at Adult Gaming Centres, Off-
Course (High Street) Betting Premises or 
Casinos, safeguarding systems should be in place 
to prevent young people gaining access to the 
premises.

If children are permitted access to adult gambling 
activities, they may be at risk of being:

i. exposed to information or advertisements 
encouraging them to gamble

ii. allowed, or invited, to gamble or bet in a 
commercial setting

iii. allowed to purchase and consume alcohol 
(casino premises)

iv. financially exploited.

They may also witness, or be involved in, other 
dangerous or threatening behaviour.

Managing the risks

To prevent children and young people accessing 
adult gambling activities, stringent safeguarding 
measures should be in place, examples of such 
measures could include:

i. the Challenge 25 scheme operated by all door 
and bar staff and only recognised proof of age 
accepted (for example photo driving licence or 
passport; PASS cards)

ii. all points of entry monitored by security 
staff/CCTV

iii. signage prominently displayed at all points of 
entry regarding the prohibition of under 18’s

iv. signage displayed on machines highlighting 
age restrictions

v. signage prominently displayed in bar areas 
regarding the law and the sale of alcohol

vi. operating a membership scheme
vii. all staff being trained to be vigilant and respond 

if a child gains illegal access to premises.

If a premises offers a range of gambling activities (for 
example, a licensed Family Entertainment Centre or 
Bingo Premises) premises must operate systems to 
ensure that under 18’s are prevented from accessing 
areas where adult activities (such as betting or high 
stakes gambling) take place; or where adult gaming 
machines are located.

The measures set out above should be used to help 
the public clearly identify from which areas children 
are prohibited.

If a premise offers a variety of activities, it may be 
necessary to operate the following systems:

i. designated family-friendly areas using 
physical barriers/cordons to segregate these 
from restricted areas

ii. points of access/egress located for easy 
supervision by staff and regularly monitored

iii. signage displayed to indicate access rules
iv. signage to remind parents/adults of their 

responsibilities
v. use of screens
vi. use of the Challenge 25 scheme
vii. assigning at least one member of staff as a 

‘Children’s Safeguarding Lead’
viii. Premises should ensure that the environment 

to which they allow children access is safe and 
suitable.

Action should be taken if adults demonstrate 
irresponsible behaviour, such as showing signs of 
intoxication, using strong or offensive language, 
threatening behaviour, or violence towards others or 
towards machinery.

Adults accompanying children should be 
encouraged to supervise them, to minimise the risk 
of children being exposed to inappropriate or 
dangerous behaviour or gaining access to prohibited 
areas of the premises.

The employment of children and 
young people

The Gambling Act 2005 does not prohibit the 
employment of children and young people at some 
premises.

However, it does restrict the type of tasks and 
areas to which children and young people may 
have access and it is important that premises 
comply with these restrictions, as failure to do so 
may result in committing an offence; for example, 
it is an offence to employ children and young 
people to provide facilities for gambling, or to 
perform a function in relation to a gaming machine, 
at any time.

Children should not be exposed to gambling as 
they carry out their employment functions.

134



Breckland Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005

39

Appendix 6
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults

The Gambling Commission puts a high priority on 
the social responsibilities operators have to 
protect vulnerable adults from the harm 
associated with gambling; and policies must be in 
place to support the protection of vulnerable 
adults.

Who is a vulnerable adult?

Adults may be vulnerable if, for example, they are 
taking certain types of prescribed medication 
which may impair their judgement or prevent them 
making informed, balanced decisions about 
gambling; or if they are intoxicated from misusing 
drugs or alcohol.

If an adult has mental health issues, a mental 
impairment or problems with addiction, they may 
also be vulnerable as they may have difficulty 
controlling their activities or behaviour, or 
understanding the players’ guides to games.

What are the risks to vulnerable 
adults?

If vulnerable adults are not supported within the 
gambling environment they may be at risk of:

i. gambling beyond their financial means
ii. problems with addiction
iii. financial exploitation
iv. causing, or being a victim of dangerous, 

abusive or threatening behavior
v. physical, emotional or accidental harm.

These difficulties may have a serious impact upon 
the person’s relationships, home life or 
employment.

Managing the risks and being 
socially responsible

Premises should consider the following steps:

i. Designate a member of staff to lead on 
problem gambling issues.

ii. Train staff on how to recognise and 
respond to indicators of concern.

iii. Staff should be trained to recognise the 
signs of persons becoming aggressive 
and how to deal with such situations whilst 
maintaining their own safety.

iv. Information should be made 
readily/discreetly available to customers on 
how to gamble responsibly and seek help in 
respect of problem gambling.

v. Offer a self-exclusion, or self-limit scheme, 
enabling individuals to restrict the amount 
of time or money they spend.

vi. When offering membership schemes, the 
details of a contactable person should be 
required in the event of an 
emergency.arding Children

135



Breckland Council
Licensing Team
Elizabeth House

Walpole Loke
Dereham

NR19 1EE

tel 01362 656870

email: licensingteam@breckland.gov.uk

136


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8 Cabinet Minutes
	Minutes

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	Minutes

	10 Planning Committee
	Minutes

	11 Licensing Committee
	Minutes

	12 Committee of the Licensing Authority
	Minutes

	13 Local Plan - Main Modifications
	14 Community Governance Reviews Carbrooke and Great Ellingham and Thetford
	Appendix A for Community Governance Reviews Carbrooke and Great Ellingham
	Appendix B for Community Governance Reviews Carbrooke and Great Ellingham

	15 Change of Parish Name
	16 Member / Officer Protocol
	Appendix 1 - Member / Officer Protocol

	17 A report concerning the resourcing of the Council's Housing Strategy and 'Enabling' service
	Appendix 1 for A report concerning the resourcing of the council's Housing Strategy and 'Enabling' service

	18 A report concerning the creation of an External Funding Officer post
	Appendix 1 for A report concerning the creation of an External Funding Officer post

	19 Revised Gambling Act Statement of Principles
	Appendix  Draft Policy


